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On behalf of the Board of Directors of Hanergy Solar Group
Limited (the “"Company” together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Company for the year

ended 31 December 2013.

The Group recorded revenues of HK$3,274,425,000,
representing an increase of about 19% as compared
to HK$2,756,463,000 in 2012. Gross profit increased
to HK$2,665,641,000 for the year, representing an
increase of about 36% as compared to previous year's
HK$1,966,959,000.

The Group recorded a net profit of HK$2,069,010,000,
representing an increase of about 57% as compared to
HK$1,316,182,000 for the corresponding financial year
ended 31 December 2012. This increase is primarily
resulting from an increase in delivery of turnkey lines
and thus an increase in revenue; moreover, due to the
technological advancement, the Group's direct material
cost has decreased and therefore an increase in the gross
profit margin.

The recent over-supply phenomenon in the solar module
market has significantly impacted upon the market
structure and operations throughout the solar industry.
High market volatility has led to corporate bankruptcies.
Those few survivors had no choice but to sell off their
stocks. A substantial number of unprofitable operators
have vacated their positions under the shrinking market
and based on the principle of “survival of the fittest”,
leaving only the strong players who are still standing.

RARARKREEAGEEBRER AT ([
AT BEMBRARSAB AEE)ESES
ERARTHE-_E—=F+-_A=+—H
IEFEZFR -

RNEEERBIA 3,274,425,000/8 7T * BT
— % 2 2,756,463,000 % ST 14919% °
KNEEZEFEINZE2,665,641,000%57C @ & E
7 1,966,959,000 5 T IN4I36% °

7N 5= B % 15 45 %1 2,069,010,000 7 7T © HHE
BE-_ZT——F+_-_A=+—HI-WHEE
B I JE P 8% 15 1,316,182,000 78 JT 18 A0 4
57% - BHWEENTERA  ERAERE
EEFIMNERM SWABEEMEN: 3
N BRBITE S - AEEMEEM B
BRI SEEFEBHIGM -

HNIAGREAFTHHIR T R KH
B HMAKGEERNTSEEMEE
ERTEARE THENRERDERTR
ZEENBE  PEEHFREEEREKEKR
IREEEWME - THERBENZEHEREBS KL
AIEETHE —#omENEZ L2 EN
R REBENBANCESLISELE -



Hanergy Solar is one of the operators that enjoys the
advantages of scale, technology and resources to
withstand the volatility and challenges presented by the
market. During 2013, our expansion strategy under adverse
economic conditions through the successful completion
of three acquisitions has significantly strengthened our
position. We believe that the acquisition of leading global
CIGS technologies will facilitate the introduction of the best
solar products to China to achieve lower cost production
on a substantial scale.

We are of the view that these strategies will pave the way
for the Company’s development in 2014 with the Group's
solid foundation of new CIGS technologies, and shape our
leading position in the PV market. We are confident that
with the advanced CIGS thin-film technologies, we can
develop PV products with multiple applications and open
up new markets for future solar products.

We have identified the thin-film solar sector as our
direction for future development. We believe that this
new technology will soon surpass that of the traditional
silicon technology and will further open up PV applications
markets that are beyond the reach of the traditional
PV products. With the steadily increasing conversion
efficiency of the CIGS thin-film solar modules, and the
multiple applications advantages (e.g., low light, high heat
performance, flexibility, light weight etc.), we believe
that the market demand for CIGS products will increase
sigificantly in the future, Therefore, we are well positioned
to take this opportunity forward as the leader in the global
PV industry.

Early this year, we entered into agreements to provide
600MW CIGS turnkey lines for our customer, 300MW
being the Solibro’s co-evaporation technology and 300MW
being the MiaSolé's sputtering technology. This is an
important developmental milestone for us in that it signifies
our becoming one of the largest CIGS turnkey providers of
the world.
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We have already moved strategically into building this
new market starting in 2013/14, and began to sell our
household CIGS solar systems in six IKEA stores in the
UK. The current business activity has suggested that this is
already showing a promising trend of market development
and we are expanding this retail network to all of the UK
IKEA stores in order to further expand our market share in
the downstream retail solar offering.

In addition to the signs that reflected the positive
development momentum of the thin-film technology, We
are also working on the development of other thin-film
solar technologies for large-scale energy application in the
future. We are pioneering the use of thin-film technologies
in everyday products to enhance the product appeal and
energy efficiency formula. These products include car
sun roofs, backpacks, parasols, lamps, portable charging
devices, etc.

We have always attached great importance to the
investment in technology R&D. We are of the view that
the solar industry is changing rapidly and the survival or
success of any participant depends on its access to leading
technologies that are managed by talented teams to create
demand for its products and lead the market development
in the future.

To maintain our dominance in the thin-film solar sector,
we have established research centers in Sweden,
Germany and the US respectively with the newly acquired
technologies from Solibro, MiaSolé and Global Solar
Energy. On a combined basis, we now have a truly first
class global R&D network held within Hanergy Solar and
one that is constantly striving to improve our existing
technologies as well as actively searching for newer
technologies that have yet to be discovered. The active
cooperation between our R&D centers has contributed to a
CIGS thin-film module efficiency reaching close to 20%.
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Going forward, we will continue to pay close attention to
new PV technologies and advancing our existing products.
We believe that maintaining our leading technological
position will be critical for staying ahead of the global solar
industry and for achieving our future objectives.

Renewable energy technologies have been steadily

improving, enabling the gradual substitution of
traditional thermal energy to clean energy. In view of
the environmental damage resulting from fossil fuels,
governments around the world have actively enacted
environmentally friendly legislation and regulation to
support the development of more and more renewable

energy capacity.

During 2013, China has announced several regulations in
support of the development of the solar industry, including
a very attractive Feed in Tariff, preferential tax treatments,
better grid connections, VAT rebates etc. that have helped
to fuel the pipeline build up in solar projects across the
country. The State Council has set a headline installed
solar capacity target of 35GW by 2015, providing vast
room for our development in the solar industry. Outside of
China, we have also taken full advantage of international
government initiatives that promote solar development. For
example in the UK, by capitalising on the UK government'’s
subsidy program for home sized solar projects, we have
worked closely with IKEA in selling our CIGS solar power
systems and services to the UK retail market.

In 2013, we have successfully entered the downstream
solar market by developing several solar power station
projects in China and the USA. While consolidating our
upstream business, we will also actively explore the
downstream business, with the aim to expand our profit
origin and achieve a more balanced business model.
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We have established six regional companies worldwide
and employed local professional talents to develop
solar projects. We have a very rich downstream solar
project pipeline that will facilitate the optimization of the
Company’s revenue and profit mix. The opening up of
new businesses is an extremely important part of our
corporate development. We will continue to develop large
scale downstream solar projects around the world taking
advantage of any beneficial policies, and realize the best
returns for our shareholders by construction, operation and
sale.

Although we have achieved a great deal and met our
objectives in 2013 by completing major technology
acquisitions as well as successfully expanding our business
to the downstream solar business, we must continue to
adjust our philosophy in parallel with the ever changing
global solar market environment as many difficulties and
challenges lie ahead. We strongly believe that clean energy
can change the world and we at Hanergy Solar will strive
to achieve this prime objective. | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our staff
and partners for their dedication to our cause throughout
2013 and their commitment to continuously helping us
achieve our ambitious objectives in 2014.
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The Group recorded revenues of HK$3,274,425,000,
representing an increase of about 19% as compared
to HK$2,756,463,000 in 2012. Gross profit increased
to HK$2,665,641,000 for the year, representing an
increase of about 36% as compared to previous year's
HK$1,966,959,000.

The Group recorded a net profit of HK$2,069,010,000,
representing an increase of about 57% as compared to
HK$1,316,182,000 for the corresponding financial year
ended 31 December 2012. This increase is primarily
resulting from an increase in delivery of turnkey lines
and thus an increase in revenue; moreover, due to the
technological advancement, the Group's direct material
cost has decreased and therefore an increase in the gross
profit margin.

A. Increase in shareholdings by controlling
shareholder of the Company

On 27 February 2013, two tranches of 7,964,611,584
and 300,000,000 shares were issued to Hanergy
Investment Limited (“Hanergy Investment”) and
Hanergy Option Limited (“Hanergy Option"),
respectively, and Hanergy Holding Group Limited
("Hanergy Holding”) became the controlling
shareholder of the Company as from that date. On
24 September 2013, Hanergy Investment subscribed
for a total of 6,000,000,000 shares in accordance
with the 2011 Subscription Agreement. In addition,
Hanergy Investment further increased its controlling
stake via the open market in acquiring a total of
554,990,000 shares in June 2013, November 2013
and January 2014.
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Increase in shareholdings by controlling
shareholder of the Company (continued)

Hanergy Holding, through Hanergy Investment,
Hanergy Option and GL Wind Farm, held
17,543,5612,049 shares in the Company as at 24
March 2014, representing approximately 61.32% of
the total share capital of the Company.

The above transactions mark significant milestones
underscoring the strategic partnership between the
Group and Hanergy Holding. With Hanergy Holding
as a strategic partner, the Group can substantially
advance its thin-film solar power technology. In
addition, Hanergy Holding has the ability to rapidly
facilitate the Group's venture into new upstream
technologies as well as the downstream domestic
and international solar power markets.

Investment in research and development (“R&D")

The Group believes that the future development
path for the solar power industry will centre on thin-
film and flexible solar technologies, and in particular,
CIGS technologies which possess excellent potential
for increasing conversion efficiency, reducing
manufacturing costs and having a wider market
applicability.

As a result of the positive outlook on CIGS, the
acquisition of the Solibro, MiaSolé and Global Solar
and the Assigned IP Rights is considered to form
part of the Group’'s strategic direction allowing it
to compete in the wider solar power market going
forward.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(i)  Acquisition of technology patents

(a)

Solibro Intellectual Properties (“IP”) &
Solibro Research AB

On 2 September 2013, the Group acquired
from Hanergy Holding all intellectual
property rights of Solibro's Copper
Indium Gallium Selenide (“CIGS") thin-
film solar technology and Solibro Research
AB, a Swedish CIGS solar technology
research and development company, at
consideration of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$252,000,000) and
RMB80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$100,800,000), respectively.

Advantages of the technology of Solibro

() Leading co-evaporation CIGS
technology and higher conversion
efficiency

(i)  Advanced R&D expertise with a
wealth of experience in module mass
production

(iii)  Lower production cost

(iv) Technology for larger sized CIGS solar
module products
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(i)  Acquisition of technology patents (continued)

(b)

MiaSolé IP

On 18 September 2013, the Group entered
into an agreement to acquire from Hanergy
Holding all intellectual property rights of
MiaSolé's CIGS thin-film solar technology,
being one of the world’'s leading CIGS
thin-film solar technologies in terms of
the conversion efficiency rate for flexible
thin-film solar modules, at a consideration
of RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$444,500,000).

Besides manufacturing high performance
CIGS thin-film modules using dual
tempered glass/glass package with elastic
butyl rubber edge seal technology, MiaSolé
also possesses another CIGS technological
competence and advantage in that it
produces high performance CIGS flexible
thin-film cells using ultra-thin stainless steel
substrates, which are bendable and light-
weight. MiaSolé was one of the pioneers
in commercial production and marketing
of CIGS flexible thin-film modules globally,
and is now one of the world's leaders in
CIGS thin-film solar technologies in terms
of the conversion efficiency rate for flexible
thin-film solar modules. CIGS flexible thin-
film technology has distinct advantages of
being light-weight, and can be conveniently
installed on rooftops or building surfaces
and thus is particularly suitable for Building
Integrated Photovoltaic (“BIPV"”) and
Building Attached Photovoltaic ("BAPV")
projects.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(i)  Acquisition of technology patents (continued)

(b)

MiaSolé IP (continued)

As such, the Group expects an increasing
application potential for thin-film modules,
especially the CIGS flexible thin-film
modules, on a mass global scale. In
order to align itself in this direction, the
Group believes that the acquisition and
development of various CIGS thin-film solar
technologies, including the CIGS flexible
thin-film technology, to be of critical
importance and is aggressively pursuing
this strategy through the acquisition of
MiaSolé's technology.

Advantages of the technology of MiaSolé

(i)  Leading sputtering CIGS technology
and higher conversion efficiency

(i)  Leading CIGS flexible thin-film
technology with proven track record

(iii) Capability of mass producing CIGS
flexible thin-film solar modules

(iv) Lower production cost

(v)  Ultra-light weight CIGS solar modules
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(i)  Acquisition of technology patents (continued)

(c)

Global Solar IP

On 11 December 2013, the Group entered
into an agreement to acquire from Hanergy
Holding all intellectual property rights
of Global Solar's CIGS thin-film solar
technology, at a consideration of US$1.

Global Solar’s integrated cell interconnection
and encapsulation technology have been
well developed. The Group believes that
Global Solar technology could complement
other CIGS thin-film technologies, namely
the co-evaporation manufacturing process of
Solibro’s CIGS technology, and in particular,
the sputtering manufacturing process
of MiaSolé’'s CIGS technology. Through
the synergy created from these different
technologies, more advanced and low cost
flexible CIGS thin-film modules could be
developed, which the Group expects will
become the mainstay products of the global
solar industry. The Company believes that it
will be better positioned to capture the fast
growing thin-film solar power market.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(ii) Technological Breakthroughs

(a)

Fab 2.0 Program

In June 2013, the Group announced its
Fab 2.0 Program to its manufacturing
processes that resulted in a significant
improvement in the performance of the
turnkey production lines as well as allowing
its customers to save on its module
production costs.

With the Fab 2.0 Program, the conversion
efficiency of solar modules, the throughput
of the production line and the production
capacity are further enhanced. In addition,
certain manual processes such as sheet
dispensing, potting and module unloading
have been automated to enhance the level
of automation and production efficiency,
reducing the number of workers required
in the production line by 16% and saving
the related manpower costs. Together with
more automated operating processes which
significantly reduce the manpower used,
as a result, the total manufacturing costs
of solar modules could be substantially
decreased by approximately 9% on a per-
watt basis. The output of the turnkey
lines could be increased by 50% while
the number of Plasma-Enhanced Chemical
Vapor Deposition (“PECVD") units used
remains the same. This implies an increase
in the gross profit margin of the Group's
turnkey line business.

B.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(ii) Technological Breakthroughs (continued)

(a)

(b)

Fab 2.0 Program (continued)

The Group’'s R&D segment is critical to
its success. Its extensive research work
helps the Group to face the challenges
not only from decreasing average selling
price but also from increasing competition
in both thin-film and poly-crystalline silicon
market participants all over the world. The
Group’'s R&D department is instrumental
in achieving the enhanced results in its
Fab 2.0 Program and the Group expects it
to get stronger as it continues to invest in
acquiring leading edge technologies around
the world to complement its product
development going into 2014 and beyond.

New achievement of CIGS thin-film
efficiency

In October 2013, the Group achieved
an 18.7% PV module efficiency in using
Solibro's CIGS thin-film technology.
Subsequently, the Group has taken
a further step forward by achieving a
conversion efficiency rate of 19.6% in
using Solibro’s technology in December
2013. These achievements have been
confirmed by Fraunhofer Institute for Solar
Energy Systems ISE, an independent
research institute located in Germany.

B.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(ii) Technological Breakthroughs (continued)

(b)

New achievement of CIGS thin-film
efficiency (continued)

In December 2013, the Group launched
the GG-04 CIGS Solar Glass Panel using
MiaSolé's technology and having obtained
UL 1703 certifications from Intertek and
UL, certifying its conversion efficiency rate
of as high as 15.5%. This helps lower the
system costs and enables higher power
generation efficiency, which in turn allows
for higher solar project returns.

Apart from the glass modules, the Group
launched the FLEX-01 Laminate CIGS Solar
Panel having obtained IEC 61646 and IEC
61730 certifications from UL. This flexible
panel uses the same high efficiency
and reliable cell technology as the glass
product. Its advantage over the glass
series is that the panel consists of cells
encapsulated between 2 layers of water
resistant polymer rather than heavy glass,
which has a lower weight and is suitable
for application on roof tops. The flexible
form can be easily adhered onto the roof
eliminating racking and the penetration
required, thereby significantly lower labour
time and costs.

B.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D"”) B. RENHERBER(WHR] (&)
(continued)
(ii) Technological Breakthroughs (continued) (i) HMEg (&)

(b) New achievement of CIGS thin-film
efficiency (continued)

The Group is dedicated to further lowering
the production costs of the CIGS solar
modules, while increasing the conversion
efficiency and maintain the leading position
in solar market both in costs and efficiency.
It is expected that CIGS thin-film solar
technology with even higher conversion
efficiency rates will be commercialized and
available for full scale production in the
near future.

(iii) R&D Centers

The R&D work plays a key role for the
development of the Group. With the acquisition
of new CIGS thin-film technologies and technical
know-how, the Group has set up new R&D
centers around the world namely Solibro Hi-
Tech (Germany), Solibro Research AB (Sweden),
MiaSolé Hi-Tech (United States) together with
the Group’s Sichuan R&D centre to enhance
the research work of cutting-edge thin-film solar
technology so as to create synergistic effects.
This will allow the Group to expand its R&D
facilities and test on large-scale production lines
in order to obtain all the necessary information
for further development and improvement of
large-scale commercialized thin-film turnkey
production lines.
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B. Investment in research and development (“R&D")

(continued)

(iii) R&D Centers (continued)

(iv)

The Group believes that thin-film solar
technology research needs to be conducted
in global R&D centers with specialized and
advanced equipment to achieve breakthroughs in
conversion efficiency of solar cells and modules.
Mastering the technology on a mass commercial
production line will enable the Group to be a
differentiator with enhanced competitiveness in
global solar market.

World-leading Scientist Team

The Group’'s R&D work in silicon-based thin-
film solar technologies is chaired by the existing
Chief Technology Officers (“CTOs"), Dr. Li
Yuanmin and Dr. Xu Xixiang. In December 2013,
the Group appointed two new CTOs, namely
Dr. Lars Stolt and Dr. Atiye Bayman. Both are
responsible for the Group’s R&D work for CIGS
thin-film solar technologies.

Dr. Stolt leads the Sweden & Germany CIGS
research teams, and has over 30 years’
experience in chairing CIGS research projects
and developing controlled co-evaporation for
fabrication of CIGS thin-film, and industrializing
CIGS thin-film solar technology. Dr. Stolt is also
a professor of Uppsala University with over 130
scientific journals papers published as well as
an award of chemistry technology from Swedish
Association of Chemistry Engineers. As the head
of Solibro Research AB, Dr. Stolt's team has
successfully made the Solibro’s thin-film solar
cell reach the conversion efficiency of 19.6%,
one of the world’s highest values.

B.
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RERMERB((HE](E)

B. Investment in research and development (“R&D"”) B.
(continued)

(iv) HRELHFEZEE (&)

(iv) World-leading Scientist Team (continued)

Dr. Bayman has over 30 years’ experience in
solar manufacturing process including plasma
etch, device performance optimization, dielectric
deposition for gap-fill application and advancing
thin-film solar technology and devices. Dr.
Bayman is a holder of 9 solar manufacturing
patents with published scientific papers in
Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers
("IEEE"), International CIGS Workshop and
Intersolar Europe. As current CTO of MiaSolé,
its R&D team has successfully realized flexible
CIGS thin-film solar technology from laboratory
achievement to commercialized production.

The Group believes that appointing new CTOs
will create significant synergy effects in R&D
of thin-film solar technology with the Group's
existing world-leading scientists and engineers’
team. With the cooperation of global scientists
in each R&D center, the Group will make further
steps in achieving the localization of CIGS thin-
film solar technology with higher conversion
efficiency and lower cost. Besides, the Group's
R&D team is further supported by a number of
experienced engineers and technical staff with
tertiary education level or above. As at 21 March
2014, the headcount of the Group’s R&D team
stands at 406.
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Supplemental Agreements on the Sales Contracts
with Hanergy Holding

The Group has intensified its R&D efforts in
nano-crystalline-si (“nc-Si”) technology as well
as aggressively pursued global leading thin-film
technologies, in particular the CIGS technology
which possesses high conversion efficiency rates.
The Group is now equipped with the capability to
manufacture and deliver to its customers the new
generation of nc-Si and CIGS turnkey production lines,
which the Group’s customers could make use of to
produce solar modules with higher conversion rates
at lower costs.

As such, on 31 October 2013, the Group and Hanergy
Holding entered into the 2010 Supplemental Sales
Contract and 2011 Supplemental Sales Contract to
supplement and amend certain terms in the 2010
Sales Contract and the 2011 Sales Contracts, and
the provision of respective technical and engineering
support, software and training services.

Pursuant to the original 2010 Sales Contract and 2011
Sales Contracts, the Group agreed to sell the turnkey
equipment, tools and machinery of the automated and
integrated turnkey production system with the use
of amorphous-silicon/silicon-germanium (“a-Si/Si-Ge")
technology and the provision of services to Hanergy
Holding for the production of the thin-film solar PV
modules. The total sales capacity of these two sales
contracts was 10GW in aggregate with total contract
sum of USD 8.50 billion (approximately HKD 66.30
billion).
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Supplemental Agreements on the Sales Contracts
with Hanergy Holding (continued)

According to the amendments, the two supplemental
sales contracts will be delivered in 3 different thin-
film solar technologies rather than the sole use
of a-Si/Si-Ge technology: (i) 3.55GW using a-Si/Si-
Ge thin-film technology, (i) 1.2GW using nc-Si thin-
film technology, and (iii) 5.25GW using CIGS thin-
film technology. The total contract sum of the two
supplemental sales contracts has been increased from
USD 8.50 billion (approximately HKD 66.30 billion) to
approximately USD 11.16 billion (approximately HKD
87.05 billion), representing an increase of 31.3%.

The Group has been striving to become the leader in
the global thin-film turnkey line business. The Group
believes that in order to become leading turnkey line
provider, it is of pivotal importance to develop the
Group's capabilities and track records for delivering
various advanced thin-film solar technologies.

With the IP acquisitions from Solibro, MiaSolé and
Global Solar, the Group is now able to develop and
deliver to its customers new CIGS lines. The Group
believes that CIGS thin-film technology, with its high
conversion efficiency rate, promising cost potential,
and ability to apply on flexible substrates, will be the
mainstream product of future global solar market.
CIGS solar modules applied on flexible substrates can
be used in consumer products such as automobiles
for generating electricity. As such, the Group believes
that it is of utmost importance that the Group is to
develop for and deliver to its customers new CIGS
lines so as to establish the Group’s track record and
market position in the CIGS market, in order for the
Group to continue leading the global turnkey line
business.
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Delivery of turnkey production lines to Hanergy D.
Holding

The Group entered into two master sales contracts
with Hanergy Holding for the sale of equipment and
turnkey production lines for the manufacture of thin-
film solar PV modules to Hanergy Holding in 2010
and 2011, respectively. The table below shows an
analysis of the related sales capacity committed and
contract revenue recognized in the Group’s financial

EEREERINBELEER

AEBDEZEERIERS N - —ZF
ﬂ_;——iﬂiﬁﬁiﬁ%éﬂ*u
MRREIE IR SHE R RS E IR KFZ AL
RAGRBEREBELES - TRET T
EHCREEEERERCEASEENH
HRPERNE RWAB DT -

statements:
2010 2011
Sales Sales
Contracts Contracts
—E-2F Z—T——F
HEER HEER
1. Total sales capacity BIHE FERE 3,000MW 7,000MW
2. Sales capacity committed by (EZF—=F+=ZA=+— 1,000MW 4,000MW
Hanergy Holding as at 31/12/2013 B ZEeEReRHENEE
EEBY
HK$’mil HK$ 'mil
BEETT BH&E5T
3. Total contract sum ARBEE 25,800 61,270
4. To the extent sales capacity BRZREITIRE AENHEE
committed by Hanergy Holding: EEBE
(i)  Contract sum attributed to the (i) A EEEEN 6,630 31,320
sales capacity committed GRS
(i) Total cumulative down (i) HEZZ—=F+= H 1,864 870
payment made by Hanergy =+—H ' EeeiEik
Holding as at 31/12/2013 Hﬁﬁ%@%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
(i) Contract revenue (net of (i) ARWA(ENRIZER
VAT and relevant taxation) MIEEETIR) MR -
recognized in:
Year ended 31/12/2010 BHE_ZT-ZTF+_A 2,310 0
=t+— Eitif
Year ended 31/12/2011 BHE-_Z——%+=A 1,446 1,009
—t+t—BItFE
Year ended 31/12/2012 BHE-ZT——F+=A 0 2,756
=+—HItFE
Year ended 31/12/2013 BHEZZ—=F+=A 0 3,243

—t—HIFE



Delivery of turnkey production lines to Hanergy
Holding (continued)

Pursuant to the two master sales contracts,
production lines delivered to Hanergy Holding will
undergo several phases from move-in and installation,
followed by Start of Production (“SOP") and then End
of Ramping (“EOR"), before mass production can
begin.

During the year under review, the progress of
the Group's production lines delivered to Hanergy
Holding’s manufacturing bases is summarised as
follows:

(i)  Shuangliu Base Il (Sichuan) supplementary line,
Wujin (Jiangsu) supplementary line and Fab 2.0
Program, Changxing (Zhejiang) supplementary
line and Fab 2.0 Program, Yucheng (Shandong)
supplementary line, and Haikou (Hainan) Fab 2.0
Program.

Production lines were delivered and installed
to the above Hanergy Holding’s manufacturing
bases. The Group is now expeditiously fine-
tuning the manufacturing lines.

(i) Shuangliu Base | (Sichuan) Fab 2.0 Program,
Changxing (Zhejiang) main line, supplementary
line, and Fab 2.0 Program, and Haikou (Hainan)
main line and Fab 2.0 Program.

Production lines have successfully undergone
the SOP stage.
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Delivery of turnkey production lines to Hanergy
Holding (continued)

Caofeidian Contracts

In January 2014, the Group has entered into two
equipment sales contracts and two service contracts
(the “Caofeidian Contracts"”), with ja/db & 10 E)E §E )¢
KRBT (Hebei Caofeidian Hanergy PV Co. Ltd.),
for the provision of a total 600MW CIGS thin-film
solar manufacturing turnkey lines, of which consist (i)
an equipment sales contract and a service contract
(the "MiaSolé Caofeidian Contracts”) to apply
the MiaSolé’s CIGS technology for a CIGS turnkey
line with capacity of 300MW,; and (ii) an equipment
sales contract and a service contract (the “Solibro
Caofeidian Contracts”) to apply the Solibro’s CIGS
technology for another CIGS turnkey line with
capacity of 300MW.

The total consideration receivable by the Group under
the Caofeidian Contracts amounts to US$780,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,084,000,000),
including (i) US$390,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,042,000,000) for the MiaSolé
Caofeidian Contracts; and (ii) US$390,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,042,000,000)
for the Solibro Caofeidian Contracts. It is expected
that the turnkey lines will be moved into the factory
before end of the financial year ending 31 December
2014.
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Delivery of turnkey production lines to Hanergy
Holding (continued)

Caofeidian Contracts (continued)

The entering into the Caofeidian Contracts marks
an important development milestone of the Group
in manufacturing and delivering to its customers’
turnkey lines with advanced CIGS solar thin-film
technology as well as realizing the localization
of advanced CIGS technologies of MiaSolé and
Solibro. The Caofeidian Contracts will allow the
Group to further develop the necessary capabilities/
expertise, accumulate the experience in absorbing
and localizing the advanced technologies to realize
mass-scale production. The scale of these contracts
of up to B00MW is also of substantial importance,
in that it could optimize the economies of scale and
minimize the module manufacturing costs for the
Group's customers helping them to achieve market
competitive positions that can in turn develop a
healthy downstream market for CIGS solar projects.

Venturing into downstream solar business

(i) Establishment of the Power Group for
venturing into downstream solar segment

In May 2013, the Group has formed the newly
established Hanergy Global Solar Power and
Applications Group, which comprises three
business units and six regional companies.
Leveraging its solid strengths in upstream thin-
film solar technology, the Group is committed to
becoming the industry leader of the global high-
tech thin-film solar business through actively
venturing into the downstream business of
global solar power generation market and new
solar applications for industrial, commercial and
household uses around the world on a large-
scale basis.
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E. Venturing into downstream solar business E. #ETNHEABREERE)
(continued)

(i) Establishment of the Power Group for (i) HURELEELEETWABLEEL

venturing into downstream solar segment (%)
(continued)
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E. Venturing

into downstream solar business

(continued)

(i)

Establishment of the Power Group for

venturing into downstream solar segment

(continued)

Hanergy Global Solar Power and Applications

Group established three major business units:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Distributed Generations Business Unit

This includes BIPV and BAPV, which adopts
the thin-film solar modules with flexible
substrates which are light, bendable and
size adjustable, and are suitable for all
types of roof-tops or as part of the overall
building design.

Ground-mounted Power Station Business
Unit

This is principally engaged in developing
large-scale ground-mounted solar power
generation plants globally. Leveraging on
the advantages of the thin-film solar power
technology, such as the ability to generate
solar power even under low irradiance
conditions and conversion efficiencies
less affected by high temperature
environments, the Group can achieve
power generation utilizing thin-film solar
technology with a lower cost advantage.

PV Application Products Business Unit

This is committed to apply thin-film solar
technology and flexible solar power
technology to other business sectors to
develop innovative solar products such
as solar home appliances, solar lamps,
solar portable products and automotive
alternative power systems.
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E. Venturing

into downstream solar business

(continued)

(i)

Establishment of the Power Group for
venturing into downstream solar segment
(continued)

Hanergy Global Solar Power and Application
Group established six regional companies:

The six regional companies which are located
in the North America, South America, Africa,
Europe & Middle East, Asia Pacific and the
PRC, are responsible for providing assistance
and facilitating the development of business
units, and are in charge of market development,
public relations, communications and network
building. Under the guidance of the business
units, the regional companies will manage the
development and related operations of the
downstream solar power projects.

The Group believes that development of thin-
film and flexible solar power modules are a
clear trend of the future solar power industry.
The objectives of the establishment of Hanergy
Global Solar Power and Applications Group and
its business units and regional companies are
to provide products and system solutions with
unigue technology advantages to customers
around the world, and to maximize the
applications of a wide range of thin-film solar
modules and flexible solar technologies in
various market segments so that the Group can
fully leverage its unique advantage in technology
and to capture the most extensive market
potentials.
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E. Venturing

into downstream solar business

(continued)

(ii) Current status of downstream solar projects

(a)

Launch of 1T00MW solar power plant
project in Qinghai and 20MW solar power
plant project in Xinjiang

As stated in the announcement dated
24 September 2013, the respective
Development and Reform Commissions of
the Qinghai Government and the Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous Region Government
have granted permits to allow the Group
to take up the Qinghai Project and to
commence the construction of the Xinjiang
Project.

These two projects were the Group's first
two downstream solar power projects in
the PRC, marking a significant milestone in
the Group’s venture into the downstream
solar market. The Group plans to sell the
two downstream solar power projects
to third parties on the completion of the
constructions. The Group will continue
going aggressively into the downstream
solar business in the PRC market to enjoy
a steady and attractive return.
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E. Venturing into downstream solar business E. #EETNKABEERE)
(continued)
(ii) Current status of downstream solar projects (i) FYHABEEEB Z BT (&)

(continued)

Launch of 100MW solar power plant
project in Qinghai and 20MW solar power
plant project in Xinjiang (continued)

The Group has formed (i) a strong solar
project management team equipped with
the capabilities in sourcing and operating
solar power generation projects; (ii)
construction teams capable of managing
the engineering, procurement and
construction of solar power projects; (iii)
sales team to identify potential buyers
for the Group’'s solar power plants and
products; and (iv) a finance team to source
financing for the downstream projects.
The Group is equipped with staff having all
necessary expertise and skill sets required
for the development of solar projects.
Together with the favorable geographical
locations, the Group believes the solar
projects should be a great success in
China for the Group’s venture into the
downstream business allowing the
Group to participate in downstream solar
application, providing a solid platform from
which the Group can continue to invest in
further downstream solar power generation
projects both in and outside the PRC.
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E. Venturing

into downstream solar business

(continued)

(ii) Current status of downstream solar projects

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Launch of 1T00MW solar power plant
project in Qinghai and 20MW solar power
plant project in Xinjiang (continued)

The Group believes that entering into
the downstream solar power market not
only diversifies the Group’s revenue and
customer base that complements its
existing upstream revenue, but also it
secures a more widespread use of thin-
film solar modules in which the Group
is specialized. With the Group’'s cutting
edge thin-film technology, the Group
will continue to take significant steps in
extending the solar business industry chain
from upstream to downstream in a large-
scale to provide an alternative clean and
sustainable source of energy to the market.

Launch of 19MW solar power plant project
in the United States (“US")

In November 2013, the Group acquired
the entire equity interests of Columbia
Solar Energy, LLC., which is a company
formed in Delaware, the US, and is in the
course of developing a 19MW AC solar
PV electric generating facility in Pittsburg,
California, the United Sates. The Group
plans to utilize thin-film CIGS solar modules
for this project. The Group plans to sell
the downstream solar power project to
a third party on the completion of the
constructions. Columbia Solar Energy has
signed a power purchase agreement to
sell 100% of the electricity generated
from this project over a contract term of at
least 20 years. The facility is expected to
commence operations in 4Q 2014.
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E. Venturing

into downstream solar business

(continued)

(ii) Current status of downstream solar projects

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Launch of 19MW solar power plant project
in the United States (“US”) (continued)

This project is the Group’'s first large-
scale overseas downstream solar power
development project. The Group has
aspirations of going global; enlarging
customer footprint, reducing risk profile,
and enhancing the Group's ability to
attract talent. This transaction marks a
significant milestone in the development
of the Group’s business in North America,
a new overseas market for the Group's
downstream solar power generation
business, representing another significant
step in the Group's success and efforts
to expand its global foot print. Through
the development of the Columbia Solar
Energy, the Group can realize its strategy
of building a global thin-film PV platform
that delivers new and advanced solar
technology to its customers around the
world.

Retail solar downstream business in the UK

On 9 February 2014, the Group entered
into an agreement to purchase (i) the
entire issued share capital in Hanergy
Solar UK Limited (“Hanergy UK") and (ii)
the shareholder loan of Hanergy UK, at a
consideration of HK$1.
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E. Venturing

into downstream solar business

(continued)

(ii) Current status of downstream solar projects

(continued)

(c)

Retail solar downstream business in the UK
(continued)

Hanergy UK is principally engaged in the
sale of thin-film solar PV equipment and
the provision of the relevant installation
services. Hanergy UK is for a limited term
of two years permitted under the Co-
operation Agreement entered into between
Hanergy UK and IKEA Limited to market
and display its solar PV equipment under
the brand name of “Hanergy” in the IKEA
FAMILY corners in the IKEA stores in the
UK.

The acquisition of Hanergy UK under the
Agreement marks a significant step of
the Group's PV Applications Business
Unit to expand its downstream retail
residential business, providing a platform
for the Group to market, promote, and
sell “Hanergy” branded thin-film solar PV
equipment to the UK households directly,
opening up new revenue stream for the
Group while enabling UK residents to
access a more affordable and sustainable
solar energy at home.
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Venturing into downstream solar business

(continued)

(ii) Current status of downstream solar projects
(continued)

(c) Retail solar downstream business in the UK
(continued)

The Group will continue its efforts in
expanding downstream businesses and
developing innovative solar products using
thin-film technology such as solar home
appliances, solar lamps, solar portable
products and automotive alternative
power systems. The Group is dedicated
to providing advanced flexible thin-film PV
products, solutions and services to enable
sustainable development around the world.
The Group believes that, with increasing
global awareness on environmental
protection, the solar power generation
systems market is expected to grow
substantially in the near future.

Current Global Solar Energy Market

In recent years, with the growing global energy
consumption, rising public awareness for
environmental protection and diseases caused by
air pollution, it is expected that global renewable
energy demand will continue to grow rapidly in
the foreseeable future. In particular, solar energy
of virtually unlimited supply is poised to play a
larger role in the global energy mix and global PV
installations growth momentum remains strong in
the coming years. Currently, emerging PV markets
including China, Japan and US have overtaken Europe

to become the major solar markets in the world.
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Current Global Solar Energy Market (continued)

In 2013, as the over-supply situation of solar modules
mainly associated with China remained unsolved,
global solar market was affected by continuing
USA,
China and some regions in Asia. On 4 June 2013,

trade disputes involving European Union (EU),

the European Commission announced that it would
impose a provisional anti-dumping duty of 11.8%
effective from 6 June 2013 to 5 August 2013
(subsequently superseded by a formal duty rate of
47.6%) on crystalline silicon modules, including their
key component parts imported from China. After a
period of negotiations, the EU and China has reached
a voluntary price undertaking agreement effective
from 6 August 2013. The mutual agreement indicated
that the price undertaking for poly-crystalline silicon
PV modules had been set at around 0.56 euros per
Watt with an annual export capacity of 7GW. Those
exceeding the maximum level or enterprises unwilling
to accept the price undertaking would be subject to
an anti-dumping duty at a rate of 47.6% imposed by
the EU.

While the price undertaking and annual export
capacity substantially mitigated the trade disputes
between the EU and China, the US Department of
Commerce (DOC) and United States International
Trade Commission expressed determination
to conduct the anti-dumping and anti-subsidy
investigation in February 2014 towards the poly-
crystalline silicon solar cells and modules (including
key component parts) imported from China and
Taiwan after imposing anti-dumping duty by US DOC
in 2012.
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Current Global Solar Energy Market (continued)

During the second half year of 2013, rebound
and growth of global solar market offered the
opportunities for large-scale solar companies to lead
the market by completing a series of high profile
acquisition of market-leading technological companies
around the world. Sustained growth of global solar
installation helps to mitigate the oversupply situation
of PV module and brings the profitability to the
remaining solar companies. Such an encouraging
sign will motivate the Group to be well positioned to
continue to pursue its expansion strategy by venturing
into both upstream and downstream solar segments
in 2014.

According to independent market forecast on top 10
countries global solar PV installation in 2014, China
will represent at least 9.3GW, becoming the leading
country in the global solar market. In addition, Japan
and the US are set to become the second and third
largest single-country market in the world in 2014
with the expected installed capacity of 7.2GW and
6.4GW respectively. China's rapidly growing solar
energy market at home will help its manufacturers
to stay competitive in the current round of global
consolidation, and better position them to capture
opportunities from global markets.
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A.

Current Global Solar Energy Market (continued) A ERKBETHEMNRE)

Global PV Installations in 2014 (in Gigawatts)
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Within the downstream solar sector, distributed ETHEAGEEEFR - HHEE(DG)
generation (DG) shows a high market potential, and is Mm5ENEE  BHEAETERH -
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A. Current Global Solar Energy Market (continued) A.

Due to high energy consumption and trade disputes

on poly-crystalline silicon modules, with the maturity

of thin-film technology, an opportunity was presented

for thin-film solar technology in the recent past. The

chart below shows the projected fast growing market

share of global thin-film solar technology from 2012

to 2020, pointing to a bright future for thin-film solar

modules.
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As one of the core thin-film solar technologies, CIGS
technology has enjoyed a comparatively fast growth
rate in recent years. According to independent solar
research, CIGS capacity has reached 2GW in 2013,
with the upside trend to achieve 10GW in 2018 at
a b-year CAGR % of around 38% globally. Other
independent research also corroborates the significant
growth of CIGS thin-film technology, leading to an
expected market share of 30% in 2020.

ERZOER KGR 2 — » CIGS
BT F A ARRAERRE - BB
NAGEERIE 0 2ECIGSERER ZZ
—=FBEER2GW  WHELEAZEN
T-NFEFHRI0GW » AF2HREAF
BRELF38% o A B LT INER
CIGSTHERMMARER - A==
TEHNMIHMHEEEI0 °



A. Current Global Solar Energy Market (continued) A, EBRABETHSREMRE)

CIGS Capacity Forecast Scenarios
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B. Continuous Policy Support from Chinese

Government

PV Installation in China

On 10 February 2014, China Electricity Council
("“CEC") issued a report, stating that new PV
installation in China has reached 11.3GW at
the end of 2013, pushing the cumulative PV
installation in China up to 14.8GW. The Group
believes that this outcome is the result of a
series of positive policy support from the State
Council and other government institutions
helping to boost the number of PV installations
in China.

Guidelines from the State Council on
Encouraging Healthy Solar Industry
Development

On 15 July 2013, the State Council of China
issued an official guideline (the “Guideline”) to
set the annual growth of PV installed capacity of
no less than 10GW from 2013 to 2015, reaching
35GW in year 2015. Also, the requirements
for new manufacturing sites were set out, the
conversion efficiency ratios must be greater
than or equal to 20% for mono-crystalline
silicon, 18% for poly-crystalline silicon and
12% for thin-film solar modules respectively.
In addition, relating to the manufacture of poly-
crystalline silicon, the guideline also stipulates
the total integrated energy consumption for such
a process cannot exceed an average of 100
kWh per kg of poly-crystalline silicon material
produced. As thin-film is produced in a more
environmentally-friendly way with significantly
low energy consumption, no such restrictions
apply currently.
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B. Continuous Policy Support from Chinese

Government (continued)

Finalized Subsidies for Distributed Generation
and Ground-mounted PV stations

On 26 August 2013, National Development
and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) issued an
official notice that starting from 1 January 2014,
subsidy for distributed generation (“DG") is set
at the rate of RMB0.42 per kWh, and feed-in-
tariff ("FiT") scheme for ground-mounted PV
stations is set at the rate of RMBO0.90 per kWh
(for western and northwestern provinces and
regions), RMBO0.95 per kWh (for southwest,
middle and northeastern provinces) and RMB1.0
per kWh (for rest of the country). Both the
subsidy and FiT have a timeframe of 20 years.
In response to the need of increasing subsidies
for the solar industry, on 27 August 2013,
the NDRC approved increasing the current
renewable energy surcharges imposed on
commercial and industrial electricity users using
non-renewable sources from RMBO0.008 per
kWh to RMB0.015 per kWh, providing sufficient
funding for supporting the solar industry. The
Group believes that the finalized subsidy for
DG and FiT for ground-mounted solar projects
demonstrates that the Chinese Government is
fully committed to the development of domestic
solar market.
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B. Continuous Policy Support from Chinese

Government (continued)

50% Value-added Tax (VAT) Rebate for the
Solar Industry

On 29 September 2013, the Ministry of Finance
and State Administration of Taxation jointly
finalized a 50% immediate VAT rebate for all
electric products and electricity generated from
solar manufacturing and solar projects with the
effect from 1 October 2013 to 31 December
2015. The Group believes that the rebate will
enhance the profitability of solar equipment
manufacturing and the investment return for
solar projects.

Setting the Targeted PV Installation in 2014

On 17 January 2014, National Energy
Administration (“NEA") stated that it would
continue to promote the PV power generation
construction according to the resources across
the region, development base and capacity
of the local grid with the targeted annual PV
installed capacity in 2014 set at 14GW, in which
DG represents 8GW and ground-mounted PV
stations represents 6GW. All the new capacity
is allocated across the provinces, regions and
municipalities in China.
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B. Continuous Policy Support from Chinese

Government (continued)

Setting the Targeted PV Installation in 2014
(continued)

With the above policies and support in 2014
emphasizing on larger share of DG in PV
installations, the Chinese government is
dedicated to removing possible hurdles in
solar PV grid connection by providing priority
to PV connecting to grid, setting clear policies
and prices for sales of solar power on-grid,
and making it compulsory for grid companies
to purchase excess solar power electricity
generated and ensuring grid development is in
line with increase in PV installations and power
generation. These policies will help to finalize
the formal framework for the development of
DG.

The Group’'s core thin-film PV technology
is expected to benefit the most from these
encouraging policies on DG as thin-film
modules enjoy better performance under high
temperature and shadow conditions, generating
more electricity under the same environment
and condition compared with crystalline silicon
modules. It can be easily installed flat or side-
by-side on rooftops or vertical walls without
racking. Thin-film modules can also be made
semi-transparent which can be integrated
into buildings as windows for BIPV and BAPV
projects. Flexible thin-film technology has
distinct advantages of being light-weighted, and
can be easily installed on rooftops or building
surfaces, making it particularly suitable for DG
projects. Its products are also encapsulated
in a durable, flexible cover that substantially
reduces the weight of the solar module. The
Group believes that thin-film and flexible solar
technology are a perfect match for DG, mapping
out the future trend in the solar market.
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Continuous Policy Support from Chinese
Government (continued)

° Setting the Targeted PV Installation in 2014
(continued)

During the year 2013, the Group has acquired
the intellectual property rights of three new
namely CIGS thin-film
solar technology of Solibro, MiaSolé and

CIGS technologies,

Global Solar Energy, all of which are equipped
with superior technology and high conversion
efficiency. As such, the Group believes that it
can benefit from the favorable policies by the
Chinese government and enjoy a comparative
advantage in obtaining credit support from
financial institutions. In addition, given cost
competitiveness and potential technology
upgrade of CIGS thin-film solar technology,
through localization, the Group expects
widespread and large-scale application of the
next-generation CIGS technology in the future

solar power market.

Strengthening Co-operation with Hanergy Holding

Hanergy Holding is a private company in the PRC,
mainly engaged in the clean energy business
including investment in hydro, wind and solar power
projects. Hanergy Holding’'s developments in the solar
energy industry include both mid-stream production
of solar PV modules and downstream development of
ground-mounted solar power plants and DG projects,
including BIPV and BAPV.

On 27 February 2013, Hanergy Holding became the
Group's largest and controlling shareholder and at
the same time has dedicated the Group as its sole
solar business flagship. During the year, the Group
has significantly increased its delivery of turnkey
production lines to Hanergy Holding which has
resulted in the superior 2013 financial performance

presented in this set of the annual results.
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Strengthening Co-operation with Hanergy Holding
(continued)

Going forward, the Group expects to strengthen the
cooperation with Hanergy Holding in the areas of
upstream turnkey production line delivery as well
as the sourcing of solar PV modules from Hanergy
Holding to undertake various downstream solar
projects.

Continuous R&D Investment on Leading Edge
Thin-film Technology

The Group puts a strong emphasis on R&D to stay
ahead of its competition. Following the significant
technology breakthroughs announced by the Group
in 2013 which enhanced its turnkey production
line's performance, the Group continues to seek for
technological upgrade by establishing R&D centers
strategically in different locations, including Solibro
Research AB in Sweden, Solibro Hi-Tech in Germany,
MiaSolé Hi-Tech in the US, in addition to that in
Shuangliu of Sichuan Province in the PRC, housing the
world’s leading scientists to carry out research into
the latest thin-film PV technological advancements.

The Group has benefited from this extensive
expertise and superb creativity that have led to
major improvements in the conversion efficiency
of the solar modules, cutting manufacturing time,
automating certain labour intensive tasks and reducing
raw material input costs for its customers. The Group
expects to continue to invest in R&D both organically
and externally. It will internally enhance production
methods to bring better performance to its existing
equipment and processes to reduce the production
costs by achieving large scale production in China.
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D. Continuous R&D Investment on Leading Edge

Thin-film Technology (continued)

(i)

(ii)

In light of the regulatory changes as announced
by the State Council of China on 15 July 2013
regarding the minimum photo-electric conversion
efficiency values for newly constructed solar
PV module manufacturing bases (12% for thin-
film, 18% for poly-crystalline silicon and 20%
for mono-crystalline silicon), the Group has
intensified its R&D efforts in researching other
new technologies, including CIGS. During the
year 2013, the Group acquired intellectual
property rights of Solibro, MiaSolé and Global
Solar to upgrade its CIGS technology. The
Group will adhere to the strategy of improved
conversion efficiency to meet the standard
stipulated by the latest regulation, along with
technological innovation, business diversification
and lower production costs to support its future
expansion program through advanced CIGS
technology.

The Group believes that flexible thin-film PV
modules possess a greater competitive edge
as compared to traditional rigid poly-crystalline
silicon modules for DG projects due to its lighter
weight, better low-irradiance performance,
higher response to indirect sunlight, lower
sensitivity to higher operating temperatures,
as well as their simplicity in attaching onto
buildings and rooftops. The Group has set DG
as its key downstream business model direction
and will steer its R&D focus towards those
areas of attractive new market development.
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Continuous R&D Investment on Leading Edge
Thin-film Technology (continued)

(i) To capture the business opportunities and
extend the Group’'s market share, the Group
will also concentrate its efforts in the R&D
of consumer and small scale products that
utilizes thin-film solar technology. These include
research in innovative routine products including
car solar sun-roofs, in-car battery charging
devices, back-pack charging devices as well as
incorporating thin-film solar modules onto bus
stop roof-tops, sun parasols and street lamps
that utilize thin-film solar power as a potential
clean and sustainable source of energy.

Going forward, the Group continues to believe that
R&D remains the key to success in the solar industry.
In particular, the Group will further upgrade its thin-
film technology to consolidate its leading position in
the thin-film segment of the solar industry.

Achieving Successful Localization in China

The Group believes that commercialized production
of thin-film solar modules not only depends on the
continuous technological breakthroughs, but also
requires the integration of acquired technological
knowhow, capital expenditure and expertise that
are able to master the cutting-edge thin-film solar
technology in order to reach the perfect match of
high conversion efficiency and low production cost
for mass scale production. With the commencement
of 600MW turnkey line construction under the
Caofeidian Contracts, the Group has made a major
breakthrough in localizing the latest CIGS technologies
by transferring the IPs and technological knowhow
into mass scale production capability in China. With
this major step, the Group has demonstrated its
commitment to realizing the objective of bringing
leading CIGS solar technology to China with the
target to enable production of CIGS modules at the
lowest cost possible on the market.
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Achieving Successful Localization in China
(continued)

The Group will adjust its product mix by leveraging
its product capabilities, expertise, manpower and
R&D efforts to cope with the changing market needs
of the upstream turnkey line production for the
purpose of meeting the customers’ requirements
and maintaining the leadership position in CIGS thin-
film solar technology. Besides, the Group will further
strengthen the capabilities of technological absorption
and localization in China to reach mass scale
production and deliver the world-leading production
lines to its customers for producing thin-film modules
with superior performance.

Emphasis on the Downstream Solar Energy
Industry Segment

On 17 January 2014, the NEA released a draft of
proposed solar power installations for China in
2014. Under this proposal, new solar installations
in China are expected to reach 14GW in 2014. This
includes 8GW of DG and 6GW in the ground-mounted
segment. Given the continued support provided
by the regulatory initiatives around the world and
in particular in China, the Group believes that it is
imperative to expand its business model into the
downstream sector. The Group also believes that
the downstream sector has better market potential
in terms of scale while it will also widen its revenue
source to new areas of operation.
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Emphasis on the Downstream Solar Energy
Industry Segment (continued)

The Chinese regulatory initiatives relating to BIPV and
BAPV solar projects as well as solar farms indicate
that the Chinese Government is fully committed
to promoting the development of the solar energy
industry in China. The favorable FiT as well as
the subsidies for DG has underlined the Chinese
Government’s intentions for an aggressive build-up
of end user market for solar power in the country.
China's State Council has outlined the plan for the
country to construct over 10GW of newly installed
solar capacity in each of 2013 to 2015 with a target
of reaching a total installed capacity of 35GW by
2015. With the launch of downstream solar projects
of 139MW in total in China and the US, the Group
is well positioned to take advantage of this surge in
capacity build-up in China and the distributed power
focus of this new regulatory environment will no
doubt favor the Group’s thin-film PV technology as
the preferred technology within the requirements of
the DG projects.

The Group targets both DG and ground mounted solar
projects both in the PRC and overseas markets. The
Group believes that the successful execution of the
downstream strategy will be crucial for the future
sustainability and expansion of downstream business
model. In order to optimize the success rate of this
strategy, the Group will continue to actively look for
opportunities in investing early stage existing solar
projects that can utilize Hanergy Holding's solar
modules or developing the solar projects on its own.
The Group will also assess its investment strategies
in light of the prevailing subsidy schemes available in
the respective downstream operating regions.
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Emphasis on the Downstream Solar Energy
Industry Segment (continued)

The Group is dedicated to providing advanced thin-
film PV products, solutions and services to enable
sustainable development around the world. The
Group’s increased emphasis on the downstream
sector will provide an increasing source of income
stream that complements its existing upstream
revenues. The expansion and development of
downstream segments will consolidate the Group's
business model into a solid and sustainable platform
through which it can conduct its solar power energy
expansion into global markets in becoming a world
leading solar power company.

Entering into the Downstream Retail Sector

The acquisition of Hanergy UK marks a major step in
further expanding the Group’s downstream business
on the back of an exclusive partnership with one
of the world’s leading retail outlets, IKEA. This
partnership allows the Group to market its “Hanergy”
brand throughout IKEA's UK stores, which have a
significant number of customer throughput on a daily
basis. Together with the favorable and supportive
UK renewable and in particular solar regulation, the
Group believes that this area of development in
its downstream business provides a very exciting
opening to a fast growing and sustainable market.

The Group is already seeing a steady and healthy
customer uptake on these family sized projects in
the UK with an added bonus of customers being able
to make a decent investment return from installing
the Group’s solar modules on their roof-tops. The
combination of using the aesthetically attractive
Solibro thin-film modules and the ability to make a
“clean environment” statement leads to a robust
growth in customer interest in the Group's products.
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Entering into the Downstream Retail Sector
(continued)

With the successful launch of the IKEA UK retail
project, the Group will consider further expansions
into other new markets using a similar approach
by focusing on locations that can bring supportive
regulation, attractive outlet for marketing and an
environmentally conscious population.

Group Restructuring

As part of the Group’s business model evolution, it
will continue to undergo the necessary organizational
restructuring to cater for the development of the
downstream business unit. It is envisaged that
the Group's downstream business units will focus
on three business areas (Distributed Generations,
Ground-mounted Power Station and PV Application
Products) that will be geographically split into 6
separate regional companies (North America, South
America, Africa, Middle East & Europe, Asia Pacific
and Greater China) with significant professional
personnel presence. As the Group's business model
evolves from a pure upstream turnkey line producer
to that including downstream solar power generation
business, the contribution from the downstream
portion is expected to form a significant part of the
Group's total revenue and profits in future.
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Group Restructuring (continued)

The Group will invest heavily both in capital
investment and human resources for the downstream
business unit, and globally recruit the necessary
manpower including (i) a strong solar project
management team to equip them with the capabilities
in sourcing and operating ground-mounted solar
farms or roof-top projects; (ii) construction teams
capable of managing the EPC of ground-mounted
solar farms or roof-top projects which will be formed
in all six regional companies; (iii) sales teams to
identify potential buyers for the Group’s solar power
plants and products; and (iv) a finance team to
provide financing for the downstream projects. It is
expected that the Group's total future headcount will
be increased substantially, with the workforce for the
downstream business exceeding that of the turnkey
production lines.

Going Global

With the increasing demand from China, Japan, and
the US, worldwide PV installations are set to rise by
double digits in 2014. The Group is well-equipped to
capture the opportunity to expand its presence in the
growing solar markets, especially in the downstream
market. With the support of the Group’'s 6 regional
companies, unique expertise in the thin-film
technology, dedication to technological innovation and
advancement, the Group is able to build a truly global
solar thin-film PV platform that delivers the latest
technology to its customers, with the aim of realizing
its global expansion plan and becoming the leader in
the global thin-film solar technology solution provider
in the long run.
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As at 31 December 2013, the Group have interest-bearing
other borrowings of HK$179,579,000 (2012: Nil) while the
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$1,339,448,000 (2012: approximately HK$707,958,000).

Gearing ratio (total borrowings (exclude convertible bonds)
over shareholders’ equity) as at 31 December 2013 was
1% (2012: 0%).

The Group’'s monetary transactions and deposits continued
to be in the form of US dollars, Renminbi and HK dollars.
The Group expected that the exposure to exchange rates
fluctuation was not significant and therefore had not
engaged in any hedging activities.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

As at 31 December 2013, the Group did not have any
charges on its leasehold land and buildings (2012: Nil).

A total of 5,105,000,000 shares are pledged in favour
of four financial companies by Hanergy Holding as at 31
December 2013.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013, information on
sales and purchases relating to the major customers and
suppliers is summarized as follows:

Sales (Percentage over total sales)

The largest customer BAEP
Five largest customers AREP

Purchases (Percentage over total

purchases)
The largest supplier BAHER
Five largest suppliers A RHER

At 31 December 2013, Hanergy Holding and its affiliates
(collectively “Hanergy Affiliates”) was the Group’s
only customer. All transactions between the Group and
the customer concerned were carried out on normal
commercial terms.

Other than as mentioned above, none of the directors of
the Company (the “Director”), their associates, or any
shareholder which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had
a beneficial interest in any of the Group’'s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers for the year ended 31

December 2013.
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The number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2013 was approximately 785 (2012: 424) of whom 201
(2012: 126) were office administration staff.

Remuneration of employees and directors are determined
according to individual performance and the prevailing
trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis.
The Group has also contributed mandatory provident fund,
retirement funds and provided medical insurance to its
employees.

Bonuses are awarded based on individual performance
and overall Group performance, and are made to certain
employees of the Group.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2013.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. During the year under review, the Group’s revenue
and operating profit were derived principally from the
manufacture of equipment and turnkey production lines for
the manufacture of amorphous silicon based thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules.

Details of operating segment information of the Group
during the year are set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2013 and the state of the Group's affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 110 to 266.
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On 24 March 2014, the board of directors of the Company
proposed the payment of a final dividend out of the
contributed surplus of HK$0.015 (1.5 Hong Kong cents)
per ordinary share, totaling approximately HK$429 million
(2012: nil) and representing approximately 20.7% of the
net profit after tax of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013 in respect of the year ended 31 December
2013 subject to the reduction of the credit standing to the
share premium account of the Company with the credit
amount arising therefrom transferring to the contributed
surplus account of the Company (the “Share Premium
Reduction”). The proposed final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2013 is calculated based on
the total number of shares in issue as at the date of 24
March 2014. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval by the Company's shareholders at the upcoming
annual general meeting and the Share Premium Reduction
having become effective. The proposed dividend has not
been reflected as a dividend payable in these financial
statements, but will be reflected as an appropriation of
contributed surplus for the year ended 31 December 2013
upon approval by the Company’s shareholders.

Details of the Share Premium Reduction together with the
final dividend have been announced in the announcement
of the Company dated 3 April 2014.

Assuming that the final dividend is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the AGM, for the purposes
of ascertaining the entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 21 May 2014 to Friday, 23 May 2014 (both
dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 May 2014. It is
expected that the final dividend will be payable and issued
to those entitled on or around Friday, 6 June 2014.
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To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM to be held on Thursday, 15 May 2014, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
12 May 2014 to Thursday, 15 May 2014 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9 May 2014.

Details of movements in the Company's Convertible
Bonds, share capital and share options during the year are
set out in note 26, 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
for the year ended 31 December 2013.
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In accordance with the reporting and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Group had entered the following connected transactions
during the year:

(1

The Sale Interest Acquisition

On 19 April 2012, Beijing Apollo entered into the
Sale and Purchase Agreement with Hanergy, & &%
BHEAERAR and EEEXIKEHZARAE (the “Sale
Interest Vendors"”), pursuant to which Beijing Apollo
conditionally agreed to purchase and the Sale Interest
Vendors conditionally agreed to sell the entire paid-
up capital of Epe¥TEEIRAEFR LABR AR at the Sale
Interest Consideration of RMB150,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$184,500,000). The details of the
transaction were set out in an announcement dated
19 April 2012.

As additional time is required for Hanergy to clarify
the extent and impact of the terms of the fixed
asset investment commitment in respect of the Land
with the relevant government authorities, Beijing
Apollo and the Sale Interest Vendors entered into
an extension letter on 19 July 2012 pursuant to
which the long stop date of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement has been extended from 18 July 2012
to six months following the date of the extension
letter, being 18 January 2013 (or such later date as
the parties may agree in writing). The details of the
transaction were set out in an announcement dated
20 July 2012.

On 17 January 2013, Beijing Apollo and the Sale
Interest Vendors entered into a second extension
letter to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant
to which the long stop date of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement will be further extended from 18 January
2013 to six months following the date of that second
extension letter, being 17 July 2013 (or such later
date as the parties may agree in writing) (“Long Stop
Date”). The details of the transaction were set out in
an announcement dated 17 January 2013.
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(1

(1)

The Sale Interest Acquisition (continued)

As Hanergy and the relevant government authorities
have not clarified the extent and impact of the
terms of the fixed asset investment commitment
in relation to the Land yet, Beijing Apollo and the
Sale Interest Vendors determined not to further
extend the Long Stop Date of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and mutually agreed to terminate the
Sale and Purchase Agreement upon the expiry of the
Long Stop Date. The details of the termination of
the Sale and Purchase Agreement were set out in an
announcement dated 12 July 2013.

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options &
Adjustment to Conversion Price & Amendments to
Terms of the Existing Convertible Bonds

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options

Following the granting of Whitewash Waiver by the
Executive on 27 December 2012 and the approval
by the independent Shareholders as disclosed in
the SGM Poll Results Announcement, the 2010
First Subscription Completion, the proposed partial
exercise of options granted under the 2011 Hanergy
Option Agreement and the 2011 First Subscription
Completion were completed on 27 February 2013 (the
“First Completion Date”) and:

() a total of 1,964,611,584 Shares (the “2010
First Subscription Shares”), representing
approximately 9.06% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the First Completion
Date as enlarged by the issue of the 2010 First
Subscription Shares, the Option Shares (defined
below) and the 2011 First Subscription Shares
(defined below) (the 2010 First Subscription
Shares, the Option Shares and the 2011
First Subscription Shares collectively, the
“Completion Shares”), were issued and allotted
to Hanergy Investment at the subscription price
of HK$0.239 per 2010 First Subscription Share.
The consideration received from the 2010 First
Subscription Shares is HK$469,543,000 during
the year;
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(1)

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options &
Adjustment to Conversion Price & Amendments
to Terms of the Existing Convertible Bonds
(continued)

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options
(continued)

(i) a total of 300,000,000 Shares (the “Option
Shares”), representing approximately 1.38% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at
the First Completion Date as enlarged by the
issue of the Completion Shares, were issued
and allotted to Hanergy Option at the exercise
price of HK$0.1664 per Option Share; and

(i) a total of 6,000,000,000 Shares (the "2011
First Subscription Shares”), representing
approximately 27.66% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the First
Completion Date as enlarged by the issue of the
Completion Shares, were issued and allotted to
Hanergy Investment at the subscription price
of HK$0.1 per 2011 First Subscription Share.
The consideration received from the 2011 First
Subscription Shares is HK$600,000,000 during
the year.

The details of the above transactions from (i) to (iii)
were set out in an announcement dated 27 February
2013.

First Adjustment to Conversion Price

One of the conditions precedent to the 2010 First
Subscription Completion and 2011 First Subscription
Completion was the obtaining by the Company of
written consents from all the Bondholders to waive
any adjustment to the conversion price pursuant to
the provisions of the Existing Convertible Bonds and/
or the instrument constituting the Existing Convertible
Bonds caused by the transactions contemplated
under the 2010 Subscription Agreement and the 2011
Subscription Agreement, and that condition was duly
waived by Hanergy in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Subscription Agreement and the 2011
Subscription Agreement prior to the Completion Date.
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(1

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options &
Adjustment to Conversion Price & Amendments
to Terms of the Existing Convertible Bonds
(continued)

First Adjustment to Conversion Price (continued)

As a result of the 2010 First Subscription Completion
and the 2011
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Existing

First Subscription Completion,

Convertible Bonds, the conversion price of the
Existing Convertible Bonds has been adjusted from
HK$0.329 per Share to HK$0.272 per Share. Based
on the outstanding principal amount of the Existing
Convertible Bonds approximately (HK$847,530,000)
as at the First Completion Date, the number of
Shares to be issued and allotted upon full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds after adjustment to the
conversion price shall be approximately 3,115,919,118
Shares (representing approximately 14.36% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the First
Completion Date and approximately 12.56% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the Shares to be issued upon the said full conversion).
The aforesaid adjustment would have retrospective
effect commencing on the First Completion Date.

The details of the adjustment were set out in an
announcement dated 4 March 2013.
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(1

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options &
Adjustment to Conversion Price & Amendments
to Terms of the Existing Convertible Bonds
(continued)

2011 Second Share Subscription & Second
Adjustment to Conversion Price

The cumulative consideration paid under the
2011 Sales Contracts exceeds HK$3.6 billion
and all remaining conditions to the 2011 Second
Subscription Completion have been duly fulfilled
or waived (as the case may be). The 2011 Second
Subscription Completion took place on 24 September
2013 (the "Second Completion Date”) and a
total of 6,000,000,000 Shares (the “2011 Second
Subscription Shares”), representing approximately
21.61% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the Second Completion Date as enlarged by the
issue and allotment of the 2011 Second Subscription
Shares, were issued and allotted to Hanergy
Investment at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per
Share. The consideration received from the 2011
Second Subscription Shares is HK$600,000,000 during
the year.

As a result of the 2011 Second Subscription
Completion, the conversion price of the Existing
Convertible Bonds has been adjusted from HK$0.272
per Share to HK$0.249 per Share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the Existing Convertible
Bonds.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 24 September 2013.
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(1

(1)

Share Subscription & Exercise of Options &
Adjustment to Conversion Price & Amendments
to Terms of the Existing Convertible Bonds
(continued)

Amendments to the Terms of the Existing
Convertible Bonds

On 4 October 2013, the Company entered into the
Deed of Amendments with GL Wind Farm and China
Genco, the current holders of the Existing Convertible
Bonds, to amend certain existing terms of the
Existing Convertible Bonds (including, among others,
the extension of the maturity date of the Existing
Convertible Bonds from 25 November 2013 to 31
December 2014). The details of the transaction were
set out in an announcement dated 4 October 2013
and the circular dated 25 October 2013 respectively,
while the resolution relating to the transaction was
duly passed by independent Shareholders by way
of poll as an ordinary resolution at SGM held on 11
November 2013.

Acquisition of Solibro’s CIGS Thin Film Solar
Technology

On 2 September 2013, Beijing Apollo, Fujian Apollo
and Apollo Kunming agreed to acquire from Hanergy
all intellectual property rights of Solibro’s CIGS
thin film solar technology, being one of the world's
leading CIGS thin film solar technologies in terms of
the conversion efficiency rate, and Solibro Research
AB (a Swedish CIGS solar technology research and
development company and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Hanergy) at consideration of RMB200,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$252,000,000)
and RMB80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$100,800,000), respectively. The details of the
transaction were set out in an announcement dated 2
September 2013.
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(IV) Acquisition of MiaSolé’s CIGS Thin Film Solar

(V)

Technology

On 18 September 2013, Beijing Apollo, Fujian
Apollo and Apollo Kunming (the “Subsidiaries”) and
Hanergy entered into the IP Acquisition Agreement,
pursuant to which the Subsidiaries conditionally
agreed to purchase and Hanergy conditionally agreed
to sell the Assigned IP Rights regarding all intellectual
properties of MiaSolé (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hanergy and a company incorporated in California,
the United States of America) at the IP Consideration
of RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$444,500,000). The details of the transactions were
set out in an announcement dated 18 September
2013.

Supplemental Agreements

On 31 October 2013, Fujian Apollo and Hanergy
entered into (i) the 2010 Supplemental Sales Contract
to supplement and amend certain terms of the
2010 Sales Contract for the second and third batch
production lines with an aggregate capacity of 2,000
MW and the provision of respective technical and
engineering support, software and training services;
and (ii) the 2011 Supplemental Sales Contract to
supplement and amend certain terms of the 2011
Sales Contracts for the second and third batch
production lines with an aggregate capacity of 5,000
MW and the provision of respective technical and
engineering support, grant of software license and
training services.
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(V)

(V)

Supplemental Agreements (continued)

On 31 October 2013, the Company and Hanergy
Holding entered into (i) the 2010 Supplemental
Subscription Agreement to supplement and amend
certain terms, which is incidental to the amendments
of the 2010 Supplemental Sales Contract, of the 2010
Subscription Agreement; (ii) the 2011 Supplemental
Subscription Agreement to supplement and amend
certain terms, which is incidental to the amendments
of the 2011 Supplemental Sales Contract, of the 2011
Subscription Agreement; and (iii) the Supplemental
Incentive Agreement to extend the Long Stop Date
from 31 October 2013 to 31 October 2014.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
November 2013 and the
circular dated 12 December 2013 respectively, while

announcement dated 1

the resolutions relating to the transactions were duly
passed by independent Shareholders by way of poll,
each as an ordinary resolution, at SGM held on 31
December 2013.

Acquisition of Global Solar’s CIGS Thin Film Solar
Technology

On 11 December 2013, Hanergy Hi-Tech (HK) entered
into the Global Solar Agreement with Global Solar
(a corporation incorporated in Arizona, the United
States of America and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hanergy), pursuant to which Global Solar agreed to
assign and Hanergy Hi-Tech (HK) agreed to acquire
the Assigned IP at Completion at the Consideration
of US$1 (equivalent to approximately HK$7.75), upon
and subject to the terms and conditions of the Global
Solar Agreement. The details of the transaction were
set out in an announcement dated 12 December 2013
and the circular dated 6 January 2014 respectively,
while the resolution relating to the transaction was
duly passed by independent Shareholders by way
of poll as an ordinary resolution at SGM held on 21
January 2014.
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In accordance with the reporting and announcement

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the

Group had entered the following continuing connected

transactions during the year:

(1

Tenancy Agreements, Equipment Lease Agreement

& Technology Agreement

On 1 March 2013, Fujian Apollo entered into three
tenancy agreements, the equipment lease agreement

and the technology agreement with Sichuan Hanergy.

The entering into of the Agreements constitutes a

continuing connected transaction on the part of the

Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Agreements are disclosed below:

(i)

Three Tenancy Agreements

Pursuant to the terms of the three Tenancy
Agreements, Fujian Apollo shall rent the Office
Premises, the Factory Premises and the Staff
Dormitory owned by Sichuan Hanergy for a term
of one year commencing from 10 March 2013 to
9 March 2014. The monthly rent for the Office
Premises shall be RMB19,680 per month. The
monthly rent for the Factory Premises shall be
RMB314,280 per month. The monthly rent for
the Staff Dormitory shall be RMB10,800 per
month. The monthly rent is determined after
arm’s length negotiations with reference to
the monthly rental of other similar premises in
Shuangliu County, Sichuan Province, the PRC.
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()  Tenancy Agreements, Equipment Lease Agreement

& Technology Agreement (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equipment Lease Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Equipment Lease
Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy shall lease the
Production Line located in the Factory Premises
with equipments associated with the Production
Line to Fujian Apollo for a term of one year
commencing from 10 March 2013 to 9 March
2014. The monthly rent for the Production Line
and the equipments associated thereto shall be
RMB1,376,986 per month. The monthly rent is
determined after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to the monthly rental costs of other
similar equipments used in the Production Line
in the PRC.

Technology Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Technology
Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon the
request of Fujian Apollo to provide relevant
equipments, material and facilities to allow
Fujian Apollo to carry out research on thin-
film solar energy technology development. In
particular, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon request
of Fujian Apollo to provide PECVD furnaces
for research to be conducted by Fujian Apollo.
The term of the Technology Agreement
shall commence from 10 March 2013 to 9
March 2014. The consideration payable by
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()  Tenancy Agreements, Equipment Lease Agreement () HEWHE REHEHIREMHS
& Technology Agreement (continued) (&)

(iii) FilFaE (&)

(iii) Technology Agreement (continued)

Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy shall be at
RMB12,000 per PECVD furnace. Assuming that
the maximum number of PECVD furnaces to
be utilised by Fujian Apollo shall be 2,600, the
maximum aggregate consideration payable by
Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy under the
Technology Agreement shall be RMB31,200,000.
The consideration payable by Fujian Apollo to
Sichuan Hanergy is determined after arm’s
length negotiations with reference to the costs
and expenses to be borne by Sichuan Hanergy
in respect of each PECVD furnace.

Based on the monthly rental payment under
the Tenancy Agreements and Equipment
Lease Agreement and the maximum
anticipated consideration payable under
the Technology Agreement, the maximum
aggregate annual amount payable by the Group
under the Agreements will be approximately
RMB51,860,952.

The details of the above transactions from (i) to
(iii) were set out in an announcement dated 12
March 2013.
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()  Tenancy Agreements, Equipment Lease Agreement (I) HEWHE REHEHIREMHS
& Technology Agreement (continued) (&)

(iii) FilFaE (&)

(iii) Technology Agreement (continued)

On 17 March 2014, Fujian Apollo entered into
the Supplemental Agreements with Sichuan
Hanergy.

Pursuant to the terms of the three Tenancy
Agreements (as renewed by the Supplemental
Tenancy Agreement), Fujian Apollo shall
continue to rent the Office Premises, the
Factory Premises and the Staff Dormitory owned
by Sichuan Hanergy for a term of three year(s)
to 9 March 2017. The monthly rent for the
Office Premises shall be RMB19,680 per month.
The monthly rent for the Factory Premises shall
be RMB314,280 per month. The monthly rent
for the Staff Dormitory shall be RMB10,800 per
month. The monthly rent is determined after
arm’s length negotiations with reference to
the monthly rental of other similar premises in
Shuangliu County, Sichuan Province, the PRC.

Pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental
Equipment Lease Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy
shall continue to lease the Production Line
located in the Factory Premises with equipments
associated with the Production Line to Fujian
Apollo for a term of three years commencing
to 9 March 2017. The monthly rent for the
Production Line and the equipments associated
thereto shall be RMB1,376,986.4 per month. The
monthly rent is determined after arm’s length
negotiations with reference to the monthly
rental costs of other similar equipments used in
the Production Line in the PRC.
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()  Tenancy Agreements, Equipment Lease Agreement (I) HEWHZ REHEHBIRIMGE
& Technology Agreement (continued) (&)

(iii)  F 1 1% (42 )

(iii) Technology Agreement (continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Technology
Agreement (as renewed by the Supplemental
Tecnhnology Agreement), Sichuan Hanergy shall
upon the request of Fujian Apollo to provide
relevant equipments, material and facilities to
allow Fujian Apollo to carry out research on thin-
film solar energy technology development. In
particular, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon request
of Fujian Apollo to provide PECVD furnaces for
research to be conducted by Fujian Apollo. The
term of the Technology Agreement (as renewed
by the Supplemental Tecnhnology Agreement)
shall be up to 9 March 2017. The consideration
payable by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy
shall be at RMB12,000 per PECVD furnace.
Assuming that the maximum number of PECVD
furnaces to be utilised by Fujian Apollo shall
be 2,600, the maximum annual aggregate
consideration payable by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan
Hanergy under the Technology Agreement
shall be RMB31,200,000. The consideration
payable by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy is
determined after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to the costs and expenses to be borne
by Sichuan Hanergy in respect of each PECVD
furnace.

Based on the monthly rental payment under
the Tenancy Agreements and Equipment
Lease Agreement and the maximum
anticipated consideration payable under the
Technology Agreement (as renewed by the
Supplemental Agreements), the maximum
aggregate annual amount payable by the Group
under the Agreements (as renewed by the
Supplemental Agreements) will be approximately
RMB51,860,952.

The details of the above transactions were set
out in an announcement dated 18 March 2014.
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(1

(1

Sales of Spare Parts

On 5 June 2013, Fujian Apollo entered into a Spare
Parts Sales Agreement with Hanergy for the sales of
Spare Parts by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy (including any
of its subsidiaries). Pursuant to the Spare Parts Sales
Agreement, Hanergy has agreed to purchase from
Fujian Apollo, and Fujian Apollo has agreed to sell to
Hanergy (including any of its subsidiaries), the Spare
Parts.

The selling price and payment terms for the sales of
Spare Parts are to be separately negotiated for each
Purchase Order by Fujian Apollo and Hanergy. The
selling price and payment terms will be arrived at
after arm’s length negotiation between Fujian Apollo
and Hanergy.

Pursuant to the Spare Parts Sales Agreement, the
price of the Spare Parts cannot be higher than the
prevailing market price of spare parts.

Pursuant to the Spare Parts Sales Agreement, the
total consideration for the sales of Spare Parts
by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy (including any of its
subsidiaries) for the financial year ended 31 December
2013 cannot exceed RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$63,277,500).

The Spare Parts Sales Agreement shall be effective
from the date on which the Spare Parts Sales
Agreement is signed and sealed by both parties up to
31 December 2013 (both dates inclusive), after which
it may be renewed on mutual agreement subject to
compliance with the Listing Rules requirements. The
Company will comply with the relevant Listing Rules
requirements in the event of renewal of the Spare
Parts Sales Agreement and further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company upon such renewal.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 5 June 2013.

Patent & Technical Knowhow

On 8 October 2013, Global Solar entered into the
Agreement with Hanergy Hi-Tech International for
the right to license Global Solar's 61 (sixty-one) CIGS
thin film solar patents and technical knowhow for one
year starting from the date of the Agreement for a
consideration of US$1. The details of the transactions
were set out in an announcement dated 8 October
2013.
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(IV) Purchase of Photovoltaic (“PV"”) Modules

(i)

(ii)

Master Supply Agreement

On 11 April 2012, the Company entered into a
Master Supply Agreement with Hanergy Holding
to purchase the PV modules for the Group's
photovoltaic power generation projects. It is
intended that a number of solar energy plants
with power generation capacity reaching 1.5
GW will be constructed by the Group prior to
the end of the financial year 2014. Pursuant to
the Master Supply Agreement, Hanergy Holding
has agreed to supply solar energy panels to the
Group at the selling price of not more than US$1
per W or not more than the prevailing market
price of PV module, whichever is lower.

The details of the transaction regarding Master
Supply Agreement and the Annual Caps were
set out in an announcement dated 11 April 2012
and the circular dated 18 May 2012 respectively,
while the resolution relating to the transactions
was duly passed by independent Shareholders
by way of poll as an ordinary resolution at
a special general meeting of the Company
("“SGM") held on 4 June 2012.

Subcontract

During 2013, the Company’s subsidiaries
entered into several PV module purchase
subcontracts with Hanergy Affiliates, nominees
of Hanergy Holding, to purchase PV modules
with a total capacity of 677.9 MW for
construction of the downstream photovoltaic
power generation projects. According to the
terms of the agreements, approximately 50%
of the total contract amounts have been paid by
the Company’s subsidiaries on the placement of
the orders. As of 31 December 2013, 58.5 MW
PV modules have been delivered by Hanergy
Affiliates and the remaining PV modules would
be sequentially delivered pursuant to the future
construction plan of the Group. Pursuant to the
mutual negotiation, the Company has negotiated
with Hanergy Affiliates to delay the delivery of
PV modules with capacity of 379.4 MW from
24 March 2014 to April 2014 or May 2014. The
delivery deadline of the remaining PV modules
with capacity of 240.0 MW is 30 June 2014
according to the purchase agreement.
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The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
had reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
[, 11,
entered into:

Il and IV and confirmed the transactions had been

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(2)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there were
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they were on normal commercial terms, on
terms no less favourable to the Company than terms
available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as
a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagments 3000 Assurance Engagments Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’'s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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(1

Subscription of New Shares Under General
Mandate

On 9 January 2014, EREHREEREZRER A
A](Guangdong Southern Baota Investment Holding
Limited), a company established under the laws of
the PRC (the “Subscriber”) and the Company have
entered into the Subscription Agreement pursuant
to which the Subscriber will subscribe or procure its
designated subsidiary (who is independent of and
not connected with the Company and its connected
persons) to subscribe for, and the Company will allot
and issue to the Subscriber, 500,000,000 new Shares
to be allotted and issued under the subscription
(the “Subscription Shares”) for the Subscription
Shares by the Subscriber pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement at HK$0.82
per Subscription Share.

The Subscription Shares represent approximately
1.75% of the existing issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report and
approximately 1.72% of the enlarged issued share
capital of the Company immediately after the
Completion. The Subscription Shares, when issued,
will be subject to a lock-up period of 6 months.

The Completion is subject to fulfilment of the
Conditions Precedent. Accordingly, the Subscription
may or may not proceed.

The details of the events were set out in an
announcement dated 10 January 2014.

As additional time is required for the Subscriber
to obtain all necessary approvals from the relevant
government authorities in the PRC in relation to the
entering into and performance of the Subscription
Agreement, the Subscriber has written to the
Company request for the extension of the Long Stop
Date from the date falling 60 days from the date
of the Subscription Agreement i.e. 10 March 2014
(or such later date as may be agreed between the
parties to the Subscription Agreement) to a later
date. The Company and the Subscriber have entered
into a supplemental agreement dated 7 March 2014
to extend the Long Stop Date to the date falling 90
days from the date of the Subscription Agreement
i.e. 9 April 2014 (or such later date as may be agreed
between the parties to the Subscription Agreement).

The details of the events were set out in an
announcement dated 7 March 2014.
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(1)

(1)

(V)

Loan Agreement with China Development Bank

On 17 January 2014, Hanergy Holding together
with the Company entered into a loan agreement
with China Development Bank, pursuant to which
Hanergy Holding or the Company may draw down
less-than-1-year bank loan with a maximum amount
of US$25,000,000. The purpose of the loan is finance
the working capital of the solar business. The loan
bears a floating interest rate equal to 6-month London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 350 basis
points. Up to 24 March 2014, USD7,781,000 has been
drawn down by the Company.

Caofeidian Contracts

On 22 January 2014, the Group has entered into two
equipment sales contracts and two service contracts
(the "Caofeidian Contracts”) with Hebei Caofeidian
Hanergy Photovoltaic Co. Ltd. (“Hanergy Caofeidian”),
the assigned company by Hanergy Holding, for the
provision of a total 600MW CIGS thin film solar
manufacturing turnkey lines, which consist of (i) an
equipment sales contract and a service contract to
apply the MiaSolé CIGS technology for a CIGS turnkey
line with capacity of 300MW; and (ii) an equipment
sales contract and a service contract to apply the
Solibro CIGS technology for another CIGS turnkey line
with capacity of 300MW. The Caofeidian Contracts
were entered under the 2011 Sales Contracts. The
total contract amount is US$780,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,084,000,000).

The details of the event were set out in an
announcement dated 27 January 2014.

Acquisition of Hanergy UK

On 9 February 2014, Hanergy Solar PV Application
UK Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) (the “Purchaser”), Hanergy Global
Investment and Sales Pte. Limited (a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hanergy) (the “"Vendor”) and
Hanergy (as warrantor) entered into the Agreement,
pursuant to which, the Vendor agreed to sell and
the Purchaser agreed to purchase (i) the Sale Share,
being the entire issued share capital in Hanergy Solar
UK Limited (a company incorporated in England and
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Vendor) (the
“Hanergy UK"), which is in turn an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hanergy; and (ii) the Shareholder
Loan of Hanergy UK, at the consideration of HK$1
upon and subject to the terms and conditions of the
Agreement.

The details of the events were set out in an
announcement dated 10 February 2014.
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Acquisition of MiaSolé Production Line & Certain
Furniture and Fixtures

Certain of the Company’'s subsidiaries, as buyers
entered into the agreements with certain of the
subsidiaries of Hanergy Holding, as sellers for the
acquisition of the Purchased Assets and certain
furniture and fixtures:

MiaSolé Production Line Agreement

On 25 February 2014, MiaSolé Hi-Tech, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, as buyer entered
into the MiaSolé Production Line Agreement with
Hanergy (America), a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding,
as seller for the acquisition of the purchased assets
for a consideration of US$15,200,000 in cash.

On 25 February 2014, Hanergy Global Solar Power
Group (Europe), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, as buyer entered into the Europe
Agreement with Europe China Power, a subsidiary
of Hanergy Holding, as seller for the acquisition of
certain furniture and fixtures for a consideration of
EURG3,747.02 in cash.

America Agreement

On 25 February 2014, Hanergy USA Solar Solution, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as buyer
entered into the America Agreement with Hanergy
Holding America Inc., a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding,
as seller for the acquisition of certain furniture and
fixtures for a consideration of US$262,326.56 in cash.

The details of the events were set out in an
announcement dated 26 February 2014.
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Assignment and Assumption of Lease

On 17 March 2014, MiaSolé Hi-Tech entered into the
Agreement with MiaSolé and acknowledged by the
Landlord, an Independent Third Party in relation to,
among others, the assignment and assumption of the
Lease by MiaSolé Hi-Tech. There is no consideration
payable by MiaSolé Hi-Tech to MiaSolé for such
assignment of the Lease under the agreement.
The monthly rental payable by MiaSolé Hi-Tech
to the Landlord under the Lease shall range from
US$138,365 per month to US$155,731 per month
throughout the remaining term of the Lease.

The details of the events were set out in an
announcement dated 18 March 2014.

Supplemental agreements with Sichuan Hanergy

On 17 March 2014, Fujian Apollo entered into
the supplemental agreements to the original
agreements with Sichuan Hanergy, the principal
changes include: (i) Fujian Apollo shall continue to
rent the office premises, the factory premises and
the staff dormitory owned by Sichuan Hanergy for
a term of three years to 9 March 2017; (ii) Sichuan
Hanergy shall continue to lease the Production Line
located in the Factory Premises with equipment
associated with the Production Line to Fujian Apollo
for a term of three years commencing to 9 March
2017; (iii) Sichuan Hanergy shall upon the request of
Fujian Apollo provide relevant equipment, material
and facilities to allow Fujian Apollo to carry out
the research on thin-film solar energy technology
development up to 9 March 2017.

The details of the events were set out in an
announcement dated 18 March 2014.
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Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 August 2007 (the
“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
option to (i) any director, employee or consultant of
the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate”);
discretionary objects include any director, employee

or (i) any discretionary trust whose

or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
(iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose service
to the Group or business with the Group contributes
or is expected to contribute to the business or
operation of the Group as may be determined by
the Directors from time to time to subscribe for the
shares of the Company.

Principal terms of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose
of attracting and retaining quality personnel and other
persons and providing incentive to them to contribute
to the business and operation of the Group. To this
end, the Directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or the
performance targets, if any, that must be achieved
before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment for the share options at an exercise price
(subject to adjustments as provided therein) equal
to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(ii) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not exceed
10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme, unless a refresh approval of
the shareholders is obtained. At a special general
meeting of the Company held on 11 June 2010,
the shareholders of the Company have approved
to refresh the 10% limit. As at the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue upon the exercise of all options granted
or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
461,224,947 (representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of passing the
resolution to refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the share capital of the Company in issue on the
last date of such 12-month period unless approval of
the shareholders of the Company has been obtained
in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007
and has a life of 10 years until 27 August 2017. The
exercise period of an option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not be more than ten years
from its date of grant and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which such option must be held
before it can be exercised.
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Other Options

The Company has also granted other options to
certain consultants upon completion of acquisition
of Apollo Precision Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Solar
Business”) in November 2009 as incentive of their
contribution to the development of Solar Business
(the “Other Options 1”). The Other Options | were
not granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Principal terms of the Other Options |

The Other Options | entitled the consultants to
subscribe for an aggregate of 320,000,000 shares of
the Company as adjusted after the share subdivision
effective from 5 November 2009 at an exercise price
of HK$0.25 after the share subdivision effective from
5 November 2009 for a period of 5 years from the
date of granting of the Other Options |. The vesting
period was 1 year from the date of grant. Details of
the Other Options | are set out in the circular dated
29 October 2009.

Principal terms of the Other Options Il

On 18 September 2011, the Company entered into
the 2011 Option Agreements with each of Hanergy
Holding and Apollo Management respectively
pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to grant the 2011 Options to Hanergy
Holding (or its designated individuals or entities)
and Apollo Management (the “Other Options II") .
On 16 December 2011 (the "Date of Grant"), after
fulfilment of the conditions precedent to each of the
2011 Options Agreements, the Company had granted
the Other Options Il to Hanergy Option Limited
(Hanergy Holding’'s designated entities) and Apollo
Management. The Other Options Il were not granted
under the Share Option Scheme.
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Other Options (continued)

Principal terms of the Other Options Il (continued)

The Other Options Il entitled Hanergy Option Limited
(Hanergy Holding's designated entities) and Apollo
Management to subscribe for an aggregate of 1.3
billion shares and 100 million shares of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.1664 respectively. They
will lapse upon the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant.

For the Other Options Il granted to Hanergy Option
Limited on 16 December 2011, the exercise periods
are as follows:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Options to subscribe for 610 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the Date of Grant and ending on
the day immediately prior to the fifth anniversary
of the Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 310 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the first anniversary of the Date
of Grant and ending on the day immediately prior
to the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 310 million shares
of the Company are exercisable during the
period commencing on the second anniversary
of the Date of Grant and ending on the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 10 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the third anniversary of the Date
of Grant and ending on the day immediately prior
to the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant; and

Options to subscribe for 60 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the fourth anniversary of the
Date of Grant and ending on the day immediately
prior to the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant.

(1

Hibig R (=)
ABREI 2 EEKH(E)

H fb B A% # I8 T Hanergy Option
Limited CEEEIERIEET 2 BB ) KI5
EIREREN FIHRITE(E 0.1664 B LD Al
REBAHX13ERETEREARRRKG -
BREBHNEEBHABERK -

RZE—-——F+ZAT<BET
Hanergy Option Limited 2 H{th 8 A% k&
N ZATEAIAT

() FIREB6.1EERARARND ZER
BRI L B2 BRI A
FAFAT Z B IEHBRTTE

(i) FREIIERARRFRN 2BER
BAREHABFEERERR
HAMAAFAZ A EBEATT
&

(i) ARSI TERARFRN 2B
BRI RR L A HRMBFREERER
HEMABFA 2 BIEBEATT
&

(iv) FI3R8% 1,000 BREA ARG 28
ARER R A B = A e B
R BBARABAFR B IEEBEATT
£ &

(v) FAIREE6,000 B ARARN ZE
PRI R B B PR S E B R
REBHAEFR 2 B IEEE AT
& o



(1)

Other Options (continued)

Principal terms of the Other Options Il (continued)

For the Other Options Il granted to Apollo

Management, the exercise periods are as follows:

From the Date
of Grant and

ending on
the day
immediately
prior to
the fifth
anniversary of
the Date of
Grant
G
ez
SEELAH
Name of grantees ERARE REFRZAL

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai  Frank Mingfang Dai
it 2,800,000

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, FRERE

Ronnie J.P. AT 2,400,000
Dr. Li Yuan-min FRRET 1,200,000
Dr. Xu Xixiang REMET 1,200,000
Dr. Shan Hongging BpEET 1,200,000
Mr. Li Guangmin ZEREE 600,000
Mr. Xu Xiaohua REELE 600,000
Total @ 10,000,000

Details of the Other Options |l are set out in the

circular dated 14 November 2011.

From the first
anniversary
of the Date

of Grant and
ending on

the day
immediately
prior to

the fifth
anniversary of
the Date of
Grant
mEHAH
-REEE
SERLAH
IRFAZAL

2,800,000

2,400,000
1,200,000
1,200,000
1,200,000
600,000
600,000

10,000,000

() HEAEEREGE)
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Exercise periods

s

From the
second  From the third
anniversary anniversary
of the Date of the Date
of Grantand  of Grant and
ending on ending on
the day the day
immediately ~ immediately
prior to prior to
the fifth the fifth
anniversary of  anniversary of
the Date of the Date of
Grant Grant
MEHAS HELAS
MAFEE ZRERE
FERLAYR  BERLAR
IRFAzAL EREEAZAL
2,800,000 2,800,000
2,400,000 2,400,000
1,200,000 1,200,000
1,200,000 1,200,000
1,200,000 1,200,000
600,000 600,000
600,000 600,000
10,000,000 10,000,000

From

the fourth
anniversary
of the Date

of Grant and
ending on

the day
immediately
prior to

the fifth
anniversary of
the Date of
Grant
HELEH
MAFEE
SERLAH
BREFAZAL

16,800,000

14,400,000
7,200,000
7,200,000
7,200,000
3,600,000
3,600,000

60,000,000

Total

>

28,000,000

24,000,000
12,000,000
12,000,000
12,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000

100,000,000
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Other Options (continued)
Principal terms of the Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012 (after the trading hours), the
Company and Hanergy Holding entered into the
Option Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to grant Hanergy Holding
(or such person(s) at its direction) the Options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 600,000,000 Option
Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.25 per Option
Share (the “Other Options IlI”). On 31 December
2012 (the “Grant Date”), after fulfilment of the
conditions precedent to Option Agreement, the
Company had granted the Other Options Il to
Hanergy Investment Limited (Hanergy Holding's
designated entities). The Other Options Ill were not
granted under the Share Option Scheme. They will
lapse upon the fifth anniversary of the Grant Date.

For the Other Options Ill granted to Hanergy
Investment Limited on 31 December 2012, the
exercise periods are as follows:

(i) 300,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the Grant
Date to the day immediately prior to the fifth
anniversary of the Grant Date;

(i) 150,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the first
anniversary of the Grant Date to the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Grant Date; and

(ii) 150,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the second
anniversary of the Grant Date to the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Grant Date.
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Movements of Share Options () BERESH
Movements of the Share options granted to the BE-_T—=F+-_A=1+—HIFE
participants during the year ended 31 December 2013 NRSEERHEREESUT -

are as follows:

Outstanding Exercised/  Outstanding
as at Granted lapsed as at
Exercise 1 January during during 31 December
Name Date of grant price Exercise period 2013 the year the year 2013
R=%-Z%- RoB-=F+Z
- B=t-RiEx
8 RiiAH iR fit:Z:] HRTRE Fhit FAEAE/ &R %
The Other Options EftiEM1E
Other Options | granted ()~ 25 November 2009 HKS0.25/7T 25 November 2009 3,600,000 - (1,200,000) 2,400,000
to the consultants — 24 November 2014
KRB ZEENE ZERAET-ACTRAZ
v d t-RZ+1A ZZ-ME+-RZTEA
Other Options |l (I 16 December 2011 HK$0.1664 %7 16 December 2011 100,000,000 - (11,600,000) 88,400,000
granted to Apollo — 15 December 2016
Management “E-F “F——E+-A45BE
RRABEREL TZRt+AR ZE-NETCATEA
HthEREN
Other options Il granted ~ (Ill) 16 December 2011 HK$0.16647&7 16 December 2011 1,300,000,000 —  (920,985,160) 379,014,840
to Hanergy Option — 15 December 2016
Limited Ik TRt ATREE
#54 Hanergy Option TZA15H ZE-~ETZAtRA
Limited At 3R
Other options Il| (IV) 31December2012  HK$0.25%7 31 December 2012 600,000,000 — (258,400,000 341,600,000
granted to Hanergy — 30 December 2017
Investment Limited -I-oF “I-CEfCRCt-HE
1% 5 Hanergy Investment t-A=1-H “E-tE+Zf=1A
Limited 2 £ to B REIN
The consideration received from issued of shares FARBAREREITE M ETRMDUIER 2
upon exercise of share options is HK$220,084,000 YE{8/4220,084,0008 7T °
during the year.
Save as disclosed above, none of the grantees is a B EXETHEEIN  BEARABARR
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder AEE FETHRABXFTERENRE
of the Company or an associate (as defined in the MEECHBEAT(EER LA -

Listing Rules) of any of them.



Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the consolidated financial statements set out on
page 114.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December
2013 were as below:

i}

A

Contributed surplus

\;

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in prior years and reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2009 which, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), is available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(ii)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’'s bye-laws (“Bye-laws”) although there is no
statutory restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Details of the borrowings of the Group outstanding at 31
December 2013 and the amount of capitalised interest are
set out in note 25 and note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2013 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A five year financial summary is shown on page 267 and
268.

The Directors during the financial year 2013 and up to the
date of this report were:

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(re-designated on 4 March 2013)
Dr. Li Yuan-min
(Deputy Chairman and Chief Technology Officer)
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.
(Finance Director and Senior Vice-President)
(re-designated on 4 March 2013)
Mr. Chen Li
Mr. Li Guangmin
Ms. Zhao Lan *
Mr. Wong Wing Ho *
Mr. Wang Tongbo *

! Independent non-executive Directors

Frank
Mingfang Dai, Mr. Li Guangmin and Mr. Wang Tongbo will

In accordance with the Bye-law section 87(1), Mr.

retire from the office of Directors at the Annual General
Frank Mingfang Dai, Mr. Li
Guangmin and Mr. Wang Tongbo, who being eligible, offer

Meeting by rotation. Mr.

themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013, the total
emoluments of Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai, Dr. Li
Yuan-min, Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P., Mr. Chen Li,
Mr. Li Guangmin had been increased to approximately
HK$3,764,000 (including the annual fee of HK$364,000
as an Executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board, annual remuneration of HK$3,261,000 as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, bonus of
approximately HK$125,000 and others of HK$14,000),
HK$3,235,000 (including the annual fee of HK$189,000
as an Executive Director and the Deputy Chairman
of the Board, annual remuneration of HK$2,539,000
as the Chief Technology Officer of the Company,
bonus of approximately HK$500,000 and others of
HK$7,000), HK$4,429,000 (including the annual fee of
HK$189,000 as an Finance Director of the Board, annual
remuneration of HK$4,225,000 as the Senior Vice-
President of the Company, and others of HK$15,000),
HK$1,277,000 (including the annual fee of HK$189,000 as
an Executive Director of the Board, annual remuneration
of HK$1,083,000 as the Executive Vice-President of
the Company, and others of HK$5,000), HK$946,000
(including the annual fee of HK$189,000 as an Executive
Director of the Board, annual remuneration of HK$542,000
as the Financial Controller of the Company, bonus of
approximately HK$210,000 and others of HK$5,000)
respectively with reference to their respective duties
and responsibilities in the Group as well as the prevailing
market condition, while the annual director’'s fee of Ms.
Zhao Lan, Mr. Wong Wing Ho, and Mr. Wang Tongbo
had been increased to HK$116,000, HK$116,000, and
HK$116,000 respectively with reference to their respective
duties and responsibilities in the Group as well as the
prevailing market condition.

Save those changes mentioned above, there is no change
of information of each Director that is required to be
disclosed under Rules 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

HE_Z—=Ff+-_A=1+—HBLFE"
Frank Mingfang Daift4 ~ ZRIE L - &F
RELELFHL  BRAOLTERFTERLAE
e BEE 5 RN E43,764,0008 7T
(BREAESEVNTESTREEZFER
© 364,000 7 - tEAARAITHBE 2 F
& Bl € 3,261,000/ JT » 1E 41 49125,000/%
7T & H 41 14,0004 7T ) + 3,235,000 T( &
RIERESGNITESERAEETECFERS
189,000/ 7L * tFARRRIERIFINE 2FE
B 2,539,000 7T * FE4L47500,000 7 7T &
Hh7,00087C) ~ 4,429,000 L (BIEIEA
EESUBERCFEHRS189,00087T « 1F
BN @RBERE 2 FEME 4,225,000
7T K& H 115,000 7T ) ~ 1,277,000 % 7T(E
RERESTERTEE 2FEH$ 189,000
B ERAAREBBEBLH 2FEMNE
1,083,000 7T & E 4t 5,000 7T ) * 946,000
BT(EEIERESTERTEST L FERS
189,000 7T ~ 1ERZNA AR 1548 B 2 5 [ i
© 542,000/ JT * FEAL#9210,0007 7T & &
f5,000/87C) - H2EEZERAEE 2B
BREBE  UERBTMAMETE  mMBEARZ
T EBXKELRERTRBDEECFEESE
B RIENE116,00087T + 116,000 7T
116,000 - N2EETERAEE 2B
BRBE  URBITTRAMEE -

Btz SEe2gi YERE ETHIINE
13.51BMIKBETHEZSEETELED -



As at 31
executive of the Company had interest or short position

December 2013, the Directors or the chief

in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as follows:

Number of

shares

Name of Director EERR ROEE
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai £ 5,600,000
Dr. Li Yuan-min (Note 1) FRRBL(MHET) 1,200,000
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. S#FZRELLELFH#1 4,800,000
Mr. Li Guangmin TEREE 1,200,000
Mr. Wong Wing Ho (Note 2)  &ACE &£ (M2 7,150,000

Note:

(1) Dr. Li Yuan-min, who is a deputy chairman, executive
Director and chief technology officer of the Company, is
deemed to be interested in 1,200,000 Shares, through its
controlled corporation, Thriving Sino Limited, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

(2)  Mr. Wong Wing Ho, who is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, is deemed to be interested in
7,150,000 Shares, including 3,450,000 Shares owned by Ms.
Yuan Sugin, the spouse of Mr. Wong Wing Ho.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for the Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers.
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ZRESKBHIIMT

Percentage of

Number of issued share
share capital
options Total interests ~ {HEBITRA
BREHE CEa BALk
(%)
22,400,000 28,0000,000 0.10
12,000,000 13,200,000 0.05
19,200,000 24,000,000 0.08
4,800,000 6,000,000 0.02
— 7,150,000 0.03
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No contracts of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme section
stated above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

No contracts of significance concerning the management
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Details of the Group's retirement scheme are shown in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's retirement scheme contributions charged to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year amounted to approximately HK$6,209,000 (2012:
HK$3,798,000).
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As at 31 December 2013, having made enquiries with

the relevant persons/corporations, the interests or short

positions of such persons/corporations, other than a

Director or chief executive of the Company, in the shares

and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO are as follows:

Name of shareholder

RREE
Mr. Li He Jun

FAERE

IREPRHREHERAA

ERTREENREARLA

Hanergy

34

BERRIBNREARLA

Hanergy Investment Limited

Capacity
EEME

Interest of controlled
corporation

FEREE 2 e

Interest of controlled
corporation

FEn B B

Interest of controlled
corporation

FEH B BE

Beneficial owner & Interest of
controlled corporation

ESfA ARFIESEE RS

Interest of controlled
corporation

FiEHlAE B

Beneficial owner & Interest of
controlled corporation

BERAARFEHAE RS

Number of
Shares

RGEE
29,250,469,425(L)

440,000,000(8)

29,250,469,425(L)
440,000,000(S)

29,250,469,425(L)
440,000,000(S)

29,250,469,425(L)
440,000,000(S)

29,250,469,425(L)
440,000,000(S)

17,303,552,049(L)
440,000,000(S)

R-E—=F5+"A=+—HB KRF@AA
T/EBERERR BRRAQBDRER
7 MBI 336 R AT E < Bt Frac
B ARAL ZE(ARBRREERT R
BABRRIN RAR B R AR R R A

ZRAEIHKRWT

Number of
underlying
shares under

Percentage of

derivatives issued share
equity capital (%)
fIETBERET Total interests HERTRA
ZHBROEE AR B (%)
3,620,006,025(L)  32,870,475,450(L) 114.98
440,000,000(5) 1.54

3,620,006,025(L)  32,870,475,450(L) 114.98
440,000,000(S) 1.54

3,620,006,025(L)  32,870,475,450(L) 114.98
440,000,000(S) 1.54

3,620,006,025(L)  32,870,475,450(L) 114.98
440,000,000(S) 1.54

3,620,006,025(L)  32,870,475,450(L) 114.98
440,000,000(5) 1.54

3,620,006,025(L)  20,923,558,074L) 73.19
440,000,000(5) 1.54



Number of

Name of shareholder Capacity Shares

hEEA BRiE ek

Hanergy Option Limited Beneficial owner 2,932,887,603(L)
ExBEBA

GL Wind Farm Investment  Beneficial owner 91,022,862(L)

Limited EaEEA

China Genco Investment
Limited

Beneficial owner —

ERAA

i

v

Notes:

L — Long positions
S — Short positions

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, no
other persons/corporations had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
are required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Information on the Company's corporate governance
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”
from pages 95 to 102.

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’'s financial reporting process
and internal controls. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors.

Number of
underlying

shares under Percentage of

derivatives issued share
equity capital (%)
FTETEERET Total interests HERTRA
ZEBERAEE AR Bt (%)
162,474,199(L)  3,095,361,802(L) 10.83
1,643,505,356(L)  1,634,528,218(L) 5.72
1,572,426,470(L)  1,572,426,470(L) 5.50
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and with the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company's issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct
audit on the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 2013. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Ernst &
Young as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the board

Frank Mingfang Dai
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2014
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The Board is charged with providing effective and
responsible leadership for the Company. The Directors,
individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Board has established the following committees to
oversee different areas of the Company’'s affairs. The
composition of the Board and the committees are given
below and their respective responsibilities are discussed
later in this report. The terms of references of these
committees adopted by the Board are published on the
Company’s website (www.hanergysolargroup.com).

As at 31 December 2013, the members of the Board and
the committees are as follows:

Board S8

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai 5t 4
Dr. Li Yuan-min TrRRET

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. ARG AT

Mr. Chen Li RAO%EE

Mr. Li Guangmin TER%E

Independent Non Executive Directors B FHITES

Ms. Zhao Lan HEZT
Mr. Wong Wing Ho BEAELE
Mr. Wang Tongbo TRBEE

* chairman of the committee
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The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies
and monitors its performance. The Board also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, major
transactions, director appointments, dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of managing and overseeing the Group's
day to day operations to the Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Directors of the Company and respective
directors of principal subsidiaries of the Group. The
role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is
segregated.

On 4 March 2013, Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai has been re-
designated as the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. Under Rule A.2.1 in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules, the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. However, the
Board believes that the serving by the same individual
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during the
rapid development of the business is beneficial to the
consistency of the business plans and decision-making of
the Company.

The Company had received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards
their independence to the Company and based on the
contents of such confirmations, considers that each of the
independent non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

The company secretary of the Company assists the
Chairman in setting the agenda of board meetings and
each Director is invited to present any businesses that they
wish to discuss or propose at the meetings. All Directors
have timely access to all relevant information of the
meetings and may take professional advice if necessary.
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The Board held 62 full Board Meetings for the year ended
31 December 2013. Attendances of the full Board meetings
are as follows:

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4

Dr. Li Yuan-min FaRELT

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.  FFREEFLELXF#+
Mr. Chen Li Cabitas

Mr. Li Guangmin FTERLAE

Ms. Zhao Lan R

Mr. Wong Wing Ho EAOERE

Mr. Wang Tongbo F R EAE

Under the Bye-laws, all the Directors are currently required
to offer themselves for re-election by rotation at least once
every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election at the first general
meeting after their appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors were appointed
for one year up to the date of the next annual general
meeting. During the year, the Chairman had at least
annually held meetings with all independent non-executive
directors without the executive directors present.

The chairman of the board had attended the annual general
meeting of the Company in 2013, while the chairmen of
the audit, remuneration, and nomination committees and
the external auditor of the Company had been invited to
attend.

Every newly appointed director of the Company had
received a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on appointment. Subsequently any briefing or continuous
professional development will be provided to ensure that
Director has a proper understanding of the Company's
operations and business and is fully aware of his
responsibilities under statute and common law, the
Stock Exchange Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.
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No. of meetings No. of general

attended  meetings attended
HESRRH HERRAERH
61/61 3/3

44/44 0/3

61/61 3/3

44/44 1/3

44/44 1/3

44/44 1/3

45/45 1/3

45/45 2/3
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The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
was established to review the Group’s financial reporting,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and
make relevant recommendations to the Board. As at 31
December 2013, the Audit Committee comprises of three
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of
the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules. Please refer
to biography section of Directors for further details of the
committee members.

The Audit Committee may elect to ask its external
auditors to attend its meetings. During the year, the Audit
Committee has met with the external auditors with no
executive Directors present.

Ms. Zhao Lan (Chairman) HEZT(EE)
Mr. Wong Wing Ho EAOERE
Mr. Wang Tongbo FRHEAE

The services provided by Ernst & Young and the associated
fees thereof for the year ended 31 December 2012 and
2013, respectively, were as follows:

Statutory Annual EEFE

Annual audit and agreed upon procedure
Fr AR 7
1% MR 75

services for interim results
Taxation services
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No. of meetings attended

HESZRH

4/4
4/4
4/4
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The
("Remuneration Committee"”) was established to review

remuneration committee of the Company

the remuneration of Directors and the Group's salary policy.
A majority of members are independent non-executive
Directors. To minimize any conflict of interest, any member
who is interested in any given proposed motion is required
to abstain from voting on such motion. During the year
under review, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed
the Group's policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management.

ARBIZHMNEZEE((HMEES )KL
EHEFME R AKEFMER - KEDK
ERBUFNITES - AHNRERAESR
K EAREORAREZEASETES
B AIZARZADENERE - REEF
B -¥MEE e EHAREEERSRE
BABZHBHMER LR -

No. of meetings attended

HEEBRRE
Ms. Zhao Lan (Chairman) WERZLT(£E) 2/2
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4 1/1
Mr. Wong Wing Ho EHoKOERA 2/2
Mr. Wang Tongbo TR LA 2/2

The nomination committee of the Company was
established with specific written terms of reference to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board
at least annually, to make recommendations on the
procedures and criteria for appointment of Directors and
to implement those that are adopted by the Board. All
members are independent non-executive Directors.

Mr. Wong Wing Ho (Chairman) EAOERE(EE)
Ms. Zhao Lan HEZ T
Mr. Wang Tongbo TR LA
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No. of meetings attended
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11
11
11



Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results announcement of the
Company are published in a timely manner and within
three months and two months respectively of the year end
and interim periods.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. It should be read in
conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 107 to 109 which acknowledges

the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditor.

Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and financial statements
of the Company to ensure that these financial statements
give a true and fair presentation in accordance with Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable accounting
standards.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial
position of the Group upon which financial statements
of the Group could be prepared in accordance with
the Group's accounting policies while monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company's performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail had been provided to all Directors.
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Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within
the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, after due and careful enquiries and by
performing the necessary due diligence work to assess
the credibility and the capacity of the Hanergy Affiliates,
are of the view that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system (the “System”)
of the Group. The System is designed not only to achieve
the Group’'s objectives with facilitating an effective
and efficient business operation to ensure a reliable
financial reporting and compliance with applicable rules
and regulations, but also to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance on preventing material misstatement
or loss as well as managing and minimizing risks of failure
in operational system.

The Board should at least annually conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the System including all relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee and the
internal audit department, have continued to review the
effectiveness of the System. The System is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Controls are monitored by management review and
by a programme of internal audits.
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The Company has complied with the code provisions set
out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2013, except for the deviation
of Code Provision A.2.1 that the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. However,
the Board believes that the serving by the same individual
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during the
rapid development of the business is beneficial to the
consistency of the business plans and decision-making of
the Company.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Model
Code") regarding securities transactions by the Directors
on terms no less exacting than the required standard set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors confirmed
that they had compiled with the required standard set
out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company.
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Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai (“Mr. Dai”), aged 50, is
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, a member of
Remuneration Committee and an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Dai joined the Company on 13 August 2010.
He is an executive vice president of Hanergy Holding. Mr.
Dai has extensive experience in asset restructuring, merger
and acquisition, international financing and development of
photovoltaic business. Before joining Hanergy Holding, Mr.
Dai had been engaged in business management and market
development in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States
of America (“USA") for many years. Mr. Dai graduated
from the faculty of industrial economy management of &
5 X2 (Shenyang University) in 1984 and later obtained a
master’s degree in business administration (EMBA) in 2000
from the University of Texas at Dallas, USA.

Dr. Li Yuan-min (“Dr. Li”), age 55, joined the Group in
2009 and has been the Deputy Chairman, an Executive
Director and the Chief Technology Officer of the Company
since 3 August 2011. Dr. Li graduated in modern physics
from University of Science and Technology of China in
1982 and obtained a master’'s degree in physics from
Harvard University in 1984 and obtained his doctor of
philosophy in applied physics from Harvard University in
1989. Dr. Li has over 30 years of experience in international
thin-film materials preparation, characterization and
deposition technologies, photovoltaic (PV) devices design,
synthesis, analysis and optimization, large-area PV module
manufacturing and related process engineering, displays
and optoelectronic devices and materials. Dr. Li is the
inventor of numerous patents related to thin-film materials
preparation and technologies and PV devices design. Dr.
Li is currently a member of the Technical Advisory Board
of SEMI (China) PV Committee (a PV industry promotional
organization with headquarters in Shanghai). Dr. Li was
also the president and chief technology officer of a thin-
film PV company in New Jersey, USA and was a consultant
to a number of PV companies in the People's Republic of
China, Taiwan and USA.
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Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. (“Mr. Hui”), aged 50,
joined the Group in 2009 as Chief Financial Officer of
the Group. Following his appointment as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 3 August 2011 and re-designation as an Finance
Director and Senior Vice President of the Company on 4
March 2013, he has ceased to be chief financial officer
of the Group. Mr. Hui is a specialist in Paediatrics. Mr.
Hui is also a chartered financial analyst (CFA) and holds a
master of business administration (MBA) degree conferred
by Universitas 21 Global. Mr. Hui is a member of Small
and Medium Enterprises Committee of the Government
of HKSAR and a non-official member of the Women's
Commission of the Government of HKSAR and was a
member of Energy Advisory Committee. In the past three
years, Mr. Hui was an executive director of Town Health
International Investments Limited (stock code: 3886) and
was an independent non-executive director of Suncorp
Technologies Limited (stock code: 1063).

Mr. Chen Li (“Mr. Chen”), aged 41, has years of
experience in finance management, risk management and
arranging for financing. Mr. Chen, who joined the Company
on 12 December 2011, is currently the Executive Vice
President and Executive Director of the Company. He
obtained a master degree in business administration from
the University of International Business and Economics in
2006. He is also the senior vice-president and the chief
head of finance unit of Hanergy Holding. Before joining
Hanergy Holding, Mr. Chen has worked in the Jinan branch
of the Bank of China and been responsible for the credit
business.
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Mr. Li Guangmin (“Mr. Li"), aged 37, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company on 13 August 2010
and as the Financial Controller of the Company with effect
from 1 November 2011. He is an executive controller of
Hanergy Holding. He joined Hanergy Holding in 2002. He
had worked for 1t FHEE M (Beijing Crane Factory) from
2000 to 2002. He graduated from 1tz AZ (Northern
Jiaotong University) (currently known as 4t R %2 i@ K £
(Beijing Jiaotong University)) with a bachelor degree in
accountancy in 2000.

Ms. Zhao Lan (“Ms. Zhao"), aged 50, was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director, the chairman of
each of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
of the Company on 23 August 2011 and a member of
Nomination Committee of the Company on 29 March
2012. Ms. Zhao obtained the Bachelor of Economics
from Renmin University of China, the People's Republic
of China ("PRC"), in 1996. Ms. Zhao is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Beijing City Certified Tax Agents Association. Ms. Zhao
is experienced in auditing, accounting and corporate
management.

Mr. Wong Wing Ho (“Mr. Wong”), aged 39, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director, a
member of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 23 August 2011 and the
chairman of Nomination Committee of the Company on 29
March 2012. Mr. Wong is a Chartered Certified Accountant
ACCA, a Certified Financial Planner CFP®Y, a Chartered
Wealth Manager CWM™, a Certified Private Banker CPB
and also a member of the Global Association of Risk
Professionals. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
financial, wealth and risk management.
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Mr. Wang Tongbo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 63, has years of
experience in foreign import and export. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
a member of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 12 December 2011 and a
member of Nomination Committee of the Company on 29
March 2012. He obtained a master degree in Economics
from Liaoning University (E® X&) in 1995. Mr. Wang
is currently a partner of % — FEKEES (American-
China Growth Fund). Before joining American—China Growth
Fund, Mr. Wang has worked in £B{EZE%5 27" (Etech
Securities, Inc) as an executive director from 2005 to 2009;
RGBT 2 (Shenyang Wilke Medicine) as a director
from 2003 to 2004; &S M BATEL X EE (Shenyang
Municipal Government Offices) as a chief representative of
the United States of America from 1996 to 2002; J&[5 i &
INE B 57 B€ (Shenyang Foreign Economic and Trade
Commission) as deputy chief from 1990 to 1996; &5 A&
IEE®EH 027 (Shenyang Metals and Minerals Import and
Export Corporation) as general manager from 1988 to 1990;
and AR A LWEERE LB D QA (China National Metals and
Minerals Import and Export Corporation) Shenyang branch
office as general manager from 1985 to 1988.
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To the shareholders of Hanergy Solar Group Limited
(Formerly known as Apollo Solar Energy Technology
Holdings Limited)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Hanergy Solar Group Limited (formerly known as
Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 110 to 266, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Ernst & Young TG ERAT

22/F CITIC Tower BERPR
1 Tim Mei Avenue HREE1%
Central, Hong Kong H{EKE 224
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Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and of the
Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

24 March 2014
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REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Research and development costs
Other expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
TO BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT

OR LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT
PERIODS:

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operation

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

A
S E LA

7

TN e
HEBR

THER

HE A

H B 5

B B

BATRA
e

2 A
REABMERHE

ZEGzHMEM
Y -

BEINER BN

=8

REEHMBELE
HIKRHEA

AEEZHEWRELE

Notes
k23
5 3,274,425
(608,784)
2,665,641
6 131,324
(4,588)
(212,883)
(195,063)
(39)
7 (56,093)
8 2,328,299
9 (259,289)
2,069,010
177,071
177,071

2,246,081

2012
===0GF
HK$'000
FET
2,756,463
(789,504)
1,966,959
4,917
(654)
(93,804)
(134,631)
(16,445)
(60,184)
1,666,158
(349,976)

1,316,182

4,249

4,249

1,320,431



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBEakEMEEKRER

(Year ended 31 December 2013 &HZ—_ZE—=F+_A=+—HIEFE)

2013 2012
—B-Z=F —T—=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FET FHET
Profit for the year attributable to: FEIEARF R T -
Owners of the parent SAREAE A 10 2,069,010 1,316,182
Non-controlling interests VTR — —
2,069,010 1,316,182
Total comprehensive income JEMh 2 EN B -
attributable to:
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZPN 2,246,081 1,320,431
Non-controlling interests SRR - =
2,246,081 1,320,431
HK cents HK cents
B BN
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREE AEMN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF BREF
THE PARENT 12
Basic AR 9.3 9.8
Diluted i3] 5.2 8.4

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Available-for-sale investment
Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Bills receivable

Deposits and prepayments

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables
Deposits and accruals
Interest-bearing other borrowings
Convertible Bonds

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

Notes
k3

FREBEE

VI - BB R 14 209,941
EES 16 7,915,318
EmEEE 17 1,188,479
AHHERE 18 85,800
WM -« RE KRR

B2 ENZSE 493
EIET I E B 27 23,420
IERENEELREE 9,423,451
REBEE

FE 19 1,628,108
B 5 K E b e IE 20 4,221,107
R EE —
e MIEFIE 21 1,996,927
BAFEMERERER

ZREmEE 22 11,698
B F 23 —
HeMReEEY 23 1,339,448
MENEEER 9,197,288
REBEE

B 5 Kk E MR FIE 24 1,050,460
e MERTE F 166,419
E MBS 25 179,579
Al AR ES 26 845,584
FET IR 281,969
mEIBEER 2,524,011
REBEEFE 6,673,277
EELABERRBER

16,096,728

2012
—E——4F
HK$'000
FET

133,848
7,915,318
551,091
85,800

2,376
44,286

8,732,719

390,840
3,788,428
550
127,623

4,480

8,672

707,958

5,028,451

679,563
96,638

789,559
232,435

1,798,195

3,230,256

11,962,975



Notes
Kzt
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBAE
LIABILITIES 16,096,728
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFHIHAE 27 324,501
Total non-current liabilities EREEERTE 324,501
Net assets BEFH 15,772,227
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the owners of B2 FEA AE
the parent s
Issued capital BEITRA 28 71,470
Reserves (i 30(a) 15,700,757
15,772,227
Non-controlling interests IR RE —
Total equity EmiaTa 15,772,227

Frank Mingfang Dai

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

FERITEAEH,

Li Guangmin

FER

2012
—E——4F
HK$'000
FET

11,962,975

250,875

250,875

11,712,100

33,677
11,678,523

11,712,100

11,712,100

Executive Director and Financial Controller

BITEFRYBHEE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Year ended 31 December 2013 HE—ZE—=F+=-A=+—"HILFE)

Attrbutable to owners of the parent

BATEAARG
Share Capital Convertile Share
Issued premium ~ redemption Reseve  Contriouted  Bonds equity Exchange option Retained Total
capital account* resere* funds* surplus* reserve’ reserve’ reserve® profits* equity
ThkES

BEilE  ROERR AIEOGRE BES  ESER  EERE  ENRERT  ERERR  EmEMT EneR
HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HKk§ 000
i Fir P P i b7 T i i i

note 28] (note 28] fnote 30alll)  (note 30falil)  note 30fali) note 26) note 301alfiv)

(W) (hz28)  (Wzsom) (B 3060)  (Fisoalin) (Wi#2) (W2 3061)
At 1 January 2012 R-E-F-f-A 33577 7,107,964 7600 17,105 161,797 895,685 163,337 24,000 1980604 10,391,669
Proft or the yer RERER = = = = = = = — 61 1368

Other comprehensive income for the year: RERARRENE :
Exchange diferences on translation of foreign operation BERNSRENZR - = = - - - 4249 - - 4,249
Total comprehensive income for the year FERRENREE - - - - - - 429 — 13618 1320431
Transter from retaingd profits E e - - - 5,987 = - - - 5,987) -
At 31 December 2012 W=F-2F+2f=1-A 33517 7,107,964 7,600 23,092 161,797 895,685 167,586 24,000 3290799 11,712,100
Attributable to owners of the parent
BRAREARE
Share Capital Convertible Share
Issued premium  redemption Reserve  Contributed  Bonds equity Exchange option Retained
capital account* reserve* funds* surplus* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total
T8RE:
BRARA  REEEET EAREERE e RERR  ENRR  BRERRT  gRE 1
HKS 000 HK$ 000 $000 HK$'000 $ HKS'000 HKS'000
(note 28] [note e (nate 30(ali) [ note 30(a
At 1 January 2013 W-F-=F-3-H 3361 7,107,964 7,600 23092 161,797 895,685 167,586 24,000 32079 1,712,100
Subscription of shares fnote 28(b) ERGH290) U9 1634631 - - - - - - - 1669583
Exercise of share options frote 29 kERENH2) 2981 20540 - - - - - (3437) - 220,084
Deemed distibution to Hanergy Holding fnote 31.2 BiERRFERRRKH512) - - - - - - - - (75,581) [75,581)
Trensactions with owners SEEALRS 788 185N - - - - - (3437) (15581) 1814046
Proitfor the year KERE - - - - - - - - 2069010 2069010
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEREpRENE
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation BERNER RN R - - - - - - 177,0m - - 17,0
Tota comprehensive income for the year KERRENREE - - - - - - 177,011 - 2009010 246081
At 31 Decerber 2013 R-F-ZE+2f=1-A 410 8,963,135 7,600 23092 161,797 895,685 344,657 20,563 5284208 1571200
; . 1y s = A ) = A
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * ZEFERERREAMBRRARZES
of HK$15,700,757,000 (2012: HK$11,678,523,000) in the f# #%15,700,757,0007% L(= F — = F :
consolidated statement of financial position. 11,678,623,00087T) °
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2012

=g=—0=
Notes HK$'000
k3 FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEFEEHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: ot AE A - 2,328,299 1,666,158
Adjustments for: K
Finance costs MBER 7 56,093 60,184
Bank interest income RITH BUA 6 (4,342) (1,650)
Gain on disposal of an equity ﬁ&ﬁ/\iﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ
investment at fair value through Bam 2 A
profit or loss Z Wz 6 (2,508) —
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEE 8 94,567 65,616
Impairment of items of property, plant %% - MEKREER
and equipment BB 8 — 8,091
Impairment of a deposit EERE 8 — 7,514
Impairment of trade receivables 5 W IR E 8 39 —
Depreciation of property, plant and W BRENMREBITE
equipment 8 30,545 28,022
Write-down of inventories to net FEMBREEEFE
realisable value 8 277 1,736
Fair value (gain)/loss on an equity RAFEIIERNBa®
investment at fair value through EmRAAFE
profit or loss (Wzs) /&1 (4,766) 840
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE BER&xE
plant and equipment HE 2 BB 8 152 79
2,498,356 1,836,590
Increase in inventories FEEN (1,212,208) (31,718)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & £ {ib J& U FIE 12 A0 (249,785) (927,182)
Decrease/(increase) in bills receivable  JEUWZ R4 (3&h0) 550 (548)
Increase in deposits and prepayments &% K& Fa I FRIE L AN (1,861,895) (96,202)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H A FE S FRIFHE AN 289,660 243,295
Increase in deposits and accruals e M EETE RIE N 65,432 25,543
Cash (used in)/generated from KEEB (ER) EBEZ
operations B (469,888) 1,049,778
Income taxes paid BEATETSEL (120,220) (293,298)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating #&&EB (/) EL 2
activities BeReF8 (590,108) 756,480



Net cash flows (used in)/from operating
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment

Increase/(decrease) in deposits paid for
acquisition of items of property, plant
and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Investment in an available-for-sale
investment

Purchase of an equity investment at fair
value through profit or loss

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Advance to the ultimate holding
company

Advance to a related company

Decrease in pledged deposits

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of an equity
investment at fair value through profit
or loss

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Subscription of shares

Advance from the immediate holding
company

Advance from related parties

Other borrowings received from a
related party

Repayments of other borrowings to a
related party

Other borrowings received from
unrelated third parties

Dividend paid to Hanergy Holding Group

Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercise of share options

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents
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Note
HiqE

23

(590,108)

(91,668)

1,883
(688,418)

(6,932)
(99,732)

(458)
(190)

8,672
4,342

6,988

(865,613)

1,669,543

16,853
15,280

7,310
(7,136)
179,337
(48,520)
220,084

2,052,751

597,030
707,958
34,460

1,339,448

1,339,448

2012

—E——F

HK$'000
FET

756,480

(35,453)

(2,376)
(245,818)

(85,800)

32,092
1,650

330

(335,375)

421,105
284,809
2,044

707,958

707,958



NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries
Deposits and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to subsidiaries
Deposits and accruals

Other payables
Convertible Bonds
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

Net assets
EQUITY
Issued capital

Reserves

Total equity

Frank Mingfang Dai
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Notes

HiiE
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15

15
21
23

15

24
26

RBEE (AE)FH

EEABERABRME

BEFR
R
2T
Gl

TR AR

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

FERITEARE

28
30(b)

4,993
8,435,521

8,440,514
2,046,881
6,946
51,160
2,104,987
158,911
11,755
16,863
845,584

2,300

1,035,413

1,069,574

9,510,088

9,510,088

71,470

9,438,618

9,510,088

Li Guangmin

ZRE

2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET

1,937

8,396,521

8,398,458

175,146

2,096

3,662

180,904

106,434
1,323

789,559
2,300

899,616

(718,712)

7,679,746

7,679,746

33,677

7,646,169

7,679,746

Executive Director and Financial Controller

P

HITE

FERAYHAEE



Hanergy Solar Group Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Suite
7601A&07-08, Level 76, International Commerce
Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
involved in the manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines for the manufacture of amorphous
silicon based thin-film solar photovoltaic modules
(“Manufacturing”), building the solar farms or rooftop
power stations for sale (“Build and Sell”).

The Company’'s shares are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Group’s current operations
are principally based in Hong Kong, the People’s
Republic of China (the “"PRC” or “Mainland China”)
and Sweden.

On 27 February 2013, 7,964,611,584 shares and
300,000,000 shares were issued to Hanergy
Investment Limited (“Hanergy Investment”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hanergy Holding Group Limited
(“Hanergy Holding”, a company established under
the laws of the PRC, and Hanergy Option Limited
("Hanergy Option”), as nominee of Hanergy Holding,
respectively, which resulted in the interests in the
Company held by Hanergy Holding and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Hanergy Holding Group”) and its
concert parties increasing from 20.28% to 50.65%.
Hanergy Holding has in substance become the
controlling shareholder of the Company from that
date.

EREARGREEEERAR(ARA DR
BREFAMKTAEREER AR - H
T ffft 3 = g7 #h 4k A& Clarendon House,
Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda EXZE& X ABEN
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7601A K 07-08 =F °
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Hanergy Holding, together with its subsidiaries and
concert parties, directly or indirectly holds an effective
equity interest in the Company ranging from 20.28%
to 61.19% during the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Hanergy Investment,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Island
(“BVI") and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Hanergy Holding, which is established in
the PRC.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for an equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss, which
has been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net
current assets of HK$6,673,277,000. Included in
the Group’'s current assets as at 31 December
2013 were the gross amount due from and account
receivables from Hanergy Holding and its affiliates
(collectively “Hanergy Affiliates”) for contract work
of HK$4,162,291,000 and other receivables due from
Hanergy Affiliates of HK$648,000 (details of which
are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements) and outstanding balances with related
companies (details of which are set out in note
20, 21, 24, 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements). The Group finances its operations
principally by obtaining progress payments from
customers and credit terms from suppliers and
therefore the Group's liquidity depends very much on
the timeliness of settlement of progress payments by
the Hanergy Affiliates.
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The directors of the Company, after due and careful
enquiries and by performing the necessary due
diligence work to assess the credibility and the
capacity of the Hanergy Affiliates, are of the view
that the Hanergy Affiliates would be able to settle
all progress payments on a timely basis and fulfil all
the contracts concluded with the Group. As such, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and financial obligations as and when
they fall due, and accordingly, are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Comparative information

Certain items in the consolidated financial statements
have been reclassified to conform with the current
year's presentation to facilitate comparison.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2013. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's

financial statements.

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12
Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets

Consolidated Financial Statements

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 — Transition Guidance

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of ltems
of Other Comprehensive Income

Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in
June 2012

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12, HKFRS 13, HKAS 19
(2011), amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS
12, HKAS 1 amendment and certain amendments

included in Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle,

the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has

had no significant financial effect on these financial

statements.
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The principal effects of adopting these new and

revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements and addresses the issues
in HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities. It establishes a single control
model used for determining which entities are
consolidated. To meet the definition of control in
HKFRS 10, an investor must have (a) power over
an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee,
and (c) the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor's
returns. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10
require management of the Group to exercise
significant judgement to determine which
entities are controlled.

As a result of the application of HKFRS 10, the
Group has changed the accounting policy with
respect to determining which investees are
controlled by the Group.

The application of HKFRS 10 does not change
any of the consolidation conclusions of the
Group in respect of its involvement with
investees as at 1 January 2013. The adoption
of HKFRS 10 did not have any impact on the
earnings per share attributable to owners of the
parent and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2012.
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HKFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements
for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and structured entities previously included in
HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HKAS 28 /nvestments in Associates. |t
also introduces a number of new disclosure
requirements for these entities. Details of the
disclosures for subsidiaries are included in note
15 to the financial statements.

The HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12
Amendments clarify the transition guidance in
HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full
retrospective application of these standards,
l[imiting the requirement to provide adjusted
comparative information to only the preceding
comparative period. The amendments clarify that
retrospective adjustments are only required if
the consolidation conclusion as to which entities
are controlled by the Group is different between
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the
beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS
10 is applied for the first time.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of
fair value and a single source of fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across HKFRSs. The standard does
not change the circumstances in which the
Group is required to use fair value, but rather
provides guidance on how fair value should
be applied where its use is already required or
permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13 is
applied prospectively and the adoption has had
no material impact on the Group's fair value
measurements. As a result of the guidance in
HKFRS 13, the policies for measuring fair value
have been amended. Additional disclosures
required by HKFRS 13 for the fair value
measurements of financial instruments are
included in note 35 to the financial statements.
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(f)

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping
of items presented in other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). Items that could be reclassified
(or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point
in time (for example, exchange differences
on translation of foreign operations and net
loss or gain on available-for-sale financial
assets) are presented separately from items
which will never be reclassified (for example,
the revaluation of land and buildings). The
amendments have affected the presentation
only and have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group. The
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income has reflected the
changes. In addition, the Group has chosen to
use the new title “consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income”
as introduced by the amendments in these
financial statements.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of
amendments that range from fundamental
changes to simple clarifications and re-wording.
The revised standard introduces significant
changes in the accounting for defined benefit
pension plans including removing the choice
to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and
losses. Other changes include modifications
to the timing of recognition for termination
benefits, the classification of short-term
employee benefits and disclosures of defined
benefit plans. As the Group does not have any
defined benefit plan or employee termination
plan and the Group does not have any significant
employee benefits that are expected to be
settled for more than twelve months after the
reporting period, the adoption of the revised
standard has had no effect on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle
issued in June 2012 sets out amendments
to a number of standards. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While
the adoption of some of the amendments may
result in changes in accounting policies, none
of these amendments have had a significant
financial impact on the Group. Details of the key
amendments most applicable to the Group are
as follows:

o HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements: Clarifies the difference
between voluntary additional comparative
information and the minimum required
comparative information. Generally, the
minimum required comparative period
is the previous period. An entity must
include comparative information in the
related notes to the financial statements
when it voluntarily provides comparative
information beyond the previous period.
The additional comparative information
does not need to contain a complete set of
financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that
the opening statement of financial position
as at the beginning of the preceding period
must be presented when an entity changes
its accounting policies; makes retrospective
restatements or makes reclassifications,
and that change has a material effect
on the statement of financial position.
However, the related notes to the opening
statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the preceding period are not
required to be presented.

° HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation: Clarifies that income taxes
arising from distributions to equity holders
are accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendment
removes existing income tax requirements
from HKAS 32 and requires entities to
apply the requirements in HKAS 12 to any
income tax arising from distributions to
equity holders.
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The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 Hedge Accounting and amendments to HKFRS 9,
and HKAS 39 HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39'
Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS

and HKAS 27 (2011) 27 (2011) — Investment Entities'
Amendments
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts’

HKAS 19 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
— Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions”

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities’

HKAS 36 Amendments ~ Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
— Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets'

HKAS 39 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement — Novation
of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge
Accounting'

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies'

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
2010-2012 Cycle in January 2014

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
2011-2013 Cycle in January 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016

No mandatory effective date yet determined but is
available for adoption
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Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. This phase focuses on the
classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four
categories, an entity shall classify financial assets
as subsequently measured at either amortised
cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of
HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions
to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the
“Additions”) and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current
derecognition principles of financial instruments of
HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried forward
unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made
to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair
value option (“FVO"). For these FVO liabilities,
the amount of change in the fair value of a liability
that is attributable to changes in credit risk must
be presented in OCI. The remainder of the change
in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless
presentation of the fair value change in respect of the
liability's credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which
have been designated under the FVO are scoped out
of the Additions.
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In December 2013, the HKICPA added to HKFRS 9
the requirements related to hedge accounting and
made some related changes to HKAS 39 and HKFRS
7 which include the corresponding disclosures
about risk management activity for applying hedge
accounting. The amendments to HKFRS 9 relax the
requirements for assessing hedge effectiveness
which result in more risk management strategies
being eligible for hedge accounting. The amendments
also allow greater flexibility on the hedged items
and relax the rules on using purchased options and
non-derivative financial instruments as hedging
instruments. In addition, the amendments to HKFRS 9
allow an entity to apply only the improved accounting
for own credit risk-related fair value gains and losses
arising on FVO liabilities as introduced in 2010
without applying the other HKFRS 9 requirements at
the same time.

The HKAS 36 Amendments remove the unintended
disclosure requirement made by HKFRS 13 on the
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit which is
not impaired. In addition, the amendments require the
disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets
or cash-generating units for which an impairment loss
has been recognised or reversed during the reporting
period, and expand the disclosure requirements
regarding the fair value measurement for these assets
or units if their recoverable amounts are based on fair
value less costs of disposal. The amendments are
effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application
permitted, provided HKFRS 13 is also applied. The
Group has early adopted the amendments in these
financial statements. The amendments have had no
impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance
in HKAS 39 on impairment of financial assets
continues to apply. The previous mandatory effective
date of HKFRS 9 was removed by the HKICPA in
December 2013 and a mandatory effective date will
be determined after the entire replacement of HKAS
39 is completed. However, the standard is available
for application now. The Group will quantify the effect
in conjunction with other phases, when the final
standard including all phases is issued.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 included a definition of
an investment entity and provide an exception to
the consolidation requirement for entities that meet
the definition of an investment entity. Investment
entities are required to account for subsidiaries at
fair value through profit or loss in accordance with
HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate them. Consequential
amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
(2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out
the disclosure requirements for investment entities.
The Group expects that these amendments will not
have any impact on the Group as the Company is not
an investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set off”
for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities.
The amendments also clarify the application of the
offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems
(such as central clearing house systems) which
apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not
simultaneous. The amendments are not expected
to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January
2014.
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The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new or revised standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations, certain
of which may be relevant to the Group’'s operations
and may give rise to changes in accounting policies,
changes in disclosures and remeasurement of certain
items in the financial statements. The Group is not
yet in a position to ascertain their impact on its
results of operations and financial position.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’'s statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition of subsidiaries and business under
common control, where applicable, has been
accounted for using merger accounting. The financial
statements of the businesses under common control
are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.

The merger method of accounting involves
incorporating the financial statement items of the
combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combinations occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling shareholder. The net assets of
the combining entities or businesses are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling
shareholder’s perspective. No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or the excess of the acquirers’
interest in the net fair value of acquirees’ identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of investment at the time of common control
combination.

ATEIR(E)

F=M— RBFAUBEERMHERF
B EAEAREZRES
RE R Z A ERM

DHR(BEHEBEBATEAEREAY
ERESHRENBEEEEAMRS

EBREOHREE

Yo 52 K (R 422 ) 2z PR T ) e 3R 75 (fisd
HER)ERAAHETIAEAK - KR
22 EH 2 R IZE A R AR
ZERPFERA - B2 ST BEREE

BHEHEL RIIAREKFZESE 6
ZEHBERIEH IV BERRER - B
MZEHREERSEHERBAXRBTAER
XREMERBRREHEAEES AR
2 aHERAXRBcEEFERAA
ZRERRAEZRAREERH - NE
TTHRES G G UERFHERHT L
BARBRKBRARIZAIBRIEE  AF
REHRABZRAPFEZEZBHERE
PRATEREM R -



Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under
common control or since their respective dates of
incorporation/establishment, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common control
combination. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation.

Business combinations, other than business
combinations under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability that is a financial instrument and within
the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value either recognised in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
If the contingent consideration is not within the scope
of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the
appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, construction contract assets,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

or
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Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write-off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

4% — 5%
10% — 20%
20% — 25%

Land and buildings

Plant and machinery

Leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 20% — 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and

equipment have different useful lives, the cost of

that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among

the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation

method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

least at each financial year end.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and
machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Technology know-how

Purchased technology know-how is stated at cost
less any impairment losses and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial investments. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case
of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position
at fair value with positive net changes in fair value
presented as other income and gains and negative
net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. These net
fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in
HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains
in profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in unlisted equity
investments. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair
value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised as
other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in other income and gains, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in other expenses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as other income and
gains in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and
intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets
in the near term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-
for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its new amortised
cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that loss event have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’'s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net
of any principal payment and amortisation) and its
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment below its cost. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period
in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income — is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed
through profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and the Convertible Bonds.
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Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Trade and other payables and bills payable

They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised costs is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Convertible Bonds

Convertible Bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holders, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for
as compound financial instruments which contain
both a liability component and an equity component.
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Financial liabilities (continued)
Convertible Bonds (continued)

Convertible Bonds issued by the Group that contain
both financial liability and equity components are
classified separately into respective liability and
equity components on initial recognition. On initial
recognition, the fair value of the Convertible Bonds
is determined using the binomial model that takes
into account factors specific to the Convertible
Bonds. Liability component is then determined using
the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-
convertible debts. The remainder is allocated to the
conversion option and is included in equity as equity
component of the Convertible Bonds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The equity component will remain in equity until
conversion or redemption of the bond.

When the bonds are converted, the equity component
of the Convertible Bonds and the carrying amount of
the liability component at the time of conversion are
transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued. If the bonds are
redeemed, the equity component of the Convertible
Bonds is released directly to retained profits.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities (continued)

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are
traded in active markets is determined by reference
to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations
(bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction
costs.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired
(treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted
from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration is recognised in equity.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

The non-current assets of the photovoltaic power
generation projects that are included in the scope of
consolidation and are held for sale are classified as
inventories and are measured in the same way as
other inventories, including the borrowing costs borne
until they are ready for use.

If a photovoltaic power generation project held for
sale has been in operation for over one year and has
no related third-party purchase commitment, purchase
option or similar agreements, the non-current assets
assigned thereto are transferred from “Inventories” to
“Property, Plant and Equipment” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar
in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(@) from the manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines: either (i) upon customers’
acceptance when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither management involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the products sold;
or (i) on the percentage of completion basis,
pursuant to which costs to complete a contract
are estimated and revenue is recognised based
on the estimated progress to completion, as
further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts” below, depending on
the structure and terms of arrangement;
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Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

Sales of goods (including the photovoltaic power
generation projects) are recognised when the
goods have been delivered and title thereto has
been transferred. Sales of photovoltaic power
generation projects whose non-current assets
are classified as inventories are recognised under
“Revenue” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the total price of the shares of the photovoltaic
power generation projects plus the amount of
the net borrowings relating to the facility (total
debt less current assets). At the same time,
the related inventories are derecognised with a
charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The
difference between the two amounts represents
the operating profit or loss obtained from the
sale. Each photovoltaic power generation project
adopts the legal structure of a private limited
liability company, the shares of which are fully
consolidated in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements;

from the rendering of services, when the
services are rendered;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established.

HEEm(BRAXREERR )R
EmCMEREGARD BT

2o HENRRRBIHAE - HES
GFEZIERDEESL N A ER

&,H\ﬂﬂiﬁ%z ERPHERBWA
ZEACEREERNBEETEAR
1ZTJRJJDLEF%§ QA=Y =Pk
(MREBRABEE) - AR §
EFERGERa EMEmiE

RIRILHER - 2B EZRE
EHEME 2L ERE - K3

EHRARABAUABREETRAZE
ERE  ARDEESEVBHRE

REELRETRE AR
KERERS - RIRHIRGE

MEWA - BB EEUERF =
RERLE R B RBERAZL R
AR E R T AR F s8I HifE
(ZBERIER) A Z RFIR S WAL
MR EZ S BB E 2 REFE
54

B BUA - BB
HET B o

P R M B AN 3R 2 B )



Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts from variation
orders, claims and incentive payments. Contract
costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs
of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the proportion of costs
incurred to date to the estimated total cost of the
relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an
amount due to contract customers.
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Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’'s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 29 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit expense.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-
vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.
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Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’'s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute to a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on the items whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and
used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets,
a capitalisation rate ranging between 5.6% and 6.6%
(2012: Nil) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,

are described below.

(i)

(ii)

Estimated fair value of acquired intangible
assets

Fair value of technology know-how is determined
based on the relief-from-royalty method. The
calculation requires the use of estimates about
the rate of royalty savings and the discount
rate. In the process of estimation, management
makes assumptions about future revenue and
costs.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. Further details are given in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful
lives of its property, plant and equipment and
their related depreciation charges. When useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are
different from those previously estimated, the
depreciation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets
reflect management’s estimation on the Group's
intention to derive future economic benefits
from the intangible assets. When useful lives
of intangible assets are different from those
previously estimated, the amortisation charges
for future periods will be adjusted accordingly.

Construction contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue and
profit recognition on contract work is dependent
on the estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total contract costs and/or revenue
may be higher or lower than those estimated
at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years.

Significant assumptions are required to estimate
the total contract costs that will affect whether
any provision is required for foreseeable
losses. The estimates are made based on
past experience and knowledge of project
management.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of the Group are reviewed by
management for possible impairment when
events or changes in an operating environment
indicate that the carrying amounts of such
assets may not be fully recoverable. In
determining the recoverable amounts of these
assets, expected cash flows to be generated by
the assets are discounted to their present value,
which involves significant level of estimates
relating to sales volume, selling prices and
manufacturing and other operating costs. When
a decline in an asset’'s recoverable amount has
occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to its
estimated recoverable amount. Further details
are given in notes 14 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment loss on trade receivables

The Group regularly conducts assessments on
possible losses resulting from the inability of
debtors to settle the amounts due to the Group.
The assessment is based, inter alia, on the age
of the debt and the creditworthiness of the
debtors. If the financial condition of the debtors
deteriorates, allowance for doubtful receivables
would be required.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(viii) Impairment loss and net realisable value of

(ix)

inventories

Inventories of the Group are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Management
conducts assessments on the net realisable
value of inventories by reference to their age,
obsolescence, estimated net selling prices
and other economic conditions of the markets
in which the Group’'s customers operate. If
the actual selling prices of inventories are
substantially less than those expected due to
an adverse market condition or other factors, an
impairment loss on inventories may result.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(x) Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected,
a reversal of the deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal takes place.

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the executive
directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components.
The business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors are
determined according to the Group's major product
and service lines.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments
as follows:

— manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines for the manufacture of
amorphous silicon based thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules (“Manufacturing”);

—  building solar farms or rooftop power stations
and the sale of the power stations once
connected to the electricity grid (“Build and
Sell”)

Prior to 2013, the Group had only one operating
segment: Manufacturing. In 2013, the Group started
the Build and Sell business.

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit or
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss
before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that interest income, finance costs as well
as head office and corporate expenses are excluded
from such measurement.
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Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss,
available-for-sale investment and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude Convertible Bonds,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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Year Ended 31 December 2013

Segment Revenue
Sales to external customers

Segment Results
Including:
Research and development costs

Reconciliation of segment results:

Segment results

Interest income

Finance cost

Unallocated other income and gains

Corporate and other unallocated
expense

Profit before tax

Segment Assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment receivables

Available-for-sale investment

Deferred tax assets

Equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Corporate and other unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment Liabilities

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment payables

Convertible Bonds

Deferred tax liabilities

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

Other Segment Information

Depreciation and amortisation

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated
depreciation and amortisation
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Total depreciation and amortisation WEREERS

Capital expenditure * §$5ﬂ§*

Reconciliation: B4 \

Corporate and other unallocated capital m%&ﬂﬁ*’ﬁ@ﬁié%"ﬁﬂi
expenditure

Total capital expenditure BEARLESE

* Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the

additions to property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets.

Manufacturin
5

Build and Sell
BEAHE

HK$'000 HKS'000
FEr FET
3,274,425 -
2,399,406 (14,824)
(194,273) (790)
17,440,069 3,291,853
1,035,733 2,899,969
123,343 -
775,903 -

*

Totgl

2t
HK$:009
FET
3,274,425
2,384,582
(195,063)
2,384,582
4,342
(56,093)
45,726
(50,258)
2,328,299
20,731,922
(2,298,666)
85,800
23,420

11,698
66,565

18,620,739
3,935,702
(2,298,666)
845,584
324,501
41,391

2,848,512
123,343

1,769
125,112
775,903

4,183
780,086
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Year Ended 31 December 2012

Segment Revenue
Sales to external customers

Segment Results
Including:
Research and development costs

Reconciliation of segment results:
Segment Results

Interest income

Finance cost

Unallocated other income and gains
Corporate and other unallocated expense

Profit before tax

Segment Assets

Reconciliation:

Available-for-sale investment

Deferred tax assets

Equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
Corporate and other unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment Liabilities

Reconciliation:

Convertible Bonds

Deferred tax liabilities

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other Segment Information

Depreciation and amortisation

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated depreciation and
amortisation

BE2_T-——F+-RA=1+—-HIFE

pig LN
FASNREPEE

PREE
B
B

PEREHE -
DRRE

HEMA

MBER
AOREMBA R
PRERHMRDEER

Bb

PREE

HREERE

BEXRBEE
BATEFIGNEG RRRE
PERAMADEEE

BELR

FREE

AHRES
BEREAR
PEREMADEAE

RiRRE
Hitd FEH

FEREH
DRREMRDENELER

Total depreciation and amortisation nER#HEBE

Capital expenditure * BARSZ *

Reconciliation: Hik

Corporate and other unallocated capital expenditure ¥R H A HEEARREX

Total capital expenditure BART B

* Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the *

additions to property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets.

Total
At
HK$'000
FHET

Manufacturing
HK$000
FAET

2,756,463 2,756,463

1,753,845 1,753,845

(134,631) (134,631)

1,753,845

1,650

(60,184)

17

(29,324)

1,666,158

13,618,686 13,618,686
85,800
44,286
4,480
7,918
13,761,170
1,005,015 1,005,015
789,559
250,875
3,621

2,049,070

93,153 93,153

968

94,121

278,366 278,366
2,906
281,271
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=%+—-HA=+—8H)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &B&E

(continued) (&)
Geographical information i & & %
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) FKEINIFKEEZKA
Group
rEE
2013 2012
TE-CF ik
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Mainland China A B A i, 3,243,704 2,756,463
Sweden il 30,721 —
3,274,425 2,756,463
(b) Non-current assets (b) FHEFEELE
2013 2012
—E—=F —F—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Hong Kong BB 6,486 3,968
Mainland China A B i, 1,387,569 683,347
Sweden Imea 4,858 —
1,398,913 687,315

The non-current asset information above is

based on the locations of the assets and

excludes goodwill, available-for-sale investment

and deferred tax assets.
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Information about a major customer

Revenue of HK$3,274,425,000 (2012: HK$2,756,463,000)
was derived from sales by the Manufacturing Segment
to Hanergy Affiliates.

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover,
represents an appropriate proportion of contract
revenue of construction contracts during the year
as well as the income arising from the provision of
research and development services and the right

EREEEF &N

WA 3,274,425,000 8L ( —F— —4F :
2,756,463,000,8 7T ) Jh 2K B & iE D FE ()
EREHE B A RIEITING o

WA TMEEAKEZERE  HEFAR
RAaRZARBABERD - ARFA
R T R B 3RS M2 — B L
RELZENEM 2 ERNEEZK
A e

to use patent technology generated by a subsidiary

during the year.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Government grants

Reversal of other payables

Foreign exchange differences, net

Fair value gain on an equity
investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Bank interest income

Gain on disposal of an equity
investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Gain on sales of spare parts

Others

HtW ARz T

Group
TEE
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET
IR e B 39,153 2,581
H fth E T FRIE R ) 40,319 —
EHER  HH 34,968 303
BAFEVERER S
R E 2 A ERE
4,766 —
RITHBUA 4,342 1,650
HEZRAFEINERIBERZ
BRI E 2 W
2,508 —
SHETEM 2 Was 1,610 144
Hfth 3,658 239

131,324 4,917



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 =ZE—=F+=-F=+—H)
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BRI -

2013 2012
L T —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Imputed interest expenses on the AR ES 2 HEF B RX
Convertible Bonds (note 26) (H1:226) 56,025 60,184
Interest on other borrowings from a  FEfEEE RN B HEME R A&
related company (note 25) (Bt 25) 68 =
Interest on other borrowings from ENEEEE = EMER
unrelated third parties (note 19) FE(HZE19) 25 =
Total interest expenses N 56,118 60,184
Less: Capitalised interest (note 19) )& - BZAMEF B (H15E19) 25 —
56,093 60,184
—T—=%%F3% ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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The Group's profit
charging/(crediting):

Crediting:

Bank interest income (note 6)

Fair value gain on an equity
investment at fair value through
profit or loss (note 6)

Foreign exchange differences, net
(note 6)

Charging:

Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit service

— Others

Total amortisation of intangible
assets (note 17)
Less: Capitalised to inventories

Amortisation of intangible assets
recognised in profit or loss

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit expenses:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in
kind
Performance related and incentive
payments
Contributions to retirement benefit
schemes

Sub-total

Research and development costs

Fair value loss on an equity
investment at fair value through
profit or loss*

Impairment of items of property,
plant and equipment*

Impairment of a deposit*

Impairment of trade receivables*

Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value (note 19)

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases:

before tax is arrived at after

AEEZBANENEHBR(GtA) T3

HAE -

BA

RITRIBIMA (H226)

2 A3 R0 3 2 R
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B2 NFEREE*

WE - BB RREEBRE*

ReRE*

B PRI E *
FEMRE A 237 FE
(Ba£19)

mg?% E N EEEE 2

REMEZREHES

52 IR

Land and buildings T RABF
Equipment i)
* These items are included in ‘other expenses’ on the *

face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the Group.

2012

—E——fF

HK$'000

FHET

4,342 1,650

4,766 —

34,968 303

4,984 2,950

450 474

94,567 66,099

— 483

94,567 65,616

30,545 28,022

202,940 61,106

8,618 22,037

6,209 3,798

217,767 86,941

195,063 134,631

— 840

— 8,091

— 7,514

39 —

277 1,736

152 79

37,907 33,039

20,682 16,473
ZEBEHFALEE ZREBE A

fEmKER T EMERIA -



The Company is incorporated in the Bermuda and
conduct its primary business through its subsidiaries
in the PRC and Sweden. It also has an intermediate
holding company in Hong Kong. Under the current
laws of the Bermuda, the Company incorporated
in the Bermuda is not subject to tax on income or
capital gains. Hong Kong Profits Tax rate was 16.5%
during the years reported. The Company’'s Hong Kong
subsidiary has both Hong Kong-sourced and non-
Hong Kong-sourced income. The latter is not subject
to Hong Kong Profits Tax and the related expenses
are non-tax-deductible. For the Hong Kong-sourced
income, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
was made as such operations did not generate any
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong during the
year. Furthermore, there are no withholding taxes in
Hong Kong on the remittance of dividends.

Effective from 1 January 2008, the PRC's statutory
corporate income tax (“CIT") rate is 25%. Certain of
the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC were designated
as “High Technology Enterprise” and were applicable
for a preferential Corporate Income Tax rate of
15%. The Company's other PRC subsidiaries are
subject to income tax at 25% on their respective
taxable incomes as calculated in accordance with
the CIT Law and its relevant regulations (“the actual
method"”) except for Apollo Precision (Kunming)
Yuanhong Limited (“Apollo Kunming”). In 2013, the
Company received written confirmation from the
local tax bureau that Apollo Kunming was taxed on a
deemed profit method based on the deemed profits
at the 25% statutory tax rate. Practicably in 2013,
the CIT was collected approximately at deemed
profits determined at 10% of the sales. No deferred
tax assets were then provided for Apollo Kunming
in view of the deemed profit method imposed. The
Company’s subsidiary in Sweden is subject to income
tax at 22%.
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Under the prevailing CIT Law and its relevant
regulations, any dividends paid by the Company's
PRC subsidiaries from their earnings derived after 1
January 2008 to the Company’s Hong Kong subsidiary
are subject to a 5% to 10%, depending on the
applicability of the Sino-Hong Kong tax treaty, PRC
dividend withholding tax. For the Group, the historical
applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Group

Current tax: BNEATRIA -

— The PRC —
Income tax expense for the year AEFEEEHET L
Overprovision in respect of prior BAFEBEEE

years

Deferred tax charge — The PRC

Total tax charge for the year

BEERIE L — F

REEHEZ L ARRR

RIERITEEMEPUARERBESR
RZZBZNF—A—HRE&  XRFRZP
BB A FRMARE 2 EENEBRF
PR 2 EMBEBANGTEZRER
5% £ 10% * & F B H K E + B
EEMBRERBER - HMAKEMS -
BEBRABRES5% - Bitt - NEEZA
HE-_ZEZENF-A-—HELZARNA
ZERPBERZZ KB AR DK BE
B TEH -

H A 3th )5 &R A 2 BB Ty iR A R
REMEREHRETZIREE -

KEE
2012
—E——%F
HK$'000
FET
178,225 275,235
(8,471) (6,006)
169,754 269,229
89,535 80,747
259,289 349,976



BARRE RERIBS KB R R FEMATE
AAER 2 A EM X EE AR A&
M2BGEST HEERERHEERAE 2B

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions
in which the Company and the majority of its

subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the Y HEEMT :
effective tax rates is as follows:
2012
—E—_F
HK$'000
FET
Profit before tax 758 A48 A 2,328,299 1,666,158
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMEFTE 2 TRIE 601,111 429,651
Effect of different tax rates for BEBERNEMEEER

specific entities or enacted by ZTRAME &

local authorities (98,843) (138,782)
Adjustments in respect of current B AR RN ARF IR 2 FHE

tax of previous periods (8,471) (6,006)
Effect of the deemed profit method  HBAERFF EZ £ (329,216) —
Income not subject to tax BAZRBA (7,241) (85)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 2,275 8,236
Effect of tax reduction inside the PR ER 2 &

PRC (14,605) =
Tax losses not recognised RERZRIBEE 22,178 65
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on 5% TR 1B 1 AN 62 [ op B B /B8

the distributable profits of the N R ) 2 52

Group's PRC subsidiaries 92,764 56,892
Others EHAh (663) 5
Tax charge at the Group's effective  RANEEETERHEHE 2

rate HF= 259,289 349,976



The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
the parent for the year ended 31 December 2013 of
HK$2,069,010,000 (2012: HK$1,316,182,000) includes
a loss of HK$59,285,000 (2012: HK$89,451,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company (note 30(b)).

Proposed final — HK1.5 cents
(2012: nil) per ordinary share

On 24 March 2014, the board of directors of the
Company proposed the payment of a final dividend
out of the contributed surplus through transfer
from share premium of the Company of HK$0.015
per ordinary share, totalling HK$429,130,000 in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2013. The
proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2013 is calculated based on the total
number of shares in issue as at the date of this
report. The proposed final dividend is subject to
the approval by the Company's shareholders at the
upcoming annual general meeting. The proposed
dividend has not been reflected as a dividend payable
in these financial statements, but will be reflected
as an appropriation of contributed surplus for the
year ended 31 December 2013 upon approval by the
Company’s shareholders.

HE_ZL£2—=F+-_A=+—H81
FEEBRRAHEEB AEILELESE BT
2,069,010,000% (= & — = % :
1,316,182,000 % 7T) BIEE R AR ABF
& N R E 2§18 59,285,000% 7T
— T — — 4 :89,451,0005 7T ) (Hf 5
30(b)) °

2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET

EHARHRE — ZRREEE1.5
BIN(ZE——F : &) 429,130 —

429,130 =

R-E—mWE=A-+MA  AATE
ZeERERERAARRRZRMNEE
RESAHBPREHEZE T —=F+=
A=+ HBLEFEZREREFRLE
§%0.0157% 7T & % /429,130,000
T(ZE—ZF &) HEZT—=F
TZA=t-HLEFEZESZRBERE
THRIEANRE B 2 B #1715 B BT
B BRARBAFARARENE
[ERRRBAERKE LHEER - FAIEE -
EHRAEREYEREENBREPR
BRAREMRE - HERAR R E
BRMABE-_ZT—=%+-"A=1+—
BIEFEZEHBHROE



The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 22,168,542,000 (2012:
13,431,022,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the parent, adjusted to reflect the interest
on the Convertible Bonds, where applicable (see
below). The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per
share are based on:

Earnings B

Profit attributable to owners of the
parent, used in basic earnings per
share calculation:

Imputed interest expenses on the
Convertible Bonds (note 7) (Hiaz7)

Profit for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share calculation

BREREBINZ CBIHREGARES
AEBEFERMARFRNEEHTERBR
2 INAEF 19 8022,168,542,000 (= =F
— % :13,431,022,000 ) EEFHE -

BREERNZERDBREGARHEAR
A FEAR 4 088 ) A B A% 5 BE LA Je Bk 7 2
BEFZMNEFESH(WMER - & T
30 - BFETE 2 T B AEFH S H
R EBREABN c FRAEETER
BREB - MEREREIETELLAAE
EHEEARAEBERMBERTZE
B2 IHEFI9 8L o

ERERNRBERF HRETHIEE &
=

2012

—E——F

HK$'000

FET

REETESREREF 2 A7
BB ARAERT

2,069,010 1,316,182

AHBREES Z EEMEFX

56,025 60,184

RIEtEBREERN 28

2,125,035 1,376,366



Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year
used in the basic earnings per
share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
Assumed issue at no consideration
on deemed exercise of all share
options outstanding during the
year

Deemed conversion of all
Convertible Bonds

Deemed exercise by Hanergy
Holding of all outstanding
subscription rights

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year
used in diluted earnings per share
calculation

& 3
REFEERERBNZFA
BT E BN 2

BERE — LAk
FHE
FARARRBIEITEAERTT

150 s AR T S (B 3R 1T

BAERB L BRI R B 75
BAEEBEIERITEM A RTT
EREE

REHEEREERM ZFA
B 31T H B IE 52

Number of shares

BB
2012
—E—F
‘000
Fhz
22,168,542 13,431,022
1,163,070 413,586
3,403,749 2,576,090
14,248,792 —
40,984,153 16,420,698



Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

RIFBRFEZS EMARRN(T ETRR )
REBEBERNRUEPIFE 161 IGHE 2 RFE
EXZRTBITHRABFHMAT -

Group
REH
2012
—E——F
HK$000
FET
Fees e 1,468 1,276
Other emoluments: Hiie -
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ERMEEYHE
in kind 11,650 10,492
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 835 —
Contributions to retirement benefit  RIKEFIEH 2R
schemes 46 14
12,531 10,506
13,999 11,782

The directors and chief executive represent the senior
management of the Company.

In prior years, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 29(b) to
the financial statements.

EEZRIZTRABRARASHREE

o
=

RBEFE  ETESIRSHAKHE
ZBRBREANRBRETEEEE
Pt E—FFBHNMBEHRERME
29(b) °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=F+—-H=+—H)

13. DIRECTORS’” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EBERFETHRAEBTFHRS

REMUNERATION AND SENIOR TEBAEME 2
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Executive directors and independent non- (a) FITESRBIYFHTES

executive directors

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement

and benefits  Discretionary benefit

Fees in kind bonuses schemes

¥4 2R
e ENils HiERa
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000
&1 &1 FE7

2013 ~5-=
Executive directors; HiTEs.
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai £ 364 3,261 125 14 3,764
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. et 189 4,225 - 15 4,429
Mr. Li Guangmin ?J’%EH 189 542 210 5 946
Dr. Li Yuanmin FrREt 189 2,539 500 7 3,235
Mr. Chen Li Yyt 189 1,083 - 5 1217
1120 11,650 835 46 13,651
Independent non-executive directors:  BIFHTEE :
Ms. Zhao Lan il ke 116 - - - 116
Mr. Wong Wing Ho BXERE 116 - - - 116
Mr. Wang Tongho TEBEE 116 - - - 116
348 - - - 348
Total emoluments for the year 2013~ —E-=E@{41% 1,468 11,650 835 46 13,999
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirsment
and benefits ~ Discretionary benefit
Fees in kind bonuses schemes Total
¢ 24R BINET :HriJ

g ENAG BT {3 At
HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSOD  HKSO00  HKS000
T AT FET FET AT

2012 —§-cF
Executive directors: ﬁl §$
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfan DaitE 364 2,150 — - 2514
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. ARt 156 4,225 - 14 4,39
Mr. Li Guangmin TEREA 156 542 - = 698
Or. Li Yuanmin ERREL 156 249 - - 2,648
Mr. Chen Li BhxE 156 1,083 — — 1,239
98 10,492 - 14 11,49
Independent non-executive directors:  BIFHTES :
Ms. Zhao Lan il b % - - - %
Mr. Wong Wing Ho ENELE 9% - - - 9%
Mr. Wang Tongbo IRGEE 9% - - - 9%
288 — — — 288
Total emoluments for the year 2012 —“E-—EM44E 1276 10,492 = 14 11782
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(a)

(b)

Executive directors and independent non-
executive directors (continued)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any
director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2013 and
2012.

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2013 and 2012.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
three (2012: three) directors and chief executive
whose emoluments are included in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments payable to
the remaining two (2012: two) individuals during
the year are as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments

e kEMME

(a)

(b)

BITESRBYFITES(HE)

HE-ZT—=FR-ZF——-F+=
A=+—RHLEFE AEEHE
MERNESIMNME - URSIEFEE
MARE B R INAREB ERR
B - SkYEABERRAE(E -

HEZZ—=FKR-_FT——F+=
A=+ HALFEYEFELES

i

MEL R BRERBEAME 2%
BE o

TEBREHMAL

RAFEE AEERAESEEHHA
TEE=R(ZE—Z=F: =8)
EERETEITHRAER  HBeEH
REXDH - FRNENBTRA
ZE—ZF - mB)ALTZB&m
™

Group
AEH
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET

5,099 4,821



(b)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any top
five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

The number of non-director and non-chief-
executive, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is

as follows:

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 BT E
2,500,000 % 7T

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 BLE

3,000,000% 7T

(b)

TEREHFMALE)

BE_ T =GR -_ZT——F+—
A=+—RILFE  AEEHRER
FRARAGERTHATZHIE
VARR 51 1% 25 AR SR B SR AR
SEERRB - KIEABERFE -

MENFATHRE 2 FESRIEE

Z1TBAE - &= HHES AW
™

Number of employees

EEAE
2012
—E——F
1 1
1 1



Group

31 December 2013
At 1 January 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2013 net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment
Additions
Disposals
Transfer
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Depreciation provided during the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2013, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

At 31 December 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net carrying amount

31 December 2012
At 1 January 2012:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2012, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment
Additions
Disposals
Transfer
Impairment during the year
Depreciation provided during

the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2012, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

At 31 December 2012:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net carrying amount

e
R=2-=5-f-R:
B
ZHERAE

ERAE

L
WENBAR
ERTERE
B

RZZ-=F+f
-8 REHTERAE

R-E-=F+-fA=t-H:
BA
ZINERAE
BAE

ZE-“EtZRSt-H

RZF-—F-f-A:
ik
HTERAE
FEFE

R=E-ZE-H-R"

TRZRERRE

FE

il

g%

EREfE

ERTERE

EfE

RZF-ZF+ZA
- AREFERAE

RZE-ZF+-f=+-R:
B
ZEMERAE
BAE

Land and
buildings

HHRET
HKS'000
TET

12,545
(12,545)

12,545
(12,545)

12,545
(12,545)

Construction
in progress

fRIR
HK$'000
TAT

36,742
(20,591)

15,151

15,151
84,361

92,980)
1,740
8,212

28,863
(20,591)

8,212

38,693
(20,591)

18,102

36,742
(20,591)

15,151

&M

Plant and
machinery

RERER
HK$:000
TiET

146,513
67,634)

78879

78,879
362

80,797

(12,042)
3,587

151,573
231,249

(79,676)

151,573

124,145
(48,668)

10477

15471

(180)
22,547

(18,966)
1
78879
146,513

67,634)

78,879

Leasehold
improvements
furniture,
fixtures

and
equipment
HEME
&6 fil
RERRE
HK$'000
AT

44,767
(10,946)

33,821

33,821
6,955
(152)
12,183
8,688
(16,581)
1,014

45,928
73,455

(27,527)

45,928

14,268
(3,838)

10,430
10,430
5119

209)
25,524

(7,108)
65

33,821
44,767

(10,946)

33,821

Motor
vehicles

AE
HK$'000
TAT

9,724
(3.727)

5,997

9,013
(1,779

7,234
7,234
743
(20)

(1,948)
(12)

5997
9,724

(3.727)

5,997

Total

st
HK§'000
i

249,291
(115,443)

133,848

133,848
91,668
(152)
8,688

(30,545)
6,434

209,941
365,929

(145,988)

209,941

198,664
(79,300)

119,364
119,364

50997
(409)

(8,091)

(28,022)
9

133,848

249,291

(115,443)

133,848
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=%+—-HA=+—8H)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

i
B

(continued)

14. Y% - BERERE#)

Company RAT
Leasehold improvements
HEMELE
2013 2012
TE-—F i
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
At 1 January n—H—H
Cost [B#N 2,905 —
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (968) —
Net carrying amount IREDFE 1,937 —
At 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—H HMBRIEFHE
depreciation 1,937 =
Additions NE 4,112 2,905
Depreciation provided during FRITERE
the year (1,056) (968)
At 31 December, net of accumulated WR+Z—A=+—H ' {1k K5
depreciation e 4,993 1,937
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H”
Cost BN 7,017 2,905
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (2,024) (968)
Net carrying amount IREDFE 4,993 1,937

gEAGEESBE AR AR HANERGY SOLAR GROUP LIMITED



Unlisted shares, at cost

FELETRD - BARANE

The amounts due from and due to subsidiaries

included in the Company’s current assets and current
liabilities of HK$2,046,881,000 as of 31 December
2013 (2012: HK$175,146,000) and HK$158,911,000
as of 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$106,434,000),
respectively. The amounts due from and due

to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2013 are as follows:

Name

L

Hanergy Hi-Tech Power International
Limited (formerly known as Apollo

Precision Ltd.)*

Ee s RER RN ARL R (A

A Apollo Precision Ltd.) *

Hanergy Hi-Tech Power (HK) Limited

(formerly known as Apollo
Precision (HK) Limited)

R RPRER(BE ) RNERAA
(RASRRIRERRAR)

Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd. (a

wholly-owned foreign enterprise)

BRAGRIREARAT
(2ENELE)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

B AE- )
R

British Virgin Islands
("BVI")

ABRRES
([ZBRx#s])

Hong Kong
i

The PRC/
Mainland China
hE/RERY

Nominal value of issued/
registered share capital

B/ ERRAEE

Ordinary US$1,000
EER1000ET

Ordinary US$1,000,000
L% 1,000,000%7T

Registered US$3,800,000
i 743,800,000% T

Company

¥ NN
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET
8,435,521 8,396,521
R K BB A RFES B EAA

AR E—=F+_A=+—HB2ZR®
& E2,046,881,000/ 8 0( = — = :
175,146,000 8 L) R ZE—=F+=
A=+—BZm& &af5158911,000%
TT(ZZF— =4 : 106,434,000/ L) °
R R EMHB AR ZRIBAEER -
RERNERFFER

R-B—=F+_A=+—HZXEW
BABFBET :

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company
KAAEGERAA
2012
5%

Principal activities

IBXR

100% 100%  Investment holding

ARR

100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading of equipment and
turnkey production lines

REBRREERBREE
EER

100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
and turnkey production
lines

HERRREELER



Name

&R

Apollo Precision (Beijing) Ltd.
(@ wholly-owned foreign enterprise)
tRRAEE B R EERAR
(RENERE)

Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuanhong
Limited
ERAGELERREERAR

Apollo Precision (Kunming) Rijun
Limited (a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise)

ERGRERRRBERAR
(ZBINERE)

Sun Reliant International Limited*
Hanergy Global Solar Power Group
Limited*
ERBBR A REEEAERAR
HGSG-NA Land Power 1, LLC

Fuhai Hanergy Solar Power Limited

RERELNEBARAT

Qinghai Hanergy Thin-film Solar
Power Limited

EEENERARRARARLA

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business
EMAL/ Rk
EHu

The PRC/
Mainland China
wE/RER

The PRC/
Mainland China
mE/REN

The PRC/
Mainland China

GV T

BV
ABRLES

BVI
ABELES

The United States
e

The PRC/
Mainland China
wE/ER

The PRC/
Mainland China
mE/REN

Nominal value of issued/
registered share capital

BE&fT/ERBAEE

Registered RMB5,000,000
HMERARS 5,000,000

Registered RMB1,500,000
&R AR 1,500,000

Registered US$75,100
i Ex75,100% T

Ordinary US$1
il S

Ordinary US$5,000,000
8% 5,000,000 %

Registered US$50,000
&4 50,000% T

Registered
RMB52,200,000

Gl
AR¥52,200,0007C

Registered
RMB250,000,000
AR
AR 250,000,000

Percentage of equity

attributable to the
Company
KAREEERBAN
2012
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% -
100% —
100% —

Principal activities

IBXR

Manufacturing of equipment
and turnkey production
lines

HEREREELER

Manufacturing of equipment
and turnkey production
lines

REXBREELER

Manufacturing of equipment
and turnkey production
lines

REXRREELER

Investment holding
REZR

Investment holding

RARR

Investment holding

AR

Construction of PV power
generation projects

BRENETER

Construction of PV power
generation projects

BRANEEER



Place of

incorporation/

registration and

business Nominal value of issued/
Name HMRL/BER  registered share capital
£ EHu B/ AMRAEE
Xinjiang Hanergy Thin-film Solar The PRC/ Registered RMB2,000,000

Power Investment Limited Mainland China ~ FEfFEAR AR 2,000,00070

R ERAR A REARAA hE/hERY
MLH Phase 3, LLC The United States  Registered US$1,000

*8 &R 1,000%7T
Columbia Solar Energy, LLC The United States  Registered US$13,476,000

3] i &7513,476,000% T
Solibro Research AB Sweden Registered SEK6,031,000

it #Hfi & 76,031,000 57 45 58

* Direct subsidiaries of the Company

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Percentage of equity

attributable to the
Company Principal activities
RRAEGEEASL  TERE
2012
100% — Investment holding
RERR
100% — Construction of PV power
generation projects
BRANREBEE
100% — Construction of PV power
generation projects
BRANERER
100% — Provision of research and

development service

REAALFALRE
* ARARZERMBRA

FRINHESZTA/IZREARFERS
B AEEERNEEFRLD 2B
RE-BFERR REEMHEBARZ
HEETRBARILE



The goodwill arose from the acquisition of the R-CETNFWEREEEELAZHE
Manufacturing Business in 2009 and its net carrying ENEREFESTOT ¢
amount is analysed as follows:
Group
rEE
2012
—E—_F
HK$'000
FET
Net carrying amount at R—A—BR+ZA=+—Hz
1 January and 31 December BRMENFE 7,915,318 7,915,318

The goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit
of the Manufacturing Business and its recoverable
amount was determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed
by a firm of independent professional valuers, based
on value-in-use calculations covering a detailed 7-year
budget plan followed by an extrapolation of expected
cash flows. The 7-year budget plan is based on
contracted cash flows according to the production
plan and capacity of the Group in the next 7 years.
The growth rate reflects the expected long-term
average growth rate for the product lines of the cash-
generating unit and the pre-tax discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 29% (2012: 28%).

The key assumptions also include stable profit
margins, which have been determined based on
past performance, and management’s expectations
for market share, evidenced by the sales contracts
entered into during these years and after taking into
consideration published market forecast and research.
The growth rate used is consistent with the forecast
included in industry reports. The discount rate used
is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
Manufacturing Business segment.

Impairment testing has taken into account the sales
contracts entered into before the end of the reporting
period, together with the management’s assumptions
on the growth and rate of return. No impairment
of goodwill was associated with the Manufacturing
Business based on this value-in-use calculation.

Apart from the considerations described in
determining the value-in-use of the Manufacturing
Business above, the Group’s management is not
currently aware of any other probable changes that
would necessitate changes in its key estimates.
However, the estimate of the recoverable amount of
the Manufacturing Business is particularly sensitive to
the discount rate applied.

HESREREER  HEEESN
ﬁﬁﬁlTHﬁZ@ﬁ%ﬁiﬂEﬁzﬁﬁjiiﬁ%ﬁ
VEEGEMTETZGEE BRBRE
T EHREREFECEREBEFE R A
FEEEHIReREET - tETEES
%HE*ETEQH%@&/M*IEE ﬁﬁAﬂiﬁﬁ
MIBBAEBRREF2EETE R
EfRGH NHRERMBESELSENE
mAFN 2 BARAFHEREURER
RIBeREEF ZBATEREZ29%
ZE—ZF 1 28%)°

FTERRNBEBE2EBRFE &Y
BEBARANEEEBRH 2 MSNHE
(AFEANFYZHEHEARFER)ILEEE
BEAMMISGEANMATETE - FIERHAZ
WRRETERERN 2FEA—B - T
%ZEEEET/’%%RHIJ A i R B 2B 4 RS
DEERZIETER °

W@ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁiﬁﬂﬂiﬁfﬂizﬁﬁ
a EEEAMERRERRLRK
& ° 7FETFJIH§J%F§TE Bk - WERS
?Wfﬁﬂiﬁiia_%fxfﬁiﬁi Bluf

oy

H\

9
R

B ENEEESUER S 2 AEER A
ZERSN - NEEERE B AT A
Tﬂﬂﬁ@Tﬁ%ﬁ@JﬁﬁEE&éﬁEI%ﬁ
Ao R - BUERS 2 (Bt Al B £ 58
HATRAZ R R L H U -



Group

31 December 2013

Cost at 1 January 2013, net

of accumulated amortisation

and impairment
Additions
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Amortisation provided during
the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2013

At 31 December 2013:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

and impairment

Net carrying amount

31 December 2012

Cost at 1 January 2012, net

of accumulated amortisation

and impairment

Additions

Amortisation provided during
the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2012

At 31 December 2012:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

and impairment

Net carrying amount

—ZEg—=

t=A=t—H

R-E—=F—H—H
BARAE - IR 25t

B3 MOR(E
NE

Ui B Pl 8 22 A
FREHBEB

bEE 54, 582

R-ZE—=%F+-H4
=+—8

R=Z—=%+=7
=+-A:

%

REHM RN E

FREDFE

—E-C—F
+t=HA=+—H

RZE——F—H—H
WA - I 2 E

B3 MR E
NE

FAEHERE
DEE 30 A

R-ZE——F+=A4
=+—H

R-ZZE—=—F+=A
=<3

DN

RET#E MORE

FREDFE

&M

Technology
know-how
95 H B
HK$'000
FET

Customers’
contracts
EEER
HK$'000
FET

551,091 -
688,418 -
21,858 —
(94,567) —
21,679 —

1,188,479 —
1,463,524 374,613
(275,045) (374,613)

1,188,479 —

370,689 =
245,818 —

(66,099) —
683 =

551,091 =
727,427 374,613
(176,336) (374,613)

551,091 =

Total
£t
HK$'000
FET

551,091

688,418
21,858

(94,567)
21,679

1,188,479

1,838,137
(649,658)

1,188,479

370,689
245,818

(66,099)
683

551,091

1,102,040

(550,949)

551,091



Group

rEH
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
TET
Unlisted equity investment, at cost ELEMERNE - LKA 85,800 85,800

In 2012, the Company acquired a 36.16% equity
interest in Jun Yang Solar Power Investment Holdings
Limited (“Jun Yang"), incorporated in Cayman Islands,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Gogreen Assets
Investment Limited (“China Gogreen”), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, at a consideration of HK$85.8 million.
The Group's interest in Jun Yang was subsequently
diluted from 36.16% to 32.20% in 2012 because a
director of Jun Yang has exercised his share options
of Jun Yang.

In the opinion of the directors, the Group’s equity
interests in Jun Yang was accounted for as an
available-for-sale investment instead of an investment
in associate, given that (a) the Group is not entitled
to appoint any director to the board of Jun Yang and
(b) pursuant to the memorandum of association and
articles of associations of Jun Yang, any resolution
put to vote at the board meeting shall be decided
by simple majority which made the Group not in a
position to exercise significant influence over Jun
Yang.

In addition, the directors consider that the fair value
of the Group’s equity investment in Jun Yang cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the investment does
not have quoted market prices in an active market;
(b) the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for the investment; and (c) the probabilities
of the various estimates cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value. As such,
the Group’s equity investment is stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

RZZE—ZF KXRARKIEE
85,800,000 B LW iE E 5 K588 1%
EBHRARER]) 236.16% & # -
ElRASESEMKY - A HRE
BERBEBRAG([HBRERE] 22E
WEBAR - MPBREASRE B
FREMZAT - BER AREBEB—F
EETHFEESRBERE  WAKERE
RN T — _—FH36.16% #E
%£32.20% °

EERR AKEREGZRAENAA
HEREMILIFENBE QR ZLEA
R REARQASEERZTTMNES
MAZGZESE RO REERZHE
BERAMEAR TAREZSER
ERERFRRZABR  ANBFH
BB REAKEEIHEBITEEX
TE -

o EZRB/AKERER 2 ERKR
B2 RVPEEELAEGTE RER()
AR BE W EERM IS 2 MEHRE : (b)
EEAVEMAARENZEREMNEE
K Rlc) BEMETZAIEMEELSGIE
FHE R ARGE AFE - Bt - AKE
RE G 2 1R B Ty IR AN R E AR
BERIIK -



Group

rEH

2012

—E——F

HK$'000

TET

Raw materials JR# 407,188 386,847

Work-in-progress paaeCA - 2,785

Finished goods 2URK Gh - 1,208

Photovoltaic modules JERAR 131,384 —

Photovoltaic power generation 18T & IRFEEIRE

projects to be sold 1,089,536 —

1,628,108 390,840
The provision for impairment of inventory amounted BHE-Z—=F+-A=+—HLHF
to HK$277,000 for the year ended 31 December 2013 B HFEREREER277,000% (=
(2012: HK$1,736,000). Interest expense of HK$25,000 T — 4 :1,736,000/7T) c BEZ
arising from the other borrowings from unrelated T—=—F+_A=+—HItFE £
third parties was capitalised in photovoltaic power BMEF - A ZHEMEEEEZHERH
generation facilities at annual rate ranging from 5.6% ¥ 25,000 TR R EFEREZEN T
to 6.6% for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: 56%E6.6% 2 FHEERXI(ZE

Nil) (note 7). ——F  E)([FFET7) -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=%+—-HA=+—8H)

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZ R EHMEWRIE
Group
rEE

2013 2012

TE-CF ik

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FETT

Trade receivables B 5 WA - 39

Gross amount due from contract ~ [ERA R TI2FFFHIA

customers o (i) 1,858,557 2,981,937
Account receivables due from FENL R E A T ERFK
related parties (i1) 2,303,734 782,321
Other receivables: Hfth U FRIE
— Due from the ultimate — BRI AF]
holding company 458 —
— Due from a related company — B —FEEENT] 190 —
— Due from third parties — BRE=F 58,168 24,131
58,816 24,131

4,221,107 3,788,428

SaeskEARAR HANERGY SOLAR GROUP LIMITED
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Notes:

(i)

(if)

Gross amount due from customers for contract
work

At 1 January n—AR—H
Contract costs incurred plus recognised

profits less recognised losses

Progress billings HEEIRERIE
Exchange realignment FE o 28
At 31 December n+=—A=+—8H

The Group's gross amount due from customers for
contract work was related to contracts with the
Hanergy Affiliates.

Account receivables from customers

Account receivables from customers are mainly
related to contracts with the Hanergy Affiliates,
settled in accordance with the terms of the respective
contracts. The credit period is provided and varied for
the different payment milestones in the respective
contracts, the credit period ranges from 0 days to
10 days during the year. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
account receivables balances. Based on the invoice
date, the ageing analysis of the Group's net trade
receivables is as follows:

3EAN
6EAZE1F

Within 3 months
6 months to 1 year

MaE -

(i)

BEELARKAINE#ER
HR B R R 1R

(ii)

ERERTREEF FAMHE

2012
—E——%F
HK$°000
FET
2,981,937 2,810,658

i
3,631,308 3,231,008
(4,658,702) (3,062,394)
(95,986) 2,665
1,858,557 2,981,937

AEERKRARTIEREF AR EER
BBARZERER -

e & F AR

REFPHRRETZEZEBBAAZ
ERAR REBEARZIGRE
- EEHTEEEE RS RN K
BREmMERREMTR  FRZE
EHNFOREI0H - AEBMI K5t
HENRRGEFFEMERRKE
R =S4 - NEEE SRR
BFERBEZAYZREOMIT

2012

T

HK$'000

FET

1,235,844 782,321
1,067,890 —
2,303,734 782,321



Notes: (continued)

(if)

Account receivables from customers (continued)

The aging analysis of the trade receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired
is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired 3 # 80 BR KR E
Less than 3 months past due B 3 1E A
6 months to 1 year past due BmHGEAE1F

Account receivables of HK$2,082,520,000 as at 31
December 2013 (2012: HK$782,321,000) were past
due for less than 1 year. Subsequent to 31 December
2013 and up to 24 March 2014, the Hanergy Affiliates
have additionally settled HK$1,105,986,000 of the past
due account receivables from customers. On 24 March
2014, the Hanergy Affiliates has committed a payment
schedule to settle the rest of the past due progress
payments by 30 June 2014.

#iit - (&)

(ii)

YR PR (4F)

W ARAR A E R KRR EZ B
SEWFIAZ FREE DT :

2012

%

HK$'000

FET

221,214 —
1,014,630 782,321
1,067,890 —
2,303,734 782,321

—T-—=F+-A=+—8" EK
8 #2,082,520,000/8 T(= & — =
: 782,321,000 7T ) E @ HA D 7 —
cHR-ZTE—=F+-A=+—H8%
BHE-_ZEZ-NE=ZA=-+MWA &
Bt B8 A B B BB ANE (E IR P i HR
FR3X1,105,986,000/8 T c R =F—M
F=ZH=-+MA - EEHBARDE
HERAMREEE  UR=ZZ—0F
NA=ZTHABES T ZaMEER
I o

TR A AHHE R

bl



Notes: (continued)
(ii)  Account receivables from customers (continued)

The directors of the Company have conducted a
financial due diligence to assess the credibility and
the capacity of the Hanergy Affiliates and are satisfied
that the payment schedule offered by the Hanergy
Affiliates will be feasible and hence is acceptable by
the Group.

Furthermore, pursuant to the relevant sales contracts,
the Group is entitled to claim the Hanergy Affiliates
penalty on the overdue progress payments.

The financial assets included in the above balance are
related to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default.

The directors of the Company considered that the
fair values of trade and other receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts
because these amounts have short maturity periods
at their inception.

Deposits Re
Prepayments paid to: B FUTALZER
FIE
— Hanergy Affiliates — BB AT
— Unrelated third parties — FEFE=F
Less: Impairment J - ORIE

None of the above assets is past due.

#iit - (&)

(ii)

YR PR (4F)

ARBEECETHBERBENG
EEEBBARZEERREN - LEMN
EREBBARMERZMNRBRERS
FIATHY - A AR B o

o BREARHEESR  AEEA
BB HEERRERRE QR R

ik &0 £h
BRI -

AFAR LSSz R E E T I E
RFAFCE 2 EUGRIRBRE -

BN E 5 & E A YRR B F AR R
REAREH  BARREZTAR/LFN
B A PEEARAETEEAESR

Group
AEE
2012
Note HK$'000
ks FET
70,661 6,137
1,567,417 —
366,625 129,000
2,004,703 135,137
7,776 7,514
1,996,927 127,623

it EEMERL -



Note:

(i)

The balance represented the prepayments for the
purchase of photovoltaic (“PV"”) modules under the
master agreement signed between the Company
and Hanergy Holding on 11 April 2012. During 2013,
the Company’s subsidiaries entered into several PV
module purchase subcontracts with Hanergy Affiliates,
nominees of Hanergy Holding, to purchase PV modules
with a total capacity of 677.9 MW for construction
of the downstream photovoltaic power generation
projects. According to the terms of the agreements,
approximately 50% of the total contract amounts
have been paid by the Company's subsidiaries on
the placement of the orders. As of 31 December
2013, 58.5 MW PV modules have been delivered by
Hanergy Affiliates and the remaining PV modules
would be sequentially delivered pursuant to the
future construction plan of the Group. Pursuant to the
mutual negotiation, the Company has negotiated with
Hanergy Affiliates to delay the delivery of PV modules
with capacity of 379.4 MW from 24 March 2014 to
April 2014 or May 2014. The delivery deadline of the
remaining PV modules with capacity of 240.0 MW is
30 June 2014 according to the purchase agreement.

Deposits Be
Prepayments SN
Less: Impairment JBORE

None of the above assets is past due.

HaE -

(i)

HREREBEADREERIERNR T
——FNAt+—BEEzAaGE B
BANKRK (RRDBGZFZEAR
He RZTE—=F ARAZHBR
AEEEMBARICERER RS
AR Z G HRBHEAN B
HERTHNXKREEEEBABLER
#677.9 MW Z S ARA M o IRBH =
B ARRZHMBARE RN NER]
BRYNERBESEN0%  HEZ
T—=F+-_fA=+—8 ZExHBE
AEIERMERAB8.5 MW Z k48
e MBTHAREHBRERNSEE Y
AEESREFEEINTFAEER - B
BEHBREBTE  ANQ R EZEEHEB
NRAEITIER - AR EER379.4
MW 2 S KB 2 BE R =T —MH4F
SAZtTHBEREE-_Z—NEMNA
KT —MFERA - REBEARE
BTN ERB240.0 MW Z Y RAEBH 2
RANBRHA-E—NEASNA=TH -

Company
b /N

2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET
4,251 1,999
2,695 97
6,946 2,096

BELAEEC S -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=F+—-H=+—H)

22. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22. RDFEIBN AR ZBRR

Equity investment stated at market

value — listed in Hong Kong

BMmEIRZ ERRE
— REBLT

&
Group
rEE
2013 2012
TE-CF ik
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
11,698 4,480

The above equity investment was classified as

held for trading and was, upon initial recognition,

designated by the Group as a financial asset at fair

value through profit or loss.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

P ESREDERFIERE  £F
HERIR  AEERESRRZE A FET

. RERBAEEEYRCERE

=k
TA

Group Company
rEH YN
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F —E—=F —E——%F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Cash and bank e RIBITHET
balances 1,339,448 716,530 51,160 3,662
Less: Pledged OB AR AR
deposits for TREZE
the Group's EIRFR
general
banking
facilities — (8,572) — —
Total cash and cash B&NIREEEY
equivalents BEE 1,339,448 707,958 51,160 3,662

“T—=44%% ANNUAL REPORT 2013 203



The breakdown of cash and bank balances by

=

—E-=F+-A=+—0 &t

denominated currency as at 31 December 2013 is as EEES 7IHE RIRITETF AT -
follow:
Group Company
TEE ¥ NN
2012 2012
B —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
(HKS$ equivalent) (FRERETT) FET FET
Cash and bank IATFYEEEETE 2
balances RE RIBITHET -
denominated in:
RMB AR 1,251,347 684,121 116 123
usD E 34,053 17,709 501 71
EUR BT 2,747 27 - —
HK$ BT 51,256 14,673 50,543 3,468
SEK B 4 52 BA 45 — - —
Total ek 1,339,448 716,530 51,160 3,662

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$1,251,347,000 (2012: HK$684,122,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day
to three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RBERR  REFUAREABA IR
© MIR1T4TF 51,251,347,00058 7o(—
T— — 4 :684,122,00087C) - ARME
TR ERABRABEMER M BRI
PR ZINEE FIER R ERTIERE
NEEELEEBERBETINEER
ZIRITARB AR MEE

RITRSRETEBITERFEHE 2
R BIAIE - EHE SR R
m—BE=EATE  REALEE
BHRSBRME « W EATHER
BEBBMFIR - $TZREEAFR
TR (BB B 4T B 3 R R A4 2 48
7 o



Trade payables due to: B FUTALZES
FERFFIE
— A related party — —HEEAT
— Third parties — &H=H
Sub-total NEF
Other payable due to: R FUTATZEM
FERRIR
— The immediate holding — BEZERAT
company
— Related parties — BEAL
— Third parties — F=H
Sub-total NEF
Notes:

(i) Payable to the immediate holding Company represent
the advances from Hanergy Investment to the
Company for the daily operation purpose. The balances
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The balance included the advances of HK$15,280,000
from Hanergy Affiliates to the Company for the daily
operation purpose, and the balance of HK$55,804,000
paid to Sichuan Hanergy Photovoltaic Limited
(“Sichuan Hanergy"”), Hanergy Holding's affiliate
related to rental of a production line, office premises,
factory premises and staff dormitory, and the usage
of relevant equipment, material and facilities, etc.
The above balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

TEE
2012
—ET——F
Notes HK$000
Kzt FET
7,642 —
600,894 214,071
608,536 214,071
(i) 16,853 —
(i) 71,084 —
353,987 465,492
441,924 465,492
1,050,460 679,563

Hat

(i) FES E#Z IR A R 2 FIA FE Hanergy
Investmentgt B & & @B N TAR
RIZTENRIE  ZSEHAEER -
BB NRERIFER -

(i) HEHEEEEEBARNAEEER
B F A& A 7 2 $8 4 58 15,280,000
B RRMMABEESR  WASA
IH5FT R B IE & A KA AR
B MRRERESRERIER S B
AREP)IERE R ARER A B (NHIIINE
B8 1) X 2 #: 3 55,804,000/8 T ° L
M BEERE 2B RREREE

2
A °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=%+—-HA=+—8H)

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 24. BE R EMENRIE &

)
/

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of the AEEESRNRERBEEZAH K
Group's trade payables is as follows: BT

2013 2012
—E—=4F —E=—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
0 — 30 days 0— 30K 436,671 128,751
31 — 60 days 31 — 60X 6,226 38,707
61 — 90 days 61 — 90K 7,367 8,858
Over 90 days 90 KM E 158,272 37,755
608,536 214,071
Company
b N/NET|
2013 2012
L T — —
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
Other payable due to: JRE AT L h P AN RRIE
— The immediate holding — BEEZERAF]
company (i) 16,853 —
— A related party — BEATL 10 —
Sub-total /NET 16,863 —
All amounts are short term and hence the carrying FIESSEASE  WItLE 5 NREMER
amounts of trade and other payables are considered FEEREERAEAFYEZAEY
to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values. H o BHENFIEAETE  —BI%60
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are HEfR 454 o

normally settled on 60-day terms.

SaeskEARAR HANERGY SOLAR GROUP LIMITED
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Group

rEH
2012
Notes HK$'000
HtaE FET
Current; BNHA -
Other borrowings from BTII&EFTZEME
j=H
— A related party — unsecured — BEATLT — |E
17 (i) 242 —
— Third parties — guaranteed — =5 — BER (if) 76,314 =
— Third parties — unsecured — B=F — EIRA (ii) 103,023 =
179,579 —
Notes: Ktat -

(i)

(ii)

The balance principally represents the advances from
Hanergy Holding America Inc., an indirect wholly-
own subsidiary of Hanergy Holding to Hanergy USA
Solar Solution Ltd., an indirect wholly-own subsidiary
of the Company, to finance its working capital.
According to the agreement, the advances are with
terms of less than 1 year and bear a fixed interest
rate of 3%. For the year ended 31 December 2013,
the interest amounted to HK$68,000 was charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (2012: Nil) (note 7).

The other borrowings are interest-bearing advances
from unrelated third parties to the Company’'s two
subsidiaries under the Build and Sell segment of
HK$179,337,000 in aggregate as of 31 December 2013
(2012: Nil). The advances are with terms of less than
1 year, as varied in each separate agreement, and bear
a fixed annual interest of 5.6 to 6.6%. Fujian Apollo
has provided a guarantee for a sum of HK$76,314,000
out of the above aggregate amount. The relative
interest expenses have been capitalised in the related

inventories (note 19).

(ii)

HEHREERECERCEAZEZENE
‘A AlHanergy Holding America Inc.
MR Az E#% 2 &N B2 F Hanergy
USA Solar Solution Ltd.{f H = #
FoUBNELESES - REHE -
BRZEFHRIN—F - WIEREFEF
R3% B - BE_ZE—=F+_#
=+—HIEFE - 7568,000% 7T
RérE B am R EM 2 K&K PR
—E——F #\)(HFET) -

HmEEAaR_—_E—=+=_7
=t+—H BEMBEESEETE
BEE=FRAARREE ZR®REH
179,337,000 8 C(—F——4F : &) -
BRZFHREIR—F  WRETF
E5.6%£6.6%: 2R F & 8L
#ETR) - BEMBER LBER 2
5 %76,314,000 B TR R IEIR - FHRE
FEHZBRAEEETE M (K &E
19) °



On 25 November 2009, the Company issued
zero coupon convertible bonds, as part of the
consideration in respect of the acquisition for the
Manufacturing Business, with a principal amount
of HK$3,814,950,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”).
The Convertible Bonds were issued in two
tranches. The principal amount for the first tranche
is HK$1,040,440,000 and the second tranche is
HK$2,774,510,000. The Convertible Bonds will mature
on 25 November 2013 and are convertible into fully
paid ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.0025
each of the Company at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.329 per share, subject to the adjustments in
the event of, inter alias, consolidation or subdivision
of the shares, capitalisation of profits or reserves,
capital distributions in cash or specie or subsequent
issue of securities at a discount of the then market
price, in the Company.

The holders of the Convertible Bonds will have the
right to convert the whole or part of the outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds during
the conversion period subject to the applicable
restrictions contained herein. The Convertible Bonds
that remain outstanding on the maturity date shall be
redeemed at their then outstanding principal amount.

On 27 February 2013 and 24 September 2013, the
conversion price of the Convertible Bonds was
adjusted from HK$0.329 per share to HK$0.272 per
share, and then to HK$0.249 per share, resulting
from the completion of the 2010 First Subscription,
the 2011 First Subscription, and the 2011 Second
Subscription, respectively (note 28).

ERNBEREEBEEZ —HFH &
RERZTEENF+—AZTHHEE
T4 %853,814,950,0008 T2 T =
BARREHR(TBRRES] - /Jik
BEHOMPET - B 2ASER
1,040,440,0008 T M B = #t 2 A& 5
#2,774,510,0007% 7T o Al AR & F 1%
RZZT—=F+—A=+HABZH &
AR BRETRR0.329B LA BRE
ANAR)FREEO.0026 B2 B R LB
B MR EAUE(EREE)RDE G
S BFSEEERE  BeRE
MERDRIBEREITARANER 2B
AT FUAARE - DERARRERFTEN

i
A ©

RN - T RBRESFE AR AE
ARBMABERERZ 2BHEFORLER
TB(ZAFRABBERRFIFTR) -
REHI B H R %2 AT AR E S AR E
ERANBACHEED -

RZE—=FZ_A=+tAKR=ZFT—=
FAAZ+WMAE  —E—TFE—ER
BEH —T—FF-ERABFER
TR —FE_BEREFTETKSHE
AR ES 2 MRE R SR 0.329%
TTHAEEER0272E T BRARES
§%0.249 T (KzE 28) °



On 4 October 2013, the Company entered into

the deed of amendments with Hanergy Holding's

subsidiaries, namely GL Wind Farm and China

Genco, which are the holders of all the outstanding

Convertible Bonds then, to amend certain existing

terms of the Convertible Bonds as follows:

1)

2)

3)

the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds is
extended from the 4" anniversary of the date of
the first issue of the Convertible Bonds (i.e. 25
November 2013) to 31 December 2014,

it was provided under the existing clause 5.1(1)
of the Convertible Bonds that no conversion
right of the Convertible Bonds may be exercised
to the extent that following such exercise, a
bondholder and parties acting in concert with it
(within the meaning of the Hong Kong Takeovers
Code), taken together, will directly or indirectly,
control or be interested in 29.9% or more of
the entire issued Shares. Pursuant to the deed
of amendments, it is proposed to amend as no
conversion right of the Convertible Bonds may
be exercised to the extent that following such
exercise, a bondholder and parties acting in
concert with it (within the meaning of the Hong
Kong Takeovers Code) shall have an obligation
under the Hong Kong Takeovers Code to make a
mandatory general offer in accordance with the
provisions of the Hong Kong Takeovers Code;
and

the words “2013" in the subheading of the
existing certificate of the Convertible Bonds
is proposed to be deleted and substituted by
“2014".

RZZE—=F+AWB ' A2F8E
BETE AR 2 MY B A A1GL Wind Farm &
China Genco (& E RFT A R1TE AT AR
EHZHB AN MIET R - BT
AR ESF 2 A TRBGHROT

1) TRBESZ A G ERRT
THRIEES A MERAE (D=
—=ft—A=TARERE=
B-mEF=f=+—8

2) ABRESFBEEERE (AT -
WITE AT AR ES 2 AIREE - &
FREARE-—BITHAL(EE
REBWESADAGMHTE  BE
ok - ERIR 2 e BT
D2299% A ErRER R
B NMSITE B B IR - BIREET
iR - RRSI W TEAIRRES
ZRBEE  BHERFEARE—H
TBAT(EERBBWESTA)
BREEBWETRERBBRESRS
Y B <7 A1) 2 16 VB HH o il 1 2 T R
B BB MENSITR R

3 EREMBTRREFRAEEAE
By FRIZF =4 BT
T4 AL -



The movements in principle amount of the Convertible
Bonds during the year are as follows:

FRAABRBREFASRIEESHNT:

Company and Group ERARRAKESR
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FEIT
Principal amount at 1 January R—HA—BZ2AX%% 847,530 847,530
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds i ] # % (&5 — =
Principal amount at 31 December R+—A=+—HZALE 847,530 847,530

As of 31 December 2013 and 2012, all the
outstanding Convertible Bonds are held by related
companies controlled by Hanergy Holding.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the Convertible
Bonds is determined using the binomial model that
takes into account factors specific to the Convertible
Bonds. Liability component is then determined using
an effective interest rate of 8.23% for an equivalent
non-convertible bond. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated to the conversion option and is included
in equity as equity component of the Convertible
Bonds. Pursuant to the extension of maturity date,
the effective interest rate decreases to 0.23%.

RZE—=ZFR_F——F+=HA
=+—H AREBAREKRESSH
EREIERALE B 2 BB A RIFA ©

R L TERE - A RRES 2 A TFER
At RAmkEF S TRR 2 ZHE
AEBEE - BBEBHHEFAHEIETR
BfEH 2 BERFIRE23%EE - BN
HREORE X Mg - WIERATRE
Ko ERIBOE AR - RIBFEBT
B BERMNEFLE0.23% o



The Convertible Bonds recognised in the statement of R R ER 2 AR EESTE W

financial position are calculated as follows: ™
Company and Group ERAARAER
Liability Equity
component component Total
=R g EREs &5t
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
Net carrying amount at R=ZZE—F+=A
31 December 2011 and =t+—BR-E—_fF
1 January 2012 —A—RAZEEFEE 729,375 895,685 1,625,060
Interest expenses FEMZ 60,184 — 60,184
Net carrying amount at RZE—ZF+=H
31 December 2012 and =t—HERZE—=f
1 January 2013 —RA—RZEmFE 789,559 895,685 1,685,244
Interest expenses FERX 56,025 — 56,025
Net carrying amount at R-_E—=F+_A

31 December 2013 =t+—HZEEFE 845,584 895,685 1,741,269



The movements in deferred tax
during the year are as follows:

Group

At 1 January 2012

Deferred tax credited/
(charged) to the statement
of profit or loss and other
comprenensive income
during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2012 and
1 January 2013

Deferred tax credited/
(charged) to the statement
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
during the year

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2013

RZF-E-A-A
EMiBRREMEENER
it/ (i) ZEHEH

2

W52k
+2A=t-RR
Z3-25-A-R

BNV 6
A/ () B

HEHEAT
2

" _
\*if,g
RZF—2

tZA=t-A

liabilities and assets

Unrealised

Recognition  profit or loss
of diffgrences on intra-group
on revenue of transfer

construction  of assets or
contract ~ transactions
SEREZE

BlER  EIUAL
ARUAZE  #8%5BE
HK$000 HK$'000
AT AT
35,254 -
(39.211) 2829
3,957) 289
(11.473) 3,908
(15,430) 6,737

Fair value
Adjustments
on business
combination

§B42
17gae
HK$'000
i

(31,529)

4450

(27,079)

4450
(4,809)

27,438

FREEHBEREREEZ BB

&M

With-
holding
Tax

b
HK$'000
T#r

(16,628)

(56,892)
(148)

(222,668

92,763)

(1499)

(316,930)

Accruals

EitER
HK§000
i

6,868

3433

10,303

(144)

179

10,338

Other
temporary
differences

AhEREE
HK§ 000
Tz

29,331

29,331

30,591

Loss
available for
offsetting
against
future
taxable
profits
TRkER
FRERR
EH2ER
HK8 000
FAT

4644

4662

11,061

Total

4
HKS'000
7

(125,704

(80,747)
(138)

(206,589)

(89,535
4,809
(149)

(301,081)



The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group after jurisdictional netting for
financial reporting purposes.

UTRAMBEEREOME @ RADEE
B REEFBAFERZIARERLER
RAEDIT

Group
rEH
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
TFET
Net deferred tax assets recognised  RERA MBI N KER L
in the consolidated statement of FIRER IS B
financial position 23,420 44,286
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R4r& SRR RIERZ
in the consolidated statement of FRLEHIERE
financial position (324,501) (250,875)
(301,081) (206,589)

The Group has tax losses of HK$178,594,000 (2012:
HK$55,786,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose, subject to the rules of the tax
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Deferred
tax assets have been recognised in respect of
HK$40,973,000 (2012: HK$30,959,000) of such losses
for the current year. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of HK$106,662,000 (2012:
HK$24,827,000) of such losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

N & B 2 B kS 18 178,694,000% JT
— 2% — =% 55,786,000/ 7t ) Al I
REBKEMERS AR 2 A
ZERBT  ANEEELEEZQR
ZARRERB RN NEE - Bz
£ & 1840,973,0008 L( =T — —4F :
30,959,000 7T ) RIELE IR E E °
BHRZEEERCEE—RERZHE
NEIFESE WK AT LB ERT
a N F] R EHK IR TS B4R - R R BE A
Z£5518106,662,000 8 L( - T — —4F -
24,827,000 % 7T ) RIEEIEE E ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=F+—-H=+—H)

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. BRA
(a) Shares (a) P&fD
2013 2012
—E—= —_EF—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Authorised: JATE ¢
64,000,000,000 (2012: 64,000,000,000 %
64,000,000,000) ordinary shares (ZT——%F:
of HK$0.0025 each 64,000,000 %) &A%
E0.0025 BT 2 AR 160,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRERE :
28,587,819,000 (2012: 28,5687,819,000 /%
13,431,022,000) ordinary shares (ZT——%F:
of HK$0.0025 each 13,431,022,000 (%)
EFRREE0.0025 5T
2B 71,470 33,677

%

KGeeSBER AR HANERGY SOLAR GROUP LIMITED



(a) Shares (continued) (a) Bfp(#&)

A summary of the transactions during the year FRNZRHGHMERT :
is as follow:
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BRTRHEA BEARE  ROEER aa
‘000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T TAET TET THET

At 1 January 2012, 31 December  R-E——#—F—H "

2012 and 1 January 2013 “E-ZF+ZA=1-H
A——i A—H 13,431,022 33,577 7,107,964 7,141,541
Subscription of shares (note (b):  B(AREHZ (b))
— 2010 First Subscription “2-EE-EAESH 1,964,612 4912 464,631 469,543
— 2011 First Subscription — ZE——FE-EAREE 6,000,000 15,000 585,000 600,000
— 2011 Second Subscription —ZEZ—FECBREZE 6,000,000 15,000 585,000 600,000
Sub-total i) 13,964,612 34,912 1,634,631 1,669,543
Exercise of share options (note 29) {TEBRE(H1:229)
— Share options granted to — BYRSEERREEEY
the consultants and the BIREMZ290))
management of the Group
(note 29(b)) 12,800 32 2,198 2,230
— Other Options II (note 29(c)fii)) ~ — EAEERRAE NI (f722 29(c)(i)) 920,985 2,303 150,951 153,254
— Other Options 11l (note 29(c)fiii)  — E-AbEEIE I (4722 29(c) i) 258,400 646 63,954 64,600
1,192,185 2,981 217,103 220,084
Transfer from share option reserve % BRIk
(note 30(a)(iv)) (H306)iv) — - 3,437 3,437
Sub-total 0y 1,192,185 2,981 220,540 223,521
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=%+-A=1—H 28,587,819 71,470 8,963,135 9,034,605
As of 31 December 2013, a total of R—E—Z=ZF+=-_A=+—
5,105,000,000 shares of the Company held by B 593% EEREEMRFZE H
Hanergy Holding Group were pledged in favour 5,105,000,000 A A& 2% ] A% {7 LA IO

of four financial companies. Bk ﬂ@ Al RX m AMEER -



(b)

Subscription rights

On 20 May 2010, Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd.
("Fujian Apollo”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and Hanergy Holding
entered into a sales contract (“2010 Sales
Contract”) pursuant to which Fujian Apollo
agreed to sell, and Hanergy Holding agreed
to purchase the turnkey equipment, tools and
machinery of solar PV modules production
system with annual production capacity of
3,000 MW to be delivered in three batches
for a total contract sum of US$2.55 billion. On
the same date, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (“2010 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2010 Subscription Agreement, subject
to the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions
set out in the 2010 Subscription Agreement,
Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe for
an aggregate of 4,911,528,960 shares of the
Company, in three tranches, namely the first
batch of 1,964,611,584 shares, the second
batch of 1,473,458,688 shares and the third
batch of 1,473,458,688 shares. The subscription
price is HK$0.239 per share. Pursuant to the
supplemental agreement entered into on 18
September 2011, the exercise price for the
second batch and the third tranche of the 2010
Subscription was revised to HK$0.12 per share
and HK$0.1 per share, respectively. The exercise
period of the 2010 Subscription was in following
manner:

(b)

RIEE

R-ZE—ZEFRA-_TH B&
RSB ITREBR R A8 EH
I AREZEEE2ENBAR)
EERE IR VHEEAR(ZF
—ZFHEESRD Bt - B
MEERELEMEEIZERERE
BAFEMAERRB3000 MWZ
ARG REBGEERF 2 EER
% TARMKSE BT
BAEREEAE25EET - RE
B - AR EZEREIERE] N REB
#Z(ZZ—ZFEREHZED - 1R
BT -—TFEREHE F=2%
*%i‘?ﬂﬁfﬁaﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂwﬁruﬁﬁ
e EREREES =R
ﬁm/\4911528960Hx$ A%
3 - B1ZE—1Ht1,964,611,684 0% -
5 —4t1,473,458,688 % = #t
1,473,458,688 1% - RIEE AT
0.23987L °c RER=ZFT——F N1
AT NBEI 2Rtz —F—
TERESHIE-MRE=H
TEED ISR AERR0.128 T
RERONBTL  —_E—TFERE
FH2ITEROT



(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

Exercise periods

On the third business day after the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contracts
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$3.3 billion

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contracts
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$5 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the second
batch production lines in respect of
the 2010 Sales Contract, or upon
Hanergy Holding having an irrevocable
undertaking to pay within 24 months
from the date to complete such batch

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contracts
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$6 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the third
batch production lines in respect of
the 2010 Sales Contract, or upon
Hanergy Holding having an irrevocable
undertaking to pay within 24 months
from the date to complete such batch

(b) FREE(E

TS

BEAGWIERERR —F—F

FHESRXMNTIRIBEE
TTRE=EEXH

i) RS R BRI N L —F

—TFEHERRMNT IR E0
BET Rl —E—TFHE
BRXNTDRE A ERIE
BE8% < RIEERANESE » L
PR BEFR AR A 43 2] 7 1R 10
AL TR A HE R 24 A A X
MazRERE=EEXA

) REAG KR ER R =T —

ZEHEBRXNTIR60E
B RINRZT—ZFHES
RIS TADRE=REERIEE
8% ZHBER/AMNER + IR
% BE R AR A AT 383 3w 1R TR R
#rek B BAREET 24 1B A RS
ZRRRE=EEXA

Number of
options

BRERE

1,964,611,584

1,473,458,688

1,473,458,688

4,911,528,960



(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 18 September 2011, Fujian Apollo and
Hanergy Holding entered into a sales contract
(“2011 Sales Contracts”) in relation to, among
others, the sale of the turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of solar PV modules production
system with annual production capacity of 7,000
MW to be delivered in three batches and the
provisions of the technical and engineering
support, training services and the grant of a
software licence in relation to the equipments
by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy Holding, for an
aggregate consideration of US$5.95 billion.
On the same date, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement (“2011 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2011 Subscription Agreement, subject
to the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions
set out in the 2011 Subscription Agreement,
Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe for, in
three tranches, an aggregate of 18,000,000,000
shares of the Company at the subscription price
of HK$0.1 per share. The exercise period of the
2011 Subscription was in following manner:

(b)

RZE—FNATN\AR - BEH
ELZIERFIVEAR([ =ZF
——FHEAR]  ARBH(H
FERE)EEFERERR7,000
MW Z KB 8 e KRB 1 £ EE R 5
CERELE TARME  Bo=
HER AT - AR AR [AE e 12 Ak
REBEARBE RN EIESER
% FIRG R H SR A
BIEE /B95EXE T KEAR -
RN B ERE RE R AR AT 3 SR BE 1 ek
(ZZ2E——FREHZE] - BIE
T 5RBhe T ——
FREMEAAE GG ENNER
R EREREESHRESH
18,000,000,000 f& &~ 2 A fx 15 -
REBAERONEBT —T——
RIBEIE 2T AT -



(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

Exercise periods TR

Number
of options

BRERE

Within one (1) year after the cumulative 1BEZABGWEI T ——F44

consideration in respect of the
2011 Sales Contracts received by
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$1,800,000,000

EERZEFEERTLR
1,800,000,000 8 718 — (1) F

6,000,000,000

Within one (1) year after the cumulative  1BiEZABUWE| =T ——F 14

consideration in respect of the
2011 Sales Contracts received by
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$3,600,000,000

EERZEFHEBTLR
3,600,000,000F T2 — (1) FA

6,000,000,000

Within one (1) year after the cumulative 12ZEHABKE - ——F14

consideration in respect of the
2011 Sales Contracts received by
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$6,300,000,000

On 28 September 2011, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a subscription
agreement (“Incentive Agreement”), pursuant to
which Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe
for 3 billion shares of the Company at the
subscription price of HK$0.10 per share, upon
the fulfilment of the conditions precedent under
the Incentive Agreement, among others, the
completion of subscription for all three batches
of the 2011 Subscription by 31 October 2013.
On 31 October 2013, the Company and Hanergy
Holding entered into supplemental agreement
to extend the expiry date from 31 October 2013
to 31 March 2014. As of 31 December 2013,
the conditions precedent under the Incentive
Agreement have not been fully met yet.

EERZEFEETLR
6,300,000,000& 718 — (1) £

6,000,000,000

18,000,000,000

RZZ——FALA=+NB ' &Q
A B REIE NIRRT S R AE e ([ 2R
WaEl) - Bt - FRERE LR
BHE(EPEER_E—=F1A
=t B -—T——FREE
BB =R )ERE - ERE
TR RIZEER0N0BITZRE
ERBEBIOERARARMD - R
T—=F+A=+—8 ARAEHE
ERIERET R e - AR
HE-Z—=F+HA=1+—RH%
E_Z—NF=A=+tH -R=F
—=F+=-_A=+—8  EEHE
BT 2 FR G AR 2 EPER -



(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 28 December 2012, the ordinary resolution
approving the Whitewash Waiver was duly
passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company. From that date, all the pre-conditions
of the 2010 Subscription Agreement and 2011
Subscription Agreement have been substantially
met except the obtaining by the Company of
the written consent from all the bondholders of
the Convertible Bonds to waive any adjustment
to the conversion price pursuant to the
provisions of the Convertible Bonds caused by
the transactions contemplated under the 2010
Subscription Agreement and 2011 Subscription
Agreement (“Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver").

On 27 February 2013, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver and
the cumulative payment received by Fujian
Apollo over HK$3.3 billion and HK$1.8 billion
in respect of the 2010 Sales Contract and
the 2011 Sales Contract, respectively, the
Company completed the issue and allotment of
the first tranche subscription of 1,964,611,584
shares of the 2010 Subscription Agreement
("2010 First Subscription”) and the first
tranche subscription of 6,000,000,000 shares
of the 2011 Subscription Agreement (“2011
First Subscription”) in respect of the 2010
Sales Contract and the 2011 Sales Contract,
respectively, to Hanergy Investment, a company
wholly-owned by Hanergy Affiliates, at the
subscription price of HK$0.239 per share and
HK$0.1 per share, respectively.

(b)

R-BE——F+-_A=-+/\B #
ERERECERRBEREELRR
AIEVRRIENBE - RE AR -
TE-TERBHER=FT ——
FREWRZ B DREEE R
FEX - ERABMAE T RRE
FEFFBEARGEERE @ #e
ARBE_Z-—ZFREHEL_-F
—— FREHBRET IR HER
RIBFRAR E 2 2 163 R EE
2 A FABERIN AT AR E S
BARR]) -

R-ZE—=F_"A—-++H8 " RiE
MEARRELFFAEARLE - U
RBEABH® —E-EFHEAR
RZT——FHEESR D RIWEE
BIBEETMISEEL  AAF
TEARI T —EFHEEGR R
TR —FHEARRAEEER
0.239% 7T R &M% 0.178 JT [M) & &%
BB AR 2 EHA Z /A7 Hanergy
Investment 17 & g 3% 55 — #L32
§81,964,611,5684 X A& D ([ = F —
TFEEF-HRABEE])RE—H
28 6,000,000,000 B a3 ([ ==
——FE-HREEHE]) -



(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 24 September 2013, pursuant to the
obtaining of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver
and the cumulative payment received by Fujian
Apollo over HK$3.6 billion in respect of the
2011 Sales Contract, the second batch of the
6,000,000,000 shares of the 2011 Subscription
“2011 Second Subscription”)
were issued and allotted to Hanergy Investment,

Agreement (the

at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per share.

The following table summarises the subscription
right transactions during the years:

Outstanding at 1 January 2012, RZE—=
31 December 2012 and —F—
1 January 2013
Granted
Exercised

BE
BT
Expired =Y b
Outstanding at 31 December 2013 K=

EENEL

F£—H—8 -
“F#+-fA=t-8Bk
—E—=F—A—HRHXKTE

(b)

—=%+=A=+-H

RBE(E)

RZEBE—=FAA-_+MAB 1R
BERBAIRKRESHFBEARE
L/{&?‘aa@fﬁﬁﬁﬁ_i——ifﬁ%
& R E REH R 36&%
T T ——FR %W@

#£6,000,000,000 f% f% 17 B 2 7R
BESRONABLETREZET

Hanergy Investment ([ ZZ&——
FE_IARBEFE]) -
TREMFRNET 2 RBEERS ¢
Weighted
Subscription average
rights exercise
outstanding price
RITRE piiL: B
R e
‘000 HK$
F17 BT
22,911,529 0.11
(13,964,612) 0.12
8,946,917 0.10



(a)

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 August
2007, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) relating to the grant
of share options to directors, employees and
other participants (the “Grantee”) including
consultants, advisers, suppliers and customers

of the Group.

The directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or
the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved by the Grantee before the option can
be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment and at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(i) the closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of the grant of the share option; and (iii) the
average of the closing prices per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company
in issue on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption
of the Scheme, unless a refresh approval of the
shareholders is obtained.

(a)
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BB IRFBR - ARBIRA—IARE
PerEst BI([ %8 D mAKEZ
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EEy e RERRERETENL
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(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the special general meeting held
on 11 June 2010, the resolution approving the
renewal of the 10% of the general limit was
passed by the shareholders and the maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
share capital of the Company in issue on 11
June 2010. The total number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme is 461,224,947
(representing 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of passing the
resolution to refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and
to be issued) in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme to any one
Grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company
has been obtained in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 28 August 2007 and has a
life of 10 years until 27 August 2017.

(a)

BRERE(E)

BER-ZE—ZFF A +—B81T
ZBRERENARE  HEEF10%
— R EMR 2 R RIERR R - T
EITERIBZ T8 RA R R HE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=F+—-H=+—H)

29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29. B
(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BFErEEEREAREEE2BRE
the management of the Group
The following share based payment arrangements VAR BARRAD B ERE 2 (SRR L B F
were outstanding during the year: AE AT -
2013 2012
===k —2——F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price \eisie | exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
ShmE Sk
THTEE EREE THAREE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT Fi BT FR
At 1 January w—HA—H 0.17 103,600 0.17 103,600
Granted during the year EREH - =
Exercised during the year ~ FR{T{E 0.17 (12,800) —

Expired during the year ENER - -

“+t=A
At 31 December S—E 0.17 90,800 0.17 103,600
The weighted average share price at the date of FASITEBRENRITEBE 2N
exercise for share options exercised during the BTERERTR017HETT °

the year was HK$0.17 per share.

224 EEABEEEAERAR HANERGY SOLAR GROUP LIMITED



(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BFAEEEEEBZBREE)
the management of the Group (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the REEBR M RITHEZ BRE 21T
share options outstanding as at the end of the FEENTERNT :

reporting period are as follows:

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE fTfEE TfEE
Granted to 2012 HK$ per share
By —E-—F GRAET
‘000
T
Consultants of the — HiE¥H% 2,400 3,600 0.25 25 November 2010 to
Manufacturing B 24 November 2014
Business (i) “E-ZTF+—-A-F+AHBE
“E-ME+—A=+MmA
Management of the A%EE 88,400 100,000 0.1664 16 December 2011 to
Group (i) BERE() 15 December 2016
—“Z—&+-A+HZ
—E-RFE+ZATAHA

90,800 103,600

* The exercise price of the share options is * BEAGHE > 1T {F BRI AT AT R 3517 5%,
subject to adjustment in the case of rights on AN B IR AS B E8 H b AE (L B R
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the VEH %K o

Company's share capital.



(b)

Share options granted to the consultants and (b) RFFXEEEEEBZBREE)

the management of the Group (continued)

Notes: Hat -

(i) On 25 November 2009, being the date of (i) R—_EETEhAhF+—H=-Z+H
the completion of the acquisition of the BN EREXK A
Manufacturing Business, the Company H) XABNUNZEEBERIT
issued 320,000,000 share options to certain 320,000,000 17 i Ak 4 T B3 35
consultants of the Manufacturing Business for BB TER (TEEBAFK
nil consideration at an exercise price of HK$0.25 0.25870 » UEBIREH RIS
per share as an incentive of their contribution to BZBEBRELER - B TRESE
the development of the Manufacturing Business. BEEZEREFBBHAR T
The vesting date of the share options granted to HEARET—4F ©
consultants of the Manufacturing Business was
one year from the date of grant.

(i)  On 16 December 2011, the Company granted (i) RZEBE—F+=_A+XH K
100,000,000 share options to the management N AIAZEE ) 100,000,000
of the Group for nil consideration at an exercise PERETAEBERE - 171
price of HK$0.1664 per share. The exercise BAER0.1664B T - ¥ T A&
periods of the share options granted to the SEEEE 2 BREZITESRD
management of the Group are as follows: o

Number of options
Exercise periods 1THEH BRERE
‘000
Fl7

16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016 —ZT——F+ A+ XHZE
—E-RFE+ZA+HH 10,000

16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016 —E——F+=ZA+AHZE
—ET-RE+ZA+HAAB 10,000

16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016 _—_ET—=F+_-F+/XHE
—E-RE+=ZA+EAH 10,000

16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016 ~—Z—PUFE+—-H+HZE
—E-XE+ZHATHA 10,000

16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016 —2—RAF+-A+HZE
—ET-RE+ZA+HhAB 60,000

100,000



(c)

Other share options

Beside the abovementioned share-based options

issued, the Company granted the following share

options as financial instruments to the grantees.

i)

Hanergy Options

On 6 August 2010, the Company has
granted options to the companies which
are owned by the employees of the
Hanergy Holding as an incentive of
contribution to a smooth execution of
the 2010 Sales Contracts (the “Hanergy
Options”). The Hanergy Options were not
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

The Hanergy Options entitled the Hanergy
Holding’s employees to subscribe for an
aggregate of 602,448,000 shares of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.72.
They were exercisable during the period
commencing on the payment in full of the
three installment prepayments for the sale
of the first batch of production lines for the
2010 Sales Contract, and ending on the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant. They will lapse, upon
the earlier of: (i) the fifth anniversary of
the date of grant; and (ii) on 31 December
2011 if Hanergy Holding fails to pay the
three instalment prepayments in respect
of the sale of the first batch of production
lines under the 2010 Sales Contract in full
before that day. Since Hanergy Holding
failed to pay all three instalments in full
before 31 December 2011, all the Hanergy
Options lapsed on 31 December 2011.

(c)

Hitn g

RIF BB BT 2 AR BERRE
Pt - ARRAERARHATE
BRAEERERMIA -

i)

EHERE

RARBRZZE—TFENA
NERBEEEREERS
ZRREHBRE  ERK
ERIEFNBEI-_Z-—FFR
—E-—HFHEARME
& BR 2 2R (F B IB X
1) - EEEERELIFRE
BRER BRI -

LB T2 TR E
BRI HERITEE0.72E
T R A £602,448,000 f%
KRAEIRG - =T —FF
HECRMS - AEERE
AIREEF —MEERZ =
HEMRERYSITRER
ERYBHPRABAFIZALL
HERNTE BEERED
RTHMEZREEHKRN
MEEBEBAEBEF: &)
i ZREIERR R BERZ B AT 2
HEIN T —EFHEER
BT #HEER —HE
NEmE: A= ——F+=
A=+—8 - aREeeER
RER-_ZE——F+=A
=+ —HAZEZNABE=
HAZTE - T EREBERED
RZE——F+RA=+—
B o



(c)

Other share options (continued)

ii)

Other Options Il

On 18 September 2011, the Company
entered into an option agreement (“2011
Option Agreements”) with Hanergy
Holding, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to grant the options
(“Other Options Il") to Hanergy Holding (or
its designated individuals or entities). The
options issued to Hanergy Holding were
mainly to ensure its signature and smooth
execution of the 2011 Sales contract.

On 16 December 2011, after fulfilment of
the conditions precedent to each of the
2011 Options Agreements, the Company
had granted the Other Options Il to
Hanergy Option Limited (Hanergy Holding’s
designated entities). The Other Options Il
were not granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

The Other Options Il entitled Hanergy
Option Limited (Hanergy Holding's
designated entities) to subscribe for
an aggregate of 1.3 billion shares of
the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.1664. They will lapse upon the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant.

(c)

Hiuig A ()

ii)

BRIl

R-ZE——FNA+N\B"
AN BB R B AL AT S B R
R —T——FEkE
W l) - Bk - AR FH K
IR = AR A AR (B B 45
EZATHER)REER
(THEMBEREND - &7
TEREEBRZEREETES
BREZXZRENZLZ-FT
——FHERR -

RZB——F+_-_A+RX
B RERK-_ZT—FER
EEWEE B 2 RIRGHEE
RN @2 M Hanergy Option
Limited CEgEIEIR 2 HEEE
B HEMEBERE - Hih
B8 R RE || N0 JE AR 45 B AR R 5T
2R -

H b B8 PE HE 11 BE, T Hanergy
Option Limited (EEEIERR 2
EEER)EMNAIRTEE
0.1664 % ;T R IE & H13F
BRARQRRGD  EBREL
HEARBEF R



(c)

Other share options (continued)

ii)

Other Options Il (continued)

For the Other Options Il granted on 16
December 2011, the exercise periods are

as follows:

Exercise periods

16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016

16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016

16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016

16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016

16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016

(c) HftiERuE(E)
i)  BMEKRENE)

RZZE——F+=A+/~H
Bz EERENZ /T

HAGOR ¢
Number of
options
T BRESAR
‘000
FR
—E——F+_-_A+HE
—ET—RE+=-A+HhaAB 610,000
—E——F+ZRA+H=E
—E-RE+=-A+HhAB 310,000
—EB-—=F+-A+<EBE
—E—RF+=ZA+HAAB 310,000
—E—NFE+-_A+HE
—ET—RE+=-A+HhAB 10,000
—E-RF+-A+HE
—E-RE+=-A+HhAB 60,000

1,300,000



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=F+—-H=+—H)

29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c) Other share options (continued) (c)

i) Other Options Il (continued) ii)

The following table summarises the
movements of the Other Options Il during

29. BRE#)
HA g ()

HtigREI (&)

TSR At B A 11 4R
N2 EE :

the year:
2013 2012
—E-=F —ZT——F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price \Eleeie | exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR mE st
FHTEE BREHE FHTEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT Fi BT TR
At 1 January ®—HR—A 0.17 1,300,000 0.17 1,300,000
Granted during the year EREH - —
Exercised during the ~ ER{TIE
year 0.17 (920,985) —
Expired during the year FR/E i - =
At 31 December R+=A
=t+-8 0.17 379,015 0.17 1,300,0000

The weighted average share price at the
date of exercise for share options exercised
during the year was HK$0.17 per share.

230 ERABEEEERAT HANERGY SOLAR GROUP LIMITED

FRETEBRERITFER
BzmEFHBRELSEESR
0.17%87T °



(c) Other share options (continued)

ii)

Other Options Il (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of
the Other Options Il outstanding as at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Number of options

BREHA

31 December

+=RA=+—H
2012 Exercise price*
—T——F TEE*
‘000  HKS$ per share
T3 BT
— 610,000 0.17
- 310,000 0.17
309,015 310,000 0.17
10,000 10,000 0.17
60,000 60,000 0.17

379,015 1,300,000
* The exercise price of the share options is

subject to adjustment in the case of rights
on bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.

(c) HftiERuE(E)
i)  BMEKRENE)

R R R AT B 2 B
R ARCHE | 2 77 18 18 JR 17 58 B
m -

Exercise period

1T

16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016

2+ _ATREBEZE—RF
+=—A+HA

16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016

TR+ ZATANBEZEZ—ARF
+=ZA+AA

16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016

R+ _ATRAEZZ—RF
+=—A+HA

16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016

ZE-NE+TZATARBEZZT—RF
+=-—A+HAA

16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016

—E-RAE+TZATRABEZZE—RF
+=—A+HA

* R (T AR
BTRAD ARALRR
BB B (e B -



(c)

Other share options (continued)

iii)

Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012, the Company
and Hanergy Holding entered into an
option agreement, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to grant
Hanergy (or such person(s) at its direction)
options (the “Other Options [II") to
subscribe for an aggregate of 600,000,000
shares of the Company at the exercise
price of HK$0.25 per share. Since the
Hanergy Options, which were acting as
an incentive of contribution to a smooth
execution of the 2010 Sales Contract,
have lapsed in 2011, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into this option
agreement to grant options as incentive for
the smooth execution and expediting the
transactions contemplated under the 2010
Sales Contract.

On 31 December 2012, after the fulfilment
of the conditions precedent to Option
Agreement, the Company had granted the
Other Options Ill to Hanergy Investment
Limited (Hanergy Holding’s designated
entities). The Other Options Il were not
granted under the Share Option Scheme.
They will lapse upon the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant.

(c)

Hiuig A ()

iii)

Btz 21

RZZE—Z—FNANH &
A B B RE 1 AR AT 3 B AR A
W& Bt ARREBK
iR B M E e (K EFTIE
TZBBRAL)RLERE
(TEMEERREND) - IR E
fRO0.25B T 2TFEEREE
600,000,000 f& & A 7] B
17 o RREEEEIRE(EAY
IEF|SZL — T —FFHES
F/EH BRI Z BB ER =T
——F R AR EE
BEPERR T ST Ut BB AR A%
DARR B IR M 1/ B ) 25 57
MINRBE - TFHE
BERBETIR S ZHE -

R-B——&+=-A=+—
H EEREBE 2
ERGEHEE XRAABE
M Hanergy Investment
Limited CEREIERIEEZE
BRI EAMREARRE N o HAb
R AR 11| 7 JEAR AR B IR A 51
ZIEE - YERAREBRER
RERI -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R AR B

(31 December 2013 —E—=%+—-HA=+—8H)

29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29. BB HEE)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HiEBREE
iii)  Other Options Ill (continued) i)  ErtiEREZ (&)
For the Other Options Il granted to R-ZE——F+_A=+—
Hanergy Investment Limited on 31 H# T Hanergy Investment
December 2012, the exercise periods are Limited <z EAbfEREI 2
as follows: TTEHALR
Number of options
Exercisable period 17158 BRESE
31 December 2012 to 31 December 2017 —ZE——F+-A=+—H%
—T—tF+ZA=1T—H 300,000
31 December 2013 to 31 December 2017 Z—ZE—=%+-A=1+—HB%
—E—+F+-A=1+—H 150,000
31 December 2014 to 31 December 2017 Z—Z—ME+-A=+—H%
—E—+&+=ZA=1+—H 150,000
600,000

The following table summarises the
movement of the Other Options III during

TR b B AR RE 111 R
N2 28

the year:
2013 2012
—g-=F i k2
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price WUl exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR mE BRmE
FHTEE BREHE FOTEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT Fi BT FiE
At 1 January R—A—AH 0.25 600,000 — —
Granted during the year F R - - 0.25 600,000
Exercised during the ~ ER{TIE
year 0.25 (258,400) — —
Expired during the year ER/E i - - — —
Rt=A
At 31 December =+—H 0.25 341,600 0.25 600,000
The weighted average share price at the FABITEERERITER
date of exercise for share options exercised HzmETFAORERER
during the year was HK$0.25 per share. 0.25 7T °
—2-=4#%# ANNUAL REPORT 2013

233



(c) Other share options (continued)

iii)

Other Options Il (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of
the Other Options Ill outstanding as at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Number of options

BREHA

31 December

+=RA=+—H
2012 Exercise price*
—T——F TEE*
‘000  HKS$ per share
T3 BT
41,600 300,000 0.25
150,000 150,000 0.25
150,000 150,000 0.25

341,600 600,000
* The exercise price of the share options is

subject to adjustment in the case of rights
on bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.

(c) HttiER#E(E)
Hithg a1 11 ()

R R R AT (B 2 B
R PR 111 2 171 18 12 47 45 3
m -

iii)

Exercise period

1T

31 December 2012 to 31 December 2017

T HF+ZA=+THEZFT—LF
+=ZA=+—H

31 December 2013 to 31 December 2017

—E-=F+-A=+—BRE-FT—tF
+=—A=+—8

31 December 2014 to 31 December 2017

—E-NFE+ZA=t+—REZFT—tF
+=ZA=+—8

* BREZTEETRAR
RARARTRA LB
fAR IR B (B -



(c) Other share options (continued)

The following table summarises the movements

of the Hanergy Options, Other Options Il and

Other Options Il during the year:

Outstanding at
1 January 2012
Granted
Exercised
Expired

Outstanding at 31
December 2012
Granted
Exercised
Expired

Outstanding at
31 December 2013

RZE——F+=A
=t+—BHEKRITE
BE
BATfE
B

(c) HftiERuE(E)

TREMEEBRE - H AR
I R E AR R F R BE

R_F—=Ft+t-A=+—~H

R AR TE

Weighted

Share average
options exercise
outstanding price
RITHE n#EFEH
MR TEE
‘000 HK$

F15 T
1,300,000 0.17
600,000 0.25
1,900,000 0.19
(1,179,385) 0.185
720,615 0.21



(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and

the movements therein for the current year

are presented in the consolidated statement

of changes in equity on pages 114 of the

consolidated financial statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents an
amount equivalent to the par value of the
ordinary shares cancelled as a result of the
share repurchase.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, a portion of the
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in the
PRC has been transferred to the reserve

funds which are restricted to use.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus arose from the
capital reorganisation in prior years.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair
value of share options granted which are
yet to be exercised, as further explained
in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the consolidated
financial statements. The amount will be
transferred either to the share premium
account when the related options are
exercised, or retained profits should the
related options expire or lapse.

(a)

rE

=L

AEEREFEZ B ERLS
PENGAMBRES 14EZE
ARBBHE -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

EXEE#E

BEABEOREZ2BENEA
{0 R 1= 1 &t 86 2 & i AR
-

#EE

Rz BRBEG KRR
ARRAZHEMERRZE
2 M E B E ARG RS
ZEEE -

EHEG

ERBRDEEANBEFE
ZEAREM -

BRERE

EhERBEEACRLER
TEZBREZAFE R
RAaPBHRERME246 0
Bz et MRE—F
Mt - Ze BB REEER
RETERSREERMDEE
AR SR A R R A FE T S
RURSERERTEH



(b) Company (b) AT

Convertible
Share Capital Bonds Share
premium  redemption  Contributed equity option  Accumulated
account reserve surplus* ~ reserve reserve losses Total
LS THRE

RiERE  BRER  RERR: GREGR  BREGR  Z0ER it
HKSOD0  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKSOOD  HKSOMD  HKSOOD
7Ar  fét TR TEr  FEt  TEr TEt

At 1 January 2012 W-E-ZE-B-H 7,107,964 7,600 262432 895,685 24,000 (062,061) 7,735,620
Total comprehensive loss for the year KERRAFELE - - - - — (3941 (89.451)

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 noE-cf
TZR=1-AR
e 7,107,964 7600 262432 895685 20000 (651512) 7,646,169

Subscrition of shares BE 1,634,631 = = = = — 163631
Exercise of share options fEERE 200540 - - - (343 - 07103
Transaction with owners BERALRS 1,855,171 - - - (3,437) - 185073
Total comprehensive loss for the year KEERAFRLE - - - - — (59285 (59,285)
At 31 December 2013 WZB-ZE+2A=T-0 896313 7,600 262,432 895,685 20,563 (7110,797) 9,438,618
g Contributed surplus arose from the excess of * BHRRTIEERFTIKERE R
the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired AIRREE R AT A Q&R
over the nominal value of the Company's shares HEZEZHERBAIFECERE

issued and capital reorganisation in prior years. 4 o



During the year ended 31 December 2013, the

Company completed the following acquisitions:

31.1 Asset acquisitions

(a)

MLH Phase 3, LLC

On 31 July 2013, HGSG-NA Land Power
1, LLC ("HGSG-NA"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in
Delaware, the United States, acquired the
entire outstanding membership interest in
MLH Phase 3, LLC ("MLH") from SYBAC
Solar, LLC (“Sybac”), an unrelated third
party. The purchase price was US$25,000.

MLH was incorporated in Florida, the
United States. MLH owns certain rights
and interests comprising a 1,050 KW
Direct-Current solar photovaltaic electric
generating facility which is being developed
in the City of Gainsville, County of Alachua,
State of Florida, the United States.

As of the acquisition date, the directors
of the Company have decided to sell
the underlying solar photovaltic electric
generating facility, and the assets, liabilities
and results of MLH were included in the
Build and Sell segment.

As of the acquisition date, the underlying
solar photovoltaic electric generating
facility was not capable of being
conducted and managed as a business to
generate revenue. As such, the Company
determined that the acquisition of MLH did
not constitute a business combination for
accounting purpose.

E-T-ZF+-AS+—HILF
g ARAERATREEE -

31.1 EEWESE
(a) MLH Phase 3, LLC

R—_EBE—=F+A=+—
H ' HGSG-NA Land Power
1, LLC ([HGSG-NA] » AR
a7 = B = g M R AR S
ZEEWBAR)MIERHEE
% = 77SYBAC Solar, LLC
([Sybac]) U 8& MLH Phase
3, LLC(TMLH]) z & &8 %
IeE#ms  BEEAR
25,000%7T °

MLH 74 35 B {7 78 B2 i N s
S e MLHEE B R EE 628
B # M Alachua &f Gainsville
M 21,00 F L E R
RIGee R RBEERE2H T
TR R Fzs o

RKBES  XRARERD
RIE HEHRBE KGN E
TR MMLHZEE - 8
BEREET G AREMHEE

-
pay i

RUHE B8 - HEEKFSRE
REBEERMERREETRIE
REBEBUNEERA °
o ARBREF G B A
mE - Y MLH I Tk 2
Bast-



31.1 Asset acquisitions (continued)

(a)

(b)

MLH Phase 3, LLC (continued)

Additionally, Sybac and MLH entered
into an engineering, procurement and
construction agreement dated 31 July
2013 (hereinafter referred to as "EPC
Agreement”) whereby MLH engaged Sybac
to perform all the work for the design,
engineering, procurement, startup and
commissioning of the Project. Under the
terms of the EPC Agreement, MLH agreed
to pay Sybac a sum of US$3,058,000 as
set forth in the EPC Agreement. To further
secure the Company’s payments of the
sum due and the payment schedule under
the EPC Agreement, the Company pledged
its 100% ownership interest in MLH to and
for the benefit of Sybac on 31 July 2013.
After the completion of the first phase of
the development, on 22 November 2013,
MLH has commenced into trail operation
and generated electricity.

Columbia Solar Energy, LLC

On 25 November 2013, HGSG-NA acquired
the entire equity interest in Columbia
Solar Energy, LLC (“Columbia Solar”)
from LSP Generation Holdings, LLC
(“LSP"),
consideration consisted of a cash payment
of purchase price of US$12,000,000 and
a cash payment to LSP of US$1,476,000
to reimburse the credit support provided

an unrelated third party. The

by LSP for negotiation of entering power
purchase agreement and smaller generator
interconnection agreement with other
parties.

311 BERBBEE)

(a)

(b)

MLH Phase 3, LLC (&)

k4N » Sybac EEMLH A =&
—=FtA=+—HFxI
B HEBEE&BR(TX
B ABIEPCH & D) » Bt
MLH B &8 Sybac #1T7FTE
BRI KB K
Bz TERELZIER - B
B EPC & 2 &K + MLH[A
= W Sybac X EPC# 7% FT
& 2 3} TH 42 58 3,058,000 3
T BRE—FTREADNAX
5B 2 4258 R AR 5 EPC #
FRBRER  AAFE
RZZE—=FtHA=+—H
A Sybac & LA Sybac & % #§
}\TEHEﬁEEAMLHZ B
Bz - FBERAET
K& RZT—=F+—A
—+-H MLHEERRRE
WEAES -

Columbia Solar Energy,
LLC

RZZE—=%F+—A8 _‘i—ﬂ
H > HGSG-NAT[A 3F B8 &
% = 7 LSP Generation

Holdings, LLC(ILSP]) &
88 Columbia Solar Energy,
LLC ([ Columbia Solar]) Z
2HRE- EEBEEA
8 2 3 & 1 512,000,000
ERLEMLSPE 2R &
1,476,000 % 7T+ Jh X - A
BELSPREEMIFTEILE
TR R RN B B4
BEETEAMRHEZEE
XE o



31.1 Asset acquisitions (continued)

(b)

Columbia Solar Energy, LLC (continued)

Columbia Solar is a company incorporated
in Delaware, the United States, and is
in the course of developing a 19 Mega
Watt ("MW?") Alternating-Current solar
photovoltaic electric generating facility in
Pittsburg, California, the United States,
Columbia Solar has signed a power
purchase agreement to sell 100% of the
electricity generated from the Project
over a contract term of at least 20 years.
The facility is expected to commence
operations approximately in November
2014.

As of the acquisition date, the directors
of the Company have decided to sell
the underlying solar photovaltaic electric
generating facility, and the assets, liabilities
and results of Columbia Solar were
included in the Build and Sell segment.

As of the acquisition date, the underlying
solar photovoltaic electric generating
facility was not capable of being
conducted and managed as a business to
generate revenue. As such, the Company
determined that the acquisition of Columbia
Solar did not constitute a business
combination for accounting purpose.

31.1 BEWBEE(E)
(b) Columbia Solar Energy,

LLC

Columbia Solar &R EEI{E
NEMNFEMKZ 2 AT I
1E 37T R0 3 B AN N UT 2% R Bt
198 8 B H(IMW]) &
MEABGRE KRB ERNE -
Columbia Solar 2% E R
BBAWmZE NIHEB8ZER
EEXz2HEH ARHAE
B 204 o AR HETEEAAE LY
RZT—MFE+—AIRE -

REERE - ARAFESE
RIS MR R[S RE e IR 3
BT 0 i Columbia Solar
ZEE - BEREAEDFA
EMIHE DL -

N =R R PN L=
REERBAREETRIER
E¥BEEUNELERA -
b ARRRREREETE R
s » YW Columbia Solar
W BB ERE O o



31.2 Business combination

Solibro Research AB

Solibro Research AB (“SRAB”) is principally
engaged in the research and development of
Copper Indium Gallium Selenide (“CIGS”) thin
film technologies based in Sweden.

On 2 September 2013, Apollo Kunming, a
100% wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired the entire interest in SRAB from
Hanergy Holding. The total purchase price was
RMB80,000,000 (HK$101,751,000). The assets
acquired and liabilities assumed by the Company
were recorded at their carrying values as of 2
September 2013 as in the books of Hanergy
Affiliates. The difference between net assets
acquired and the consideration paid to Hanergy
Affiliates was adjusted in retained earnings as
a deemed distribution to Hanergy Affiliates. In
addition, the results of operations of SRAB have
been included in the Company's consolidated
financial statements since the Company and
SRAB became under common control by
Hanergy Holding on 27 February 2013, when
Hanergy Affiliates completed the 2010 First
Subscription and 2011 First Subscription and
became the controlling shareholder of the
Company (note 1).

31.2 £¥%E6t

Solibro Research AB

Solibro Research AB([SRABJ)
AR BV A - = B ERIAE
W ([ CIGS )BT 2 1 3% -

RZFE—=FNA=ZH " ARQ7A
Z2E2EWNB AR ERNEGMERE
TR BESRABZ 2 325 - 4
B A B A A K #80,000,000 T
(101,751,000 7T ) ° AR A FTUL
BREEZBERABRENZE
—=FNAZHREEBBARZ
SR AT R 2 B BRE(E SR - I
BEFEMEERBEB ARSI ZIE
Bz EZBERNREBRFCHR BRE
DR TIELEB AT o I B
KARIKRSRABR=ZE—=F—A
—t+tEB(REEBB AR TK =
T-ETFE-EHRBESFEK_ZT
——FE-HRBEERKXALTA
Al Z IR R ) RE B IE IR H A
PEHl1% - SRABZ B EHEEDFTA
RAT 2R E TRz (FIsE1) -



31.2 Business combination (continued)

Solibro Research AB (continued)

SRAB was originally 100% wholly owned by
Solibro GmbH (“Solibro”) before it was acquired
and controlled by Hanergy Holding. Hanergy
Holding, through its certain subsidiaries,
acquired the entire equity interest in Solibro
together with SRAB from an unrelated third
party and assumed the outstanding indebtedness
owed by Solibro to the then shareholder on 25
September 2012. The acquisition consideration
was EUR12,605,000. Subsequently on 16 July
2013, Hanergy Holding and Solibro entered
into a share purchase agreement, pursuant
to which Hanergy Holding purchased a 100%
equity interest in SRAB from Solibro. On the
completion of the transaction, Hanergy Holding

became the immediate parent of SRAB.

The following table summarises the fair values

31.2

EREo(E)
Solibro Research AB (#)

MR SRAB X £ 88 15 ik W BE K iZ
%l A1 - H JR i Solibro GmbH
([Solibro])100% &= & & - &
EEREREE THEARER
SRABRZ-ZE——FNhA=-+HH
[ FERE E 5 = 77 W B8 Solibro 2 &
B Az - LA Ko HE Solibro &5 R E
RIRR s REEER - WHEEE
412,605,000 c - BERN =

—=FtA+8 " EeEpgs
Solibro T Z B AX thh % - Rt - &
BE 7= i% 11 Solibro B8 A SRAB 2 BT

ERHE - PR P TR - SEREIERR
K& SRAB 2 B & A A
TR R ERRA T — =5

of assets and liabilities of SRAB when Hanergy A= —H:_LEléu\T %US AB R
Holding first controlled SRAB on 25 September BEMBEZAFE:
2012:
HK$'000
FEIT
Property, plant and equipment R Y 11,779
Intangible assets mEE 21,858
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A fE IR 72,908
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEY 654
Other current assets Hfhmeh&EE 3,040
Current liabilities mEAaE (26,371)
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEEE (4,809)
Fair value recognised by Hanergy Holding BRI ER 2 AFE 79,059
Purchase price paid to unrelated third party MIEEEE = AN Z2BAE (78,779)
Gain on bargain purchase recognised by EReiER  EEEE s
Hanergy Holding 280



31.2 Business combination (continued)
Solibro Research AB (continued)

The valuation is based on the valuation results
prepared by the Hanergy Holding's directors
using the income based approach by estimating
the future economic benefits and discounting
these benefits into present value using a
discount rate appropriate for the risks associated
with realising those benefits.

As of 2 September 2013, the deemed
distribution to Hanergy Holding upon the
acquisition of SRAB by the Company was
determined as follows:

Consideration paid by the Company to Hanergy
Holding

Dividend paid by SRAB to Hanergy Holding
before the Company’s acquisition

31.2 ¥KE6:(&)
Solibro Research AB (#)

HERBERERZESHREZG
BER  RAARARER 2 TE
ERFRRE BNz - SWRABERZ
% M 25 4E R 2 B i A 2 B3R R B
RzENmERE -

R-ZZE—=FNAA-H  BXRF
YeBE SRABIRIR1E D Ik TR BEETE
LI

Less: Consideration paid by Hanergy Holding  J&f - JE 8tk A & = 7 IR X 1+t

to third party shareholders

Less: Operating results of SRAB between 25  J& - SRABR=_ZE——F 1A

September 2012 to and 27 February
2013, when the Company and SRAB
became under common control of
Hanergy Holding

Deemed distribution as of 2 September 2013

HK$'000
FET
Al MERIER TS 2 BB
101,751
A BB AT SRAB [RI)Z 42
DIk Z B 48,520
ZAEE 78,779
—thEE-E—=%
—A-t++tB(XRRAF K
SRAB H/& R 58 i% 2[R 2 )
Z HARE) SRAB 2 &R & ¥ 148 (4,089)
“E—=ZFNA-HZBESIK 75,581



(a)

Operating lease commitments
As lessee

The Group leases a number of properties,
warehouses and equipment under operating
leases, with leases negotiated for an initial
period of three months to five years, with an
option to renew the lease and renegotiate the
terms at the expiry dates or at dates as mutually
agreed between the Group and the respective
landlords. None of the leases include contingent
rental.

At 31 December 2013, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

(a)

E_ENhF(REEEMF)

F_ELF(BHEEREMF)

REREARE
ERABA

AEERELKEZHEERETY
¥ RELFE HEVZAH=
BEAZREF  AEERBNEME
AgASEEEAETEIREL
REMENEMERGSK - ZEFHE
BT ERAEE -

K=T—=%#+=A=+—8 &
5 8RR A AUR R A S
& 2 R IRIEH & IR T 518
R

Group
A%E
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET
45,191 15,121
57,040 5,749
102,231 20,870
Company
/N
2012
—E——F
HK$'000
FET
13,982 6,884
14,659 5,736
28,641 12,620
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32. OPERATING COMMITMENTS (Continued) 32. REHEAE®R)

(b) Other Commitments (b) H i
At 31 December 2013, the Group had total other RZE—=F+=-A=+—H &
commitments of HK$3,202,172,000 (2012: Nil) SEARBEEEXRKBEER (R
under the non-cancellable contracts to build FERER)TNAREA 2 Hib
the photovoltaic power generation projects Y& 42 583,202,172,0007% T( =
capitalised in the inventories. T—_F |
33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EXREIE
Group
AEME

2013 2012
TE-CF i
HK$’000 HK$°000

FHET FET
Acquisition of items of property, WEEmZE - BE
plant and equipment FAIEE
— Contracted, but not provided for ~ — DETAVEREE 8,215 17,460

— Authorised, but not contracted for — B HEERETA — —

8,215 17,460

—ZF-=#4#% ANNUAL REPORT 2013 245



A g A

In addition to the transactions and balances (a) %%Etj/“mmﬁj%ﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁ
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated il LR mensh - ARERT
etalle REEEHBARETU TEAR
financial statements, the Group had the 5 e

following material transactions with Hanergy
Affiliates during the year.

Group
AEH
2012
B
Notes HK$'000
izt FET
Manufacturing of turnkey BUERELER
production lines (i) 3,243,704 2,756,463
Rental expense Hem (ii) 4,849 2,744
Equipment lease expense BREHERY (iii) 20,682 16,473
Technology usage fee expense KA &R (iv) 29,597 28,761
Purchase of photovoltaic modules — #EE& Y (A48 14 (v) 1,896,573 —
Sales of spare parts $HE T I (vi) 3,970 —
Provision of research and IRt R A B AR TS
development service and the VAR {58 A B AT 2

right to use patented technology  #EF (vii) 30,721 —



(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The revenue from the sales of equipment and
turnkey production lines was receivable from
Hanergy Affiliates. The sales were made in
accordance with the terms as stipulated in the
relevant sales contracts.

Rental expense represents the rental of
office premises, factory premises and staff
dormitory by Fujian Apollo, an indirect wholly-
own subsidiary of the Company, from Sichuan
Hanergy.

Equipment lease expense represents the rental
of a production line by Fujian Apollo from
Sichuan Hanergy.

Technology usage fee expense means the usage
of relevant equipment, material and facilities by
Fujian Apollo from Sichuan Hanergy to carry out
research on thin-film solar energy technology
development.

Purchase of photovoltaic modules was from
Hanergy Holding and Hanergy Global Investment
& Sales for the construction of the downstream
photovoltaic power generation projects.

The income was arising from the sales of spare
parts of turnkey equipment, tools and machinery
of solar photo voltaic modules production system
by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy Affiliates at price
arrived at after arm’s length negotiation.

The income was arising from the provision
of research and development service and the
royalty income to grant access to patented
technology by SRAB from Solibro.

The transactions were performed in the ordinary and

usual course of business of the Company.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

4H*
[ M

SHE R ﬁﬁﬁkﬁiﬁi&z%)\)}
FEMR B R B AT - SHE IR
BRREE SR G
5 0

HEeRXEART ZBEZEK
B RRERAG ) EEE A
MNP ISR ETIRES
ZHE e

REEEFRIERZAB R M)
EEEHRAERCES

AT A B X R 2 5 (E A
PJIERE 2 ERE R - MR RR
e - AETTERARS B Z SAMTF
BRI -

1) 5% 8t ¥ B & Hanergy Global
Investment & Sales B A ¢ iK4H
HUER T A RBEBIEE -

Hﬂl)\ﬁé%ﬁﬁfﬂﬁ%?ﬁ/&ﬂ?%ﬁ‘i
?&Zfﬁﬁﬁé‘;az SEREBAKN

tREGEERSZEER
1%%%51# C TARMREEMESL

REMERABERSE K
Solibro # F SRABff A H #l
ME A 2 EFIWA -

;KEﬂZE%&*ﬁ%



(b)

Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

(ii)

On 2 September 2013, three of the
Company’'s PRC subsidiaries and Hanergy
Holding entered into an intellectual property
("IP") acquisition agreement, pursuant to
which the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
conditionally agreed to purchase and
Hanergy Holding conditionally agreed to
sell the assigned IP, being all the CIGS
thin film solar technologies developed
by Solibro,
subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, comprising

an indirectly wholly-owned

1 listed patent and 25 listed applications,
at the consideration of RMB200,000,000
(equivalent to
HK$252,000,000).

approximately

On 18 September 2013, the Subsidiaries
and Hanergy Holding entered into an IP
acquisition agreement, pursuant to which
the Subsidiaries conditionally agreed to
purchase and Hanergy Holding conditionally
agreed to sell the assigned IP, being all
the CIGS thin film solar technologies
developed by MiaSolé, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hanergy Holding,
comprising any technical and non-technical
information related to the development
and manufacture of CIGS thin film solar
33 listed patents and 125
listed applications at the consideration
of RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$444,500,000)

modules,

&

HREATHETIRS

R-ZFB—=FAA=H' =
AR A BB AR BEE
BETR AR AT L AN A A (A0 3%
EEDWERZ B K
NGl =N PR PSS
B R E RZEIER A K
HEE L EEE RN B EE
(BNEgeER o HEZEN
B X Al SolibroM % 2 FT A
CIGSHBRE A& &

A

FI1EEEERN - 26IHF %
BEFEAFE) EFEAARE

200,000,000 7T (#8 & % &

252,000,000 7T) ©

E/\\ T—=FAA+NB "
ZEMBRAREZERITR
ETM%DE%E%H&E%WE& &
b % EHB AR ARG
FEEE RERERE &
Hh B B S T A ol A
(BPEee i 2 2B K
B A A MiaSolé 3% 2 i A
CIGSEIE KIS aE 1T - 81
£ o) 5 B8 59 3% R &L ¥ CIGS
SE IR KBS e 48 1 2 BT ME 2
JERMTMER - BIEEEE
125 EEREFE)
{8 A A K ¥ 350,000,000
JT (B ZE R 49444,500,000 7%
TT) °



(b)

(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

On 8 October 2013, Global Solar Energy,
INC (“"Global Solar”), a subsidiary of
Hanergy Holding, entered an agreement
with Hanergy Hi-Tech, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, for the right
to license Global Solar's 61 CIGS thin
film solar patents and technical knowhow
("Global Solar IP"”) for one year starting
from 8 October 2013 for a consideration of
US$1.

On 11
Tech (HK), an indirect subsidiary of the

December 2013, Hanergy Hi-

Company, and Global Solar, an indirect
subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, entered into
an intellectual property rights assignment
agreement pursuant to which Global Solar
agreed to assign and Hanergy Hi-Tech (HK)
agreed to acquire the Global Solar IP at
the consideration of US$1 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7.75) upon and subject
to the terms and conditions.

(%)

(i)

(iv)

RZZE—=F+ANH"
2 BE 12 iR 2 [t B A F] Global
Solar Energy, INC ([ Global
Solar]) R R 7] & & M B
A @lHanergy Hi-Tech#] iZ
W% -+ BT Al £ A Global
Solar Z 6138 CIGS B R K [5
88 B A I £ fir &0 3% ([ Global
SolarIBEE]) BH-F
—=F+AN\BRAEH—
FEER1ZET -

RZE—Z=ZF+=ZA+—
H ' Hanergy Hi-Tech (HK)
(KRR HENBAR)H
Global Solar (% 125 1% 2 A
BB AR ET M AR ERE
EinE o Bl BRBEXRR
A TE HARBR T + Global
Solar[@ Z H # K& Hanergy
Hi-Tech (HK)R & %
Global Solar %1% = # - E
BAR1ETEERDNT7.75%
JT) °



(c) Details of compensation of key management
personnel of the Group are set out in note 13 to
the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)
and (b) above also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations and in its investment activities. The
financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk and interest risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group’s headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group's short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure
to financial markets. Long term financial investments
are managed to generate lasting returns with
acceptable risk levels.

It is not the Group's policy to actively engage in
the trading of financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The Group’s senior management works
under the policies approved by the board of directors.
It identifies ways to access financial markets and
monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures. Regular
reports are provided to the board of directors.

(c) AEEFEEEEFHMFEHNE
BRKRMEE13 -

BRALMEFE @BEROBEZBEALR
SIEK ETRAE14AERATEZ B

AEEBENEAREEBENERE
mBRERR T AMEYMEER -
81 75 B B B ¥R TH 55 R B (B2 348 51 I L Bz
ENERER)  EERBREREHE SR

G o
2

BHRREEETRENKE AT B
VTREFSEEZAE - BREZUBERAR
BEEENETFRREAREEHETH
ZBER 0 R B S RO
ERE - EAERXEARKFEAR - EEE
HIM IR EAEL R AL -

TH2EREUEEZERT AR ZAI
AEBZEEK - AKREZEREEER
EZeECBETIE BEFGSR
MERERAEEERER A I
MESSRHETHRS



Foreign currency risk

(i)

(ii)

Transactions in foreign currencies and the
Group’s risk management policies

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group's exposures
to currency risk arise from its sales and
purchases, which are primarily denominated in
RMB and United States dollars (“US$"”), other
than the functional currencies of the Group
entities to which these transactions relate.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure
regularly. No hedging or other alternatives have
been implemented during the year.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Summary of exposure

Foreign currency denominated financial assets
and liabilities, translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing rates, are as follows:

Trade and other B 5 NEAM

receivables FE W SR IE 4,162,291
Cash and bank He MIRTT

balances ey 9,572
Trade and other B 5 MEAM

payables FET5RIE (798)
Gross exposure BT

arising from BE/(AafF)

recognised financial EEZ

assets/(liabilities) [\ B 42 5 4,171,065

S B

(i)

(if)

SMER G RA KB 2 e R

ERRERIEANEREHEHDH
TRAZAFHEIAKRRZREHR
KB ZRERR - AEEEE 2 BB
frREHEEZUAREEET(E
TDFHEZEE - WEEB WIS
R ER G2 AEEER 2R
M o

AEEE SR HINERRR - £
W EAETEPRE ML HE -

SNERBREEBRNEERE B
MASELA  BRBA/1TZAE
R o

mEHE

PONEFHEZ EREERBBERE
MEXRBE BTN

2012

—E——F
US$ RMB
ETT AR
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
- 3,764,420 —
506 17,709 2,317
(2,503) (269) (17,537)
(1,997) 3,781,860 (15,220)



Foreign currency risk (continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity at
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the exchange rates of foreign
currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant operating units. The rates are
used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s best assessment of
the change in foreign currency exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group's
exposure to foreign currency risk at the end
of the reporting period has been performed
based on the assumed percentage changes in
foreign currency exchange rates taking place
at the beginning of the financial year and the
assumption that such changes held constant
throughout the year. All other variables are held
constant.

Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against RMB

Profit for the year and ZANEEHF &

retained profits B 15w A 185,612

HhEEE B (42 )
(iii) SEE 5 W

TR RS R IME (R EE
BluzheERERINES 518
AR  GURE - LEX /AT E
BIE A B AEE2 B|INE R AT A
2 - WAEIEEHINEERR]
REE B 2 REERTMS -

RIBEEA - AEBAELINEE

2 R ST T BRSNS B
BYE 5 BB B S B
RIS BH R B A 1S TR TR 1T -
GRS SV RS R

ETHARET B (B21E)

2012
—E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
+5% (-5 o/o)
5% (B 5%)

(185,612) 160,729 (160,729)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against HK$

351

HK$°000

FETT
+1%
H1%

Profit for the year and ZANEZ & &
retained profits BB 15 m A

BEREREEEERBE#)

SN RLBR (F)
(iii) BREEDH (&)
ET i ETHE (B2 1E)

2012
—E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT FHEIT

(-1%) +1% (-1%)

(% 1%) F1% (%1%)

Appreciation/(depreciation) in RMB against HK$

AR ETIE - (B21E)

2013 2012

—g—=

HK$000

FET
+5%
H5%

Profit for the year and ZANEEHM &
retained profits B1F 7

(89)

= —E——F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET FET
(-5%) +5% (-5%)
(B 5%) 5% (B5%)

89 (646) 646

Exposures to foreign exchange rates varied
during the year depending on the volume of
overseas transactions. Nevertheless, the analysis
above is considered to be representative of the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk.

SN IE R R RN FAREEINR S

Al RBRA SR B 2 SN R

T =443k ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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Interest rate risk

(i)

(ii)

Exposures to interest rate risk and the
Group’s risk management policies

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’'s interest rate risk arises
primarily from cash and bank balances. Other
financial assets and financial liabilities are non-
interest-bearing and are measured at amortised
cost.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of
the Group’'s and the Company's profit for the
year and equity to a possible change in interest
rates of +/-560 basis points (2012: +/-50 basis
points), with effect from the beginning of the
year. The calculation is based on the Group's
and the Company’s amount of cash and bank
balances during the year. All other variables are
held constant.

Group

Profit for the year and ZANEE &M &

retained profits BB 15 Al

4,369

MRE R

(i)

(i)

T m A R A K2 B &
B

FERBRIESCHRIAZ ATFERE
T 8 B T IS ) R U T 3R R &
Z R o RNEEZF R E R EZ R
BReRIRITHET - HEtEREE
RemaENnTE e - WREHK
AETE -

BEDH

TREBEFONE - AEERAR
7] 2 N4 &g ) e A i 6 = A]
BEHER +/-50EE (T — — % :
+/-60 £ F) BE) 2 BURE - BRAE
BINAEERARBARERNZE
ERRITEFSER/ER - FIAH
AR IEE

KEE
2012
—T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
+50 basis -50 basis
points points
+50 E2f 50 X2
(4,369) 2,922 (2,922)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. MKEREEEERBEK®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) Fl = @B ()
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued) (i) BBESH(E)
Company N |

2013 2012
—E—= —EF——4F
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
+50 basis ~at sl +50 basis -50 basis
points points points points

+50E % GOEE, +50 E 2 -50 E 2

Profit for the year and ZRFEE i F &
retained profits BiFaF 116 (116) 18 (18)

Rk 2 BRI B HEBERTIR
BERAABZEE  LAEREY
BT ER SRR RFIE 2 &
R T -

The assumed changes in interest rates
are considered to be reasonable based on
observation of current market conditions and
represent the management’s assessment of
reasonable change in interest rates over the
period until the end of the next reporting period.
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Credit risk

(i)

(ii)

Summary of exposures

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
counterparty to a financial instrument would fail
to discharge its obligation under the terms of the
financial instrument and cause a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’'s exposure to credit risk
mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations and its
investing activities.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, arises
from the default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables is disclosed in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s policy is to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. Credit terms
are granted to new customers after a
creditworthiness assessment. When considered
appropriate, customers may be requested to
provide proof as to their financial position.

Customers who are not considered creditworthy
are required to pay in advance or on delivery
of goods. Payment records of customers are
closely monitored. Overdue balances and
significant trade receivables are highlighted. The
directors will determine the appropriate recovery
actions. It is not the Group’s policy to request
collateral from its customers.

FERRE

(i)

(ii)

mEHE

EEREESRITAZHT KRR
ERTAZGHRETERE X8
BAKESESMHERZ AR - K
SEZEERRIERERERT
LEBEMNEREBEEHTETER

aH °

AEEEpERMEE(BRREENM
ReEHEY BHREMEBUK
R)ZEERRKREETELY &
SRERAEFNZEFLAZERE -

ERASEELBE S RAMER
RBEZEERRZE-FTENLEE
ARG B TS ¥R A & 20 5% -

EREERBEREE

AEBZBRRBEREFERF Y
HETRS BTHEPZEE
HREEFHRERL - WRRE
& BPAIMREREHRMBIR 2

Ee -

R REENMEZEPARNKIA
HR BT o 5P Z 1 KAk
ETIER - ARERREAES
REHRZER EFHETHEEE
WiTE) - AEBZBERAERER
FieftEfm -



Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered
negligible as the counterparties are reputable
banks and securities brokers.

The credit policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered
to have been effective in limiting the Group's
exposure to credit risk to a reasonable level.

Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade and other receivables was
HK$2,303,734,000 (2012: HK$782,321,000)
due from customers under common control
with Hanergy Holding, which represented
100%) of total
account receivables from customers at the end

approximately 100% (2012:

of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company believe that
impairment allowance is adequate in respect of
such balance as the customer had a good track
record of settlements during the current year
and prior year.

FERRE)
(i) EEBEZERBERKEE)

(iii)

HREH AEERNT ZRITRE
L WRBES 2 EERBER
y =Y

EEBREBTHFEE —BERLS
BEn A BWRBRITZBN B
SEEE 2 EER BRI IEK

FEEBEES

H 5 & H Ath FE Y5k IE 2,303,734,000
BIL(ZZ— 4 : 782,321,000/
T BREEKREF(HZEITERE
EZES]) I8 - (HHE R 2 K

BEPRFATEL100% (ZE—=
F:100%) °
AAREEHEE  ARBEERAF

REFHHER RIFEELE - 5L
RER/BETIR ZBERBRRE -



Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables, and
also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate level
of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.

Analysed below is the remaining contractual maturity
for the Group's and the Company’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled,
the liability is included on the basis of the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments,
each instalment is allocated to the earliest period in
which the Group is committed to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based
on the undiscounted cash flows in the financial

statements:

Group
2013

Trade and other &5 K EHfh

payables FETFIR 109,652 419,837
Interest- HMstEEE

bearing other

borrowings - 184,905
Convertible AR EFH

Bonds - -

109,652 604,742

RBES®E M

nBESREBRTEASERERTER
BEMNBAETZARARH AKETE
BEFRNFEBEURERECREEE S
HARERBDECRAR AKEZBEER
MTEECRBEEKRKERAHRESR
B UENEEREMZRBEESS

& o

AT RRAKERARRRBERRZ
FITESRABZNBAREEA - B
BNEAREARERN R ZZEBH
RRAC EERATEESATREBZA
H-BEREUIEHIAES  AIgOH
TR EEREEAGEN R Z PR -

AT EREIED T IRE BHRE 2K
BRIRIR S MEIET -

E3 .
—g-=
146,316 43,291 719,096
245 — 185,150
847,530 — 847,530

994,091 43,291 1,751,776
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. MBEKREEEERBEKZ)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRME)
Group (continued) rEH(E)
2012 ZE—ZF
On  Less than 6to 12 1tob
demand 6 months months years Total
RERE LR6@EA 6xE12@A 1E5%F a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

Trade and other B5 K Hfh

payables FEAT3RIE 2,115 590,733 54,086 32,629 679,563
Convertible AR (E 5
Bonds — — 847,530 — 847,530
2,115 590,733 901,616 32,629 1,527,093
Company P AT |
2013 —E2-=F

On Less than 6 to 12 1to 5
demand 6 months months years Total

RERE 2LHR6EA 6E121@A 1&E54 =5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET FHET FHET FRET

Due to FEAST BT BB A ) 158,911 — - — 158,911
subsidiaries KIE
Other payables  E b fEfF I8 16,863 — — — 16,863
Convertible AR E
Bonds — — 847,530 — 847,530
Subtotal 208 175,774 - 847,530 — 1,023,304

The maximum BB A A
amount of TERIRTT
the guarantee & RE M)
given to a bank  $RIT{EH

in connection BRZ&=

with facilities G- |

granted to a

subsidiary - - - - -
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Liquidity risk (continued)

Company (continued)

2012

Due to a
subsidiary

Convertible
Bonds

Subtotal

The maximum
amount of
the guarantee
given to a bank
in connection
with facilities
granted to a
subsidiary

NN
IR
RE:JiiEes

/J\E—|-

FhPH B A B
ERIRTT
BERM
RITIEH
BERZ&S
TH

On
demand
R E KA
HK$'000

FET

106,434

106,434

Less than
6 months
DR 61E A
HK$'000
FAET

RBESERGE)

AKRE(E)
—E—4F
6to 12
months
6= 121@AH
HK$'000
FHET

847,530

847,530

1tob
years
1854
HK$°000
FET

Total
A%t
HK$'000
FET

106,434

847,530

953,964
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. MKEREEEERBEK®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments SRMIAEZAFEEE
The following tablets illustrate the fair value TRMAAEESRTAZ ATV EF=
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial 218
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

Group

As at 31 December 2013:

Fair value measurement using
Lo EFEATRE
Quoted

prices  Significant  Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EFBEMSEL EBEATHRE EAFUERE

ZE PN WA

£ -t £t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Assets BE FET FHET FET

Equity investment at fair RN FEFIBENERZ
value through profit or =R E
loss (note 22) (Brit22) 11,698 - - 11,698
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Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
(continued)

Group (continued)

As at 31 December 2012:

Quoted

prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

EERmIEE

Z3R(E

F—1

HK$'000

Assets BE &
Equity investment at fair 1RAFEFIBENER

value through profit or 12518 &
loss (note 22) (BizE22) 4,480

Capital management

The Group's capital management objectives are
to ensure the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern and to provide an adequate return
to shareholders by pricing goods and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital
structure and makes adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions. The Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the debt to equity
ratio. For this purpose, debt includes total borrowings
excluding the Convertible Bonds. Equity includes
equity attributable to the owners of the parent. The
Group's goal in capital management is to maintain the
debt to equity ratio at a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting period
was 1% (2012: 0%).

EMIAZNFERE(E)

rEm(E)

RZE——F+=-A=+—A8":

Fair value measurement using

AT &R EAYE

Significant Significant
observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EARAHE EATAEHE
BA @A
FE_H F=% a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
= — 4,480
BEXER

AEBEZERNEERBRAERASESR
RAFBERE  YEBRERARKTEZ
EmER%RIE  REREHREHER

AEETIH TR EERARBEHE
BARAEBMELAE - AEEENE
EREE R REREEREE - 3t
i E - EHBEEERATRRESRINZ
BIEE - BREBEREE NS ARGRE
me AEECEAEEARRERER
FHEHRREEREGIBKT - BRI
ABZLE  AEBEAI BN TR
RZREEH - BITHRG - MRFR
BER BEFEERMEILEEEN
BIEET ©

RBMERR  BEXEELERR1% (ZF
——F:0%)-°



On 9 January 2014, BERE A EZEHREERERA
a] (Guangdong Southern Baota Investment Holding
Limited), a company established under the laws of
the PRC (the “Subscriber”) and the Company have
entered into the Subscription Agreement pursuant
to which the Subscriber will subscribe or procure its
designated subsidiary (who is independent of and
not connected with the Company and its connected
persons) to subscribe for, and the Company will allot
and issue to the Subscriber, 500,000,000 new Shares
to be allotted and issued under the subscription
(the “Subscription Shares”) for the Subscription
Shares by the Subscriber pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement at HK$0.82
per Subscription Share. The expiration date of the
contract is 10 March 2014 , which was extended to 9
April 2014 pursuant to a supplemental agreement.

On 17 January 2014, Hanergy Holding together
with the Company entered into loan agreement
with China Development Bank, pursuant to which
Hanergy Holding or the Company may draw down
less-than-1-year bank loan with maximum amount of
USD25,000,000. The purpose of the loan is finance
the working capital of the solar business. The loan
bears a floating interest rate equal to 6-month London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 350 basic
points. Up to 24 March 2014, USD7,781,000 has been
drawn down by the Company.

R_ZE—NFEF—AFhB - BREHRHE
BREEREABR AR (—RBIEREERE
B2 REN)([RER DEARNRE L
REWE Bt RESERELEE
HETWBRAR(EABLIRARA R
HBABEATERFESUEBE)RER
BHE2ERREHRERABRG
0.828LRME - MARAKIBERES
18 [7) 3R & 77 B % &% % 17 500,000,000 %
AR ([RERD ) AR B HRE -
BE#xHE cRZEMBA=ZZ
—E=A+H CEHE_FT—NF
MANR -

RZZT—ME—A++EH " ZeEER
ERARFEBRABRITEIZLER
Wk B SRR TR A R A AR
BN —F2RTER Tat®A
25,000,000% 7T - ERZ B®Z RAG
REBBRNEEES - ERUIRBAZENG6
& A fmBERTRZER S ([ HmBIRITR
FEIMIOEB ZIZEFE - HEZ
Z—OF=A=+MA  ARFERR
7,781,000 T ©



On 22 January 2014, the Group has entered into two
equipment sales contracts and two service contracts
(the "Caofeidian Contracts”), with Hebei Caofeidian
Hanergy Photovoltaic Co. Ltd. (“Hanergy Caofeidian”),
the assigned company by Hanergy Holding, for the
provision of a total 600MW CIGS thin film solar
manufacturing turnkey lines, of which consist of (i)
an equipment sales contract and a service contract to
apply the MiaSolé CIGS technology for a CIGS turnkey
line with capacity of 300MW,; and (ii) an equipment
sales contract and a service contract to apply the
Solibro CIGS technology for another CIGS turnkey line
with capacity of 300MW. The Caofeidian Contracts
are entered under the 2011 Sales Contracts. The total
contracts amounts are US$780,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,084,000,000).

On 9 February 2014, Hanergy Solar PV Application
UK Limited (“Hanergy Application UK”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Hanergy Global Investment and Sales Pte. Limited
(“Hanergy Global Investment and Sales”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Hanergy Holding entered
into a sale and purchase agreement. According to
the agreement, Hanergy Global Investment and Sales
agrees to sell and Hanergy Application UK agrees
to purchase (i) the entire issued share capital in
Hanergy Solar UK Limited (“Hanergy UK") a company
incorporated in England principally engaged in the
sale of thin-film solar photovoltaic equipment and
the provision of the relevant installation services in
England; and (ii) the shareholder loan of Hanergy
UK due to Hanergy Global Investment and Sales,
at a consideration of HK$1 upon and subject to the
terms and conditions of the agreement. The carrying
amount of the shareholder loan as at 31 December
2013 was GBP1,693,997 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,446,002).

R-E—WME—A-+—-H KEHH
BRI ZIEE AR B L AEE
RERAG(EGEEL@REHRE
600MW 2 CIGSE R XSGt B E £ E
BT UMOBEHEESRARMHOREE
E(ERaEaR])  8F()—HAEER
MiaSolé CIGS Hfiy - E§E % 300MW #Y
CIGSEEAER REHESR KRS
&R K (i) —13 &M Solibro CIGS £
fit ~ A 300MWHI S —ECIGSEE
SEBCRBHECRARRBEER - &
TEARRE T ——FHEARET
3 o #4 [F4 %84 780,000,000 37T (48
Z£ 2 476,084,000,00087T) °

RN -—Z — WM& = B A B - Hanergy
Solar PV Application UK Limited
([Hanergy Application UK] » /"R A A2
ME2EK B2 a) - Hanergy Global
Investment and Sales Pte. Limited
([Hanergy Global Investment and
Sales| ZREERCEEZEWB AR
ARV EE W&  BREBEZHELT
PR 7 3% 1 & B0 & 3R I I& 4 Hanergy
Global Investment and Sales A& &
i Hanergy Application UK[EZEEA (i)
Hanergy Solar UK Limited ([Hanergy
UKDBEHEBTRA - ZAFRRE
BIFEMA S, - EERERNRBIHEEEE
ARBEARBEFR - WRHEMABRZE
BR7% : K (ii) Hanergy UKJEfS Hanergy
Global Investment and Sales HJ i% &
BR EBARIVBT - R_ZF—=
TZA=+—H BREERZEEESR
1,693,997 % & (1 F 1 #921,446,002
PEIT) ©



On 25 February 2014, MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp.
(“MiaSolé Hi-Tech"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as buyer entered into an agreement
with Hanergy (America) LLC (“Hanergy (America)”),
a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, as seller for the
acquisition of a single complete thin-film solar PV
module production line including 5 proprietary CIGS
roll coaters and a full line to create the proprietary

targets for a consideration of US$15,200,000 in cash.

On 25 February 2014, Hanergy Global Solar Power
Group (Europe), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, as buyer entered into the agreement with
Europe China Power, a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding,
as seller for the acquisition of certain furniture and
fixtures for a consideration of EUR63,747.02 in cash.

On 25 February 2014, Hanergy USA Solar Solution, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as buyer
entered into the agreement with Hanergy Holding
America Inc., a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, as
seller for the acquisition of certain furniture and
fixtures for a consideration of US$262,326.56 in cash.

On 17 March 2014, MiaSolé Hi-Tech entered into the
agreement with MiaSolé and acknowledged by the
landlord, an independent third party in relation to,
among others, the assignment and assumption of the
lease by MiaSolé Hi-Tech. There is no consideration
payable by MiaSolé Hi-Tech to MiaSolé for such
assignment of the lease under the agreement. The
monthly rental payable by MiaSolé Hi-Tech to the
landlord under the lease shall range from US$138,365
per month to US$155,731 per month throughout the
remaining term of the lease.

R-ZZTE—MWE_F=-+FHH ' MiaSolé
Hi-Tech Corp. ([ MiaSolé Hi-Tech] -
ARRlz2EWBAR)(EREH)HE
Hanergy (America) LLC ([Hanergy
(America)] * ZgetElk 2 B AR (1E
RET)MWIES —TEEEAG T
RAEHEESR B BEEEESRH
FZ58BITEEZ CIGSHBH %S -
REBIGEBITEERM 2 EEBEI W
& - & 1EE A 15,200,000 E 7T °

RZZE—WMF-_A=Z+HHB ' AQF
2 2 &K B A aHanergy Global Solar
Power Group (Europe) ({fE & B 77 )
Ed % gt 12 i% 2 MJ /8 2 &) Europe China
Power fERE ) BUIESE THRERRK
Rk - REVEE R 63,747.02
S

RZZE—ME=—_A=+HHB ' KAF
2 & &M B A & Hanergy USA Solar
Solution (fERE 77 ) BZ gE 12 iR 2 P &8
A @) Hanergy Holding America Inc. (/£
RER)FWES TERERZEBR L
#  BeEER 262,326 56 7T °

R-_Z—MN%F=A++H ' MiaSolé
Hi-Tech 82 MiaSolé 7] 37 1 &% © I & %
FBILE=R)ENEBEHFBE)
MiaSolé Hi-Tech®:% MAERL - iR
E1#5 © MiaSolé Hi-Tech 3 £ 5t 3% &
FEML M MiaSolé X EAEE - BRIK
T4 - MiaSolé Hi-Tech Af 482 T
AN ENFEE 2 AN TS H 138,365
EILE 165,731 %7T °



On 17 March 2014, Fujian Apollo entered into the
supplemental agreements to the original agreements
with Sichuan Hanergy, the principal changes include: i)
Fujian Apollo shall continue to rent the office premises,
the factory premises and the staff dormitory owned by
Sichuan Hanergy for a term of three years to 9 March
2017; ii) Sichuan Hanergy shall continue to lease the
Production Line located in the Factory Premises with
equipments associated with the Production Line to
Fujian Apollo for a term of three years commencing
to 9 March 2017, iii) Sichuan Hanergy shall upon the
request of Fujian Apollo provide relevant equipments,
material and facilities to allow Fujian Apollo to carry
out the research on thin-film solar energy technology
development up to 9 March 2017.

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24
March 2014.

R-Z-—HF=A++tH BEHAKE
m)IERERT LR < f T ek - T &
SHEE)VREAGAEEERRT)
A MRS - TSR ET
BE RP=F BEE-_ZT—tHF=A
FUB LE ¢ i) PO 1% BE 7R A A8 S 2 7 TR
SRz EERBEEREBREBEET
wBEHG RH=F BEE_FT—+tF
= ANBLE i) W) IE e R FEAR R $ARS
ZERITHAARRE - M RRRE - A
BRF 1R SA G 1T E AR K 5 B B Ao B 3
Mr BEE_Z—+tF=ANHIL -

MHBREN _ZT-—HNF=A_+HEHAH
REESHERRETIE -



A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities TX&HHANEEBE R B REE 2 248 -
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted ZAERABGBHE X IHEEEC TR ZEER
from the published audited financial statements and re- BIf#Rz%  WE/EHEE ZEFHFEH -
presented as appropriate, is set out below.

2009 2010 2011 2012
“ETNF ZT-%F —T—F —2——-F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

CONTINUING OPERATION HEREXK
REVENUE A 315,292 3,019,097 2,564,640 2,756,463 3,274,425

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX REFBCLER 2B

FROM A CONTINUING wkl/ (E8)

OPERATION (135,048) 1,517,129 967,543 1,666,158 2,328,299
Income tax expense PSR (10,795)  (346,459) (243,814) (349,976) (259,289)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR REFBELEER

THE YEAR FROM A ZAEZE

CONTINUING OPERATION (E#8) (145,843) 1,170,670 723,729 1,316,182 2,069,010

DISCONTINUED OPERATION GERIE&%HK

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR RECKRIEEEER

THE YEAR FROM A ZREERT

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (&B8) 18,916 20,342 (767) — -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ZAEE %A,/ (Ei8) (126,927) 1,191,012 722,962 1,316,182 2,069,010
Profit/(loss) for the year BRAIEE A

attributable to owners EIEAERE

of the parent smkl/ (E8) (124,635) 1,184,697 719,320 1,316,182 2,069,010
Profit/(loss) for the year R

attributable to EEAEE

non-controlling interests wFl/ (E8) (2,392) 6,315 3,642 — -



Goodwill

Intangible assets

Property, plant and
equipment

Available-for-sale
investment

Prepaid land lease
payments (non-current
portion)

Deposits paid for
acquisition
of items of property,
plant and equipment

Investment properties

Deferred tax assets

Net current assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Convertible Bonds
(non-current portion)

Shareholders’ funds

e
BVEE
nE - BERRE

s

A E
BE&
itk
GERZHS)

WENE - BE

REBRAZEH

i

REME
ERHREE
mEYEEFE
EXERARE
AR A
(GEREED)

BRES

2009

—ETNF
Notes  HK$'000
Kzt FET

16 7,915,318

17 649,751
14

125,887

18 —

13,475

30,000

27 6,686

229,131

27 (120,061)

(2,802,885)

2010
e

HK$'000
FET

7,915,318
542,636

155,369

9,665

22,763

16,434
1,963,808
(147,755)

(2,072,384)

2011 2012
—F—F ZF=fF
HK$'000  HK$000
FAT FAET
7,915,318 7,915,318
370,689 551,091
119,364 133,848
— 85,800
15,583 2,376
71,453 44,286
2,825,794 3,230,256
(197,157)  (250,875)
(729,375) —

6,047,302 8,405,854 10,391,669 11,712,100

7,915,318
1,188,479

209,941

85,800

493

23,420
6,673,277
(324,501)

15,772,227
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